ON THE ALLOCATION OF PEOPLE, IDEAS, AND TALENT

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor oeconomiae publicae (Dr. oec. publ.) an der Volkswirtschaftlichen Fakultät an der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

2024

vorgelegt von Sebastian Hager

Referent: Korreferent: Promotionsabschlussberatung: Prof. Fabian WaldingerProf. Davide Cantoni10. Juli 2024

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 25. Juni 2024 Namen der Berichterstatter:innen: Fabian Waldinger, Davide Cantoni, Claudia Steinwender

Acknowledgements

A chapter of my life is coming to a close. These past five years have been exciting, enriching, and fun. But only because a great many people have made them so.

I would like to thank Fabian Waldinger, my advisor, for his guidance and for the wonderful opportunities he has given me. I am especially grateful to him for encouraging me to come to Munich. Fabian's constructive criticism, creativity, and eye for detail have had a great impact on me. I want to thank him for reminding me whenever I was procrastinating to "go where it hurts." And for teaching me to always preheat my coffee cup; my life is better for it.

I also want to thank Davide Cantoni, my second advisor, for pushing me to seek out new ideas and for challenging me whenever I found one. His candid feedback has made a huge difference.

I am grateful to so many others for their comments, including Adam Brzezinski, Mathias Bühler, Volker Lindenthal, and Claudia Steinwender. I want to thank my coauthors Emilio Esguerra, Carlo Schwarz, and Fabian Waldinger for the many fun hours I spent working with them. I am grateful to David Card for giving me the opportunity to spend a year at UC Berkeley and also to Ted Miguel for his encouragement.

When I think of the last five years, I especially think of my friends. I think of Bernhard and Robin and all the times they shared a break with me from "deep work"; I think of Luca and our little apartment; and I think of Lukas and Philipp and our "80333 family." They have made every day of my time in Munich a little bit sillier and a little bit more fun. I owe a lot to my friends in Munich, Vienna, England, and elsewhere—and especially to my family, who have instilled curiosity and *sisu* in me.

These years were not just filled with joy, but also with love. Thank you, Elena, for your warmth and for all the beautiful experiences we've shared.

Thank you all for making this time so wonderful.

Contents

Pre	eface		1							
1	Speak	ting of Gender: Superiors' Gender Attitudes and Women's								
	Caree	ers	3							
	1.1	Introduction								
	1.2	Measuring Gender Attitudes	7							
		1.2.1 The Gender Inclusivity Score	7							
		1.2.2 Gender Inclusivity Among German Politicians	9							
		1.2.3 Validity of the Measure	13							
	1.3	Data on German Civil Servants	14							
	1.4	Ministers' Gender Attitudes and Women's Careers	18							
		1.4.1 Empirical Strategy	18							
		1.4.2 Main Findings	19							
		1.4.3 Heterogeneous Impact of Ministers	21							
	1.5	Conclusion	24							
Ap	pendix	to Chapter 1	26							
	1.A	Further Details on the Gender Inclusivity Score	27							
	1.B	Additional Figures	29							
	1.C	Additional Findings	35							
2	Meas	uring Science: Performance Metrics and the Allocation of								
	Talen	t	37							
	2.1	Introduction	38							
	2.2	The Science Citation Index: Background and Data	44							
		2.2.1 The Creation of the Science Citation Index	44							
		2.2.2 Data	46							
		2.2.3 How Was the SCI Used in Hiring and Promotions?	49							
	2.3	The Effect of Citation Metrics on Assortative Matching	51							
		2.3.1 Empirical Strategy	51							
		2.3.2 Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations	54							

		2.3.3 Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Ci-	
		tations	60
		2.3.4 Mechanisms	64
		2.3.5 Overcoming Information Frictions Across Geographic and	
		Intellectual Distance	68
	2.4	Heterogeneous Impact of Performance Metrics	70
		2.4.1 Heterogeneous Effects by Individual-Level Citation Rank .	70
		2.4.2 Heterogeneous Effects for Peripheral Scientists	71
		2.4.3 Heterogeneous Effects for Minority Scientists	75
	2.5	Impact of Performance Metrics on Careers	76
		2.5.1 Effect on Promotions	77
		2.5.2 Effect on Research Grants	78
	2.6	Conclusion	80
Ap	pendix	to Chapter 2	82
	2.A	Background on the Science Citation Index	83
	2.B	Further Details on Data	86
	$2.\mathrm{C}$	Additional Findings: Assortative Matching	91
	2.D	Additional Findings: Heterogeneity Analysis	108
	2.E	Additional Findings: Career Outcomes	115
3	Identi	ity Under Attack: How War Grievances Impact Behavior	
	Under	r Oppressive Post-War Policy	117
	3.1	Introduction	118
	3.2	Historical Background	122
	3.3	Data	127
		3.3.1 Data Sources	127
		3.3.2 Final Dataset	131
	3.4	Effects of Enemy-Specific War Grievances	132
		3.4.1 Conceptual Framework	132
		3.4.2 Empirical Strategy	133
		3.4.3 Validity of the Identifying Assumption	134
	3.5	Findings	137
		3.5.1 Effects of Individual-Level Grievances	137
		3.5.2 Effects of Community-Level Grievances	140
	3.6	Conclusion	142

Appendix to Chapter 3

 $\mathbf{144}$

bliogra	phy	161
3.C	Additional Findings	156
$3.\mathrm{B}$	Additional Figures	153
3.A	Further Details on Data	145

Bibliography

List of Figures

1.1	Gender Inclusivity of German MPs Over Time	10
1.2	Gender Inclusivity of German MPs Over Time, by Gender $\ . \ . \ .$	11
1.3	Gender Inclusivity of German MPs Over Time, by Party	12
1.4	Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores, by Party	13
1.5	Voting on the Criminalization of Marital Rape	14
1.6	Share of Women in Different Leadership Levels	15
1.7	Example: Gender Inclusivity in a Ministry Over Time	17
1.B.1	Gender Inclusivity of Male MPs Over Time, by Party	29
1.B.2	Gender Inclusivity of Female MPs Over Time, by Party	30
1.B.3	Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores	30
1.B.4	Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores, by Gender	31
1.B.5	Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores, By Decade	31
1.B.6	Voting on the Criminalization of Marital Rape, by Party	32
1.B.7	Share of Women in Low Level Leadership	33
1.B.8	Example Organization Chart	34
2.1	Entry in the Science Citation Index	45
2.1 2.2	Entry in the Science Citation Index	45 50
2.12.22.3	Entry in the Science Citation Index	45 50 52
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 	Entry in the Science Citation Index	45 50 52 59
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2	45 50 52 59 63
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2	45 50 52 59 63 66
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2	45 50 52 59 63 66 68
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellec-	45 50 52 59 63 66 68
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellectual Distance	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 69
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 	Entry in the Science Citation Index	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 69 71
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Assortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellectual DistanceHeterogenous Effects by Individual-Level Citation RankHeterogenous Effect of Citation Rank for Peripheral Scientists	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 68 69 71 73
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 2.11 	Entry in the Science Citation Index	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 69 71 73 74
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 2.11 2.12 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Assortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellectual DistanceHeterogenous Effects by Individual-Level Citation RankHeterogenous Effect of Citation Rank for Peripheral ScientistsCharacteristics of "Hidden Stars" and Other Star ScientistsHeterogenous Effects for Majority and Minority Scientists	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 69 71 73 74 76
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 2.11 2.12 2.13 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellectual DistanceHeterogenous Effects by Individual-Level Citation RankHeterogenous Effect of Citation Rank for Peripheral ScientistsCharacteristics of "Hidden Stars" and Other Star ScientistsHeterogenous Effects for Majority and Minority ScientistsEffect on Career Outcomes, Specification 2	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 69 71 73 74 76 80
 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 2.10 2.11 2.12 2.13 2.A.1 	Entry in the Science Citation IndexComparison of SCI EntriesAssortative Matching Before and After Citation MetricsQuality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCIAssortative Matching, Specification 2Assortative Matching, Specification 2Leaving Academia, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellectual DistanceHeterogenous Effects by Individual-Level Citation RankHeterogenous Effects of Citation Rank for Peripheral ScientistsCharacteristics of "Hidden Stars" and Other Star ScientistsHeterogenous Effects for Majority and Minority ScientistsEffect on Career Outcomes, Specification 2Entry in Science Citation Index	45 50 52 59 63 66 68 69 71 73 74 76 80 83

2.A.2	Example of Citing Journal List	84
2.A.3	Internal Correspondence at Ohio State University	85
2.C.1	Illustration of Results, Specification 1	91
2.C.2	Illustration of Variation Used in Additional Tests	101
2.C.3	Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic Distance -	
	Alternative Cutoffs	106
2.D.1	Heterogeneous Effects by Percentile Rank	108
2.D.2	Heterogeneous Effects for Peripheral Scientists	109
2.D.3	Heterogenous Effects for Minority Scientists	110
2.D.4	Heterogenous Effects for Minority and Majority Scientists (Control-	
	ling For Department Rank in 1956)	111
3.1	Anti-Italian WWI Postcard	123
3.2	Political Maps of South Tyrol 1914-1939	124
3.3	Nazi Propaganda Poster	126
3.4	WWI Deaths of South Tyroleans by Front Over Time	128
3.5	Naming Patterns of Children in South Tyrol	130
3.A.1	Entry in <i>Ehrenbücher</i>	145
3.A.2	Entry in Verlustlisten	145
3.A.3	Emigration Request: Cover Sheet	146
3.A.4	Emigration Request: Page 1	147
3.A.5	Emigration Request: Page 2	148
3.A.6	Emigration Request: Page 3	149
3.B.1	Political Map of the County of Tyrol 1914	153
3.B.2	Casualties by Front Over Time (Verlustlisten)	153
3.B.3	Share of Deaths on Italian Front by Municipality	154
3.B.4	Geographic Distribution of Italy-Specific Grievances	154
3.B.5	Determinants of Emigration to Germany	155

List of Tables

1.1	Summary Statistics on German MPs	10
1.2	Summary Statistics	17
1.3	Main Results	19
1.4	Non-Linear Effect of Gender Attitudes	22
1.5	Female and Male Ministers	24
1.A.1	Ten Most Used Person-Specific Words	29
1.B.1	Gender Inclusivity Score Among Ministers in 2020	32
1.C.1	Robustness: Adding Additional Controls	35
2.1	Descriptive Statistics	48
2.2	Identifying Variation for Specification 1	54
2.3	Citations and Assortative Matching	56
2.4	Identifying Variation for Specification 2	61
2.5	Mechanism 1: Leaving Academia	65
2.6	Mechanism 2: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department	67
2.7	Promotion to Full Professor	78
2.8	Receiving an NSF Grant	79
2.B.1	Top 20 Departments: Biochemistry	88
2.B.2	Top 20 Departments: Biology	88
2.B.3	Top 20 Departments: Chemistry	89
2.B.4	Top 20 Departments: Mathematics	89
2.B.5	Top 20 Departments: Medicine	90
2.B.6	Top 20 Departments: Physics	90
2.C.1	Robustness Check: Alternative Measures of Department Quality $\ $.	93
2.C.2	Robustness Check: External Department Ranking	95
2.C.3	Robustness Check: Alternative Transformations of Citation Counts	97
2.C.4	Robustness Check: Alternative Percentile Rank Definititions	99
2.C.5	Robustness Check: Alternative Sample Restrictions	100
2.C.6	Alternative Explanation 1: Citations From Consistent Set of Jour-	
	nals	102
2.C.7	Alternative Explanation 2: Citations Only From Years With SCI $$.	103

2.C.8	Alternative Explanation 2: Restricted Time Windows	104
2.C.9	Moving to Higher-Ranked Department by Geographic Distance	105
2.C.10	Moving to Higher-Ranked Department by Citation Distance	107
2.D.1	Heterogeneous Effect on Assortative Matching for Peripheral Scien-	
	tists	113
2.D.2	Heterogeneous Effect on Assortative Matching for Minority Scien-	
	tists	114
2.E.1	Receiving an NSF Grant	115
21	Summary Statistics	129
0.1 2 0	Palapaing of Dood Soldiars by Front	192
3.2	balancing of Dead Soldiers by Front	190
3.3	Descriptive Statistics of Opters With War Grievances by Front	136
3.4	Effect of Enemy-Specific Grievances on Emigrating	138
3.5	Effect of Enemy-Specific Grievances on Naming Patterns	140
3.6	Effects of Community-Level Grievances	142
3.A.1	Summary of Matches	151
3.A.2	Source of Matches	152
3.A.3	Balancing of Soldiers by Front (Excluding Reserve Force)	152
3.C.1	Robustness – Subsamples	156
3.C.2	Robustness – Specifics of War Grievance	157
3.C.3	Effect on Giving Children Germanic Name After 1933 \ldots	158
3.C.4	Robustness: Community-Level Grievances	159

Preface

In this dissertation, I analyze different dimensions of the allocation of people, ideas, and talent. Two themes recur throughout: on the one hand, the sorting and selection of individuals; on the other hand, the measurement of underlying drivers of behavior. Such drivers include information on individuals' performance, but also their ideas (such as attitudes).

CHAPTER 1 investigates the relationship between superiors' gender attitudes and women's career progression. I introduce a novel measure of gender attitudes based on individuals' use of gender-inclusive language. I construct gender inclusivity scores for German ministers and link them to self-collected data on civil servants in German ministries over four decades. Thus, for each civil servant at each point in time, I observe the score for the gender attitudes of the minister in charge. I estimate the effect of ministers with different gender attitudes on women's promotion probabilities. Ministers with higher gender attitudes promote more women, thereby affecting the allocation of talent.

CHAPTER 2, which is based on co-authored work with Carlo Schwarz and Fabian Waldinger, analyzes the impact of performance metrics on the allocation of talent in science. The introduction of the Science Citation Index, the first citation database, made scientists' citation counts visible. Soon universities and academics started to use citation counts as performance metrics. Our empirical strategy uses quasi-random variation in the visibility of individual scientists' citation counts. This allows us to estimate how the visibility of citations affects scientists' careers. We find that citation metrics affect the assortative matching between scientists and universities, and that disadvantaged groups benefit from revealing performance metrics. Performance metrics also affect promotions and receiving research grants.

CHAPTER 3, which is based on co-authored work with Emilio Esguerra, studies how war grievances that individuals associate with their former enemy affect whether individuals comply with oppressive post-conquest policy. We focus on the Germanspeaking region of South Tyrol, which after World War I was annexed by Italy and subjected to severe assimilation policy. Using self-digitized archival data, we analyze whether war grievances directed at Italy made South Tyroleans more likely to avoid assimilation—either by emigrating or by giving their children more Germanic names. Overall, we find little evidence that these Italy-specific war grievances made individuals avoid assimilation.

This dissertation makes methodological and thematic contributions. In each chapter, I propose a new way of measuring an underlying driver of decision-making and then study its effects on the allocation of people, ideas, and talent in society.

Chapter 1

Speaking of Gender: Superiors' Gender Attitudes and Women's Careers

This chapter is based on single-authored work (see Hager, 2024). I am grateful for financial support from the Nationalökonomische Gesellschaft and from the Evidence-Based Economics program of the Elite Network of Bavaria.

1.1 Introduction

When society recruits its leaders from a limited pool of candidates, it loses efficiency (Bertrand, 2018; Hsieh et al., 2019). Despite the progress of the past decades, women are still underrepresented in leadership positions. In Germany in 2023, only 24% of DAX executives were women (Ernst and Young, 2024). In the German public sector, only one in every three civil servants with a leadership role was female (Destatis, 2024). To address the underrepresentation of women in the leadership of organizations, understanding its causes is crucial. Recent research has emphasized the role of superiors in differentially shaping the careers of women and men (e.g., Cullen and Perez-Truglia, 2023; Haegele, 2024). Yet, apart from a few exceptions (e.g., Ronchi and Smith, 2024), little is known about how superiors' gender attitudes affect women's career progression within organizations.

In this paper, I investigate the relationship between superiors' gender attitudes and women's career outcomes. Studying the effects of gender attitudes on labor market outcomes is empirically challenging: gender attitudes are generally unobservable. I address this challenge by introducing a novel measure of gender attitudes based on speech data. I construct this measure for all German ministers and link it to selfcollected data on civil servants in leadership positions in German ministries. This allows me to estimate the effect of ministers with different gender attitudes on the probability that female civil servants in the respective ministry get promoted.

In the first part of this paper, I develop a new method for measuring gender attitudes. I construct a score that captures the degree to which a person speaks genderinclusively. This score relies on the gender-marked nature of the German language: almost every word referring to a person has a female and a male form. While in English, words with gender-specific forms (such as waitress and waiter) are the exception, in German they are the rule. For example, the word for a female doctor $(\ddot{A}rztin)$ is different from the word for a male doctor (Arzt). Traditionally, malespecific words are considered generic, i.e., women can be referred to using the male form of a person-specific noun. In recent decades, however, gender-inclusive language has emerged with the explicit goal of making women more visible in language. Instead of referring to a group of male and female doctors by the generic masculine plural $(\ddot{A}rzte)$, the gender-inclusive way of denoting such a mixed-gender group involves both forms (e.g., $\ddot{A}rztinnen und \ddot{A}rzte)$.

I define the gender inclusivity score as the ratio between the female-specific words and all person-specific words an individual uses. Next, I apply this method to data on German parliamentary speeches and calculate individual-level scores for over two thousand politicians. In several validation checks, I show that the gender inclusivity score is a meaningful way to measure gender attitudes.

I present a series of facts: first, gender-inclusive language in the German parliament has increased by 50% between 1993 and 2018. This is driven by members of all parties and genders. Second, women across the political spectrum use more genderinclusive language than men. Moreover, male parliamentarians in the 2010s speak as gender-inclusively as did women in the 1990s. Third, left-wing politicians use more gender-inclusive language than right-wing politicians. For example, Greens thirty years ago spoke more gender-inclusively than did Conservatives in 2018. Fourth, there is considerable variation in individuals' gender inclusivity scores. This holds within genders, within parties, and over time.

Further, I show that politicians with a higher gender inclusivity score are more likely to vote in female-friendly ways. In 1997, several Conservative and Liberal members of parliament voted against the criminalization of marital rape. Politicians who voted against the law had a markedly lower gender inclusivity score than those voting in favor. This holds also within parties. These findings add to the validity of using the gender inclusivity score as a measure of gender attitudes.

In the second part of the paper, I use this measure to analyze whether female employees benefit from superiors with higher gender attitudes. I digitize data on civil servants in leadership positions in all German federal ministries over the past four decades. Since I observe civil servants' leadership ranks over time, I can infer whether an individual was promoted in a given year. This allows me to reconstruct around five thousand employees' career trajectories through the German federal administration. In particular, I can observe gender differences in promotion outcomes.

I link the data on civil servants with ministers and their individual gender inclusivity scores. Thus, for each civil servant at each point in time, I observe the score for the gender attitudes of the minister in charge. Regular changes in ministers introduce variation within ministries over time in ministers' gender attitudes. My empirical strategy estimates how female employees' probability of being promoted is affected by ministers who differ in their gender attitudes.

I find that ministers with higher gender attitudes promote more women. At the same time, I find no such effect on men's promotion probabilities. A minister with one standard deviation higher gender attitudes increases women's promotion probability by around two percentage points (around 30% relative to the mean). In my analysis, I hold constant potential selection of ministers into specific ministries and potential effects of

governments by including individual and time fixed effects. Across specifications, the result is stable.

Last, I explore heterogeneities of this result. I find that the effect is driven by ministers at the high end and the low end of the gender attitudes distribution. Ministers in the upper quartile in the gender attitudes distribution increase women's promotion probability by four percentage points relative to ministers in the middle half of the distribution. Further, I investigate whether there are differences in the effect between male and female ministers. I find that, if anything, the effect is driven by male ministers with high gender attitudes.

My study contributes to research at the intersection of three strands of literature. The first literature focuses on careers within organizations, and especially reasons for the underrepresentation of specific groups in leadership. Various channels have been suggested for promotion and representation gaps in organizations, ranging from social interactions with superiors (e.g., Cullen and Perez-Truglia, 2023) to outright discrimination (e.g., Aneja and Xu, 2022). Since gender quotas have become a common policy tool, increased attention has been paid to the effects of female leaders. Overall, the literature finds limited effects of female leaders on the careers of women in their organizations (e.g., Bertrand et al., 2019; Maida and Weber, 2022). However, other characteristics of superiors—such as their attitudes—might be more important for closing an organization's representation gap. For example, Ronchi and Smith (2024) use the birth of a daughter as a positive shock to gender attitudes and thereby show that superiors' gender attitudes impact their female employees' careers. This is where I contribute to the literature: rather than relying on a categorical characteristic of a superior (such as gender or having a daughter), I measure superiors' gender attitudes on a continuum and relate them to rich personnel data on German civil servants over time.

Second, I contribute to a literature that seeks to identify the contribution of tastebased discrimination to observed employment gaps. Becker (1957) modeled discrimination in the labor market as a result of biased employers who differ in their discriminatory preferences. Empirical analyses of Becker's model are complicated by the challenge that measures of such discriminatory preferences are often not available, especially at the firm or manager level (e.g., Charles and Guryan, 2008). An experimental strand in this literature manipulates employers' perceptions of applicants by randomly assigning different characteristics to job applications (e.g., Bertrand and Mullainathan, 2004; Oreopoulos, 2011). While these audit studies can measure discriminatory outcomes, they do not measure discriminatory preferences. To address this limitation, Kline et al. (2022) sent applications to multiple jobs at the same firms and, thus, measured discriminatory bias at the company level. I contribute to the literature on taste-based discrimination by measuring the distribution of gender attitudes of individual superiors. I then relate these individual-level scores to women's career outcomes.

Last, I contribute to a literature that develops methods to measure attitudes and investigates the effects of attitudes on decision-making. Since people can misrepresent their views in surveys, psychological measures for attitudes such as implicit association tests (IATs) have become prevalent in economics and other social sciences. For example, Glover et al. (2017) use IATs to study the influence of attitudes towards minorities on performance in the workplace, and Carlana (2019) shows that teachers with stereotypical gender attitudes are harmful to girls' school achievements. However, IAT scores have been criticized for being noisy, easy to manipulate, and unstable over time within an individual (e.g. Gawronski et al., 2017; Schimmack, 2021). Thus, other work has focused on individuals' observed behavior to measure revealed attitudes. For example, Ash et al. (2024) construct a score of judges' gender-stereotyped language. They find that more stereotyping judges interact differently with female judges. While I also measure attitudes based on text data over many years, my method is more tractable and relies on no assumptions about word meanings. Moreover, I document a series of facts on the evolution of gender-inclusive language.¹

1.2 Measuring Gender Attitudes

1.2.1 The Gender Inclusivity Score

I develop a new measure of gender attitudes based on individual-level text data. Given the salience of gender in the grammar of many languages, attitudes are likely to be revealed in people's speech (Sczesny et al., 2015). I measure how German speakers choose to represent women in their language.

Languages differ in the way gender enters their grammar. For example, German and French assign grammatical gender to every noun, including inanimate objects such as sausage or croissant. English, in contrast, does not have grammatical gender, but only gender-specific pronouns (she and he). As a result, gender-specific words for people (such as *waitress* and *waiter*) are the exception. In German they are the rule: there is a gender-specific noun for a female doctor ($\ddot{A}rztin$) and for a male doctor (Arzt), for

¹In studying the social norm of gender-inclusive language over time, I also contribute to a literature on the evolution of culture and social norms (e.g., Young, 2015; Giuliano and Nunn, 2020).

a female colleague (*Kollegin*) and for a male colleague (*Kollege*), and so on. Almost every noun denoting a person has a female-specific and a male-specific form.²

Traditionally, male-specific nouns for people are considered generic. The so-called generic masculine means that the male-specific term can also be used for women. For example, the word for protester (*Demonstrant*) can refer to both men and women, even though there is a female-specific form (*Demonstrantin*). Especially in the plural, this leads to an oddity: when 99 women gather in a protest, they are 99 Demonstrantinnen; should only one man join, they suddenly become 100 Demonstranten.

Feminist linguists and cognitive scientists have criticized the generic masculine as a sexist convention (e.g., Hofstadter, 1985; Saul et al., 2022). Thus, feminists have proposed that equality of the genders must not stop at grammar: women, too, should be visible in language. They have suggested gender-inclusive language as an alternative to the convention of the generic masculine (Journalistinnenbund, 2024b). From the feminist or gender-inclusive point of view, a mixed-gender group of protesters should be denoted as what they are: *Demonstrantinnen und Demonstranten* (i.e., female and male protesters).³ Thus, gender inclusivity is a salient feature in German; more so than it is in English, for example. Over the past decades, gender-inclusive language has become widely used in public discourse. Politicians, in particular, have started to use gender-inclusive language—even among the conservative end of the spectrum (see Figure 1.3).

Using individual-level speech data, I can measure the extent to which a person chooses gender-inclusive terms. This is a continuous measure since speaking genderinclusively is not a binary choice. One person might constantly stick to gender-inclusive language, while another person only occasionally uses gender-inclusive terms. I define the gender inclusivity score as the ratio of female-specific words to all person-specific words an individual uses:

$$Inclusivity_i = \frac{\#(\text{female-specific nouns})_i}{\#(\text{female-specific nouns})_i + \#(\text{male-specific nouns})_i}.$$
 (1.1)

Drawing on a list of female-specific and male-specific words (see Appendix Section 1.A.2), I count how many times individual i uses female and male forms for words referring to people; i.e., this excludes other nouns such as apple or philosophy. I then calculate the proportion of female-specific nouns relative to all person-specific nouns

 $^{^{2}}$ A few person-specific words in German are grammatically neutral, and thus can refer to both men and women. For example, a member of parliament is always a *Mitglied* (member) of the Bundestag.

³Alternative gender-inclusive ways to refer to this mixed-gender group in writing are, for example, *DemonstrantInnen, Demonstrant:innen*, and *Demonstrant*innen* (see Journalistinnenbund, 2024a).

(i.e., the sum of female-specific and male-specific nouns). Thus, for each individual i, I construct the ratio $Inclusivity_i$, ranging from zero to one. For example, consider a sentence referring to citizens, voters, and taxpayers; it uses the gender-inclusive form only for citizens but not for voters and taxpayers. Out of the four person-specific words in this sentence only one is female-specific; the ratio is thus 1/4.⁴

This measure has some important advantages: first, it is tractable and intuitive. While other text-based measures of attitudes rely on assumptions about word meanings to capture the association between gender and certain stereotypes (e.g. Ash et al., 2024), my score does not. Instead, it counts gender-specific words. This makes the score easy to interpret: a person speaking gender-inclusively all the time has a score of 0.5, whereas someone who exclusively speaks in the generic masculine has a score of zero. Thus, I can compare individuals' scores, both qualitatively and quantitatively. Hypothetically, a person who speaks in the unconventional generic feminine would have a score of one. However, in practice, this does not happen and thus the score is capped at around 0.5 (see Table 1.1).

Second, with a large corpus of text data spanning many years, the gender inclusivity score is constructed from many speeches over time. Thus, it is a less noisy measure than other scores, such as IATs. Yet, this already hints at the major practical challenge of constructing this score: the availability of comprehensive speech data on individuals.

1.2.2 Gender Inclusivity Among German Politicians

I illustrate my gender inclusivity score using data from Rauh and Schwalbach (2020) on all speeches in the German parliament, the Bundestag, between March 1991 and December 2018. To make the score more tractable, I compile a list of the 100 most used person-specific words in German parliamentary speeches (see Appendix Table 1.A.1 for the ten most used words). These words amount to 95% of all instances a person-specific word was used in parliamentary speeches. I count for each individual or group how often they use the female-specific and male-specific versions of these words. I then calculate the ratio between the female-specific words and all person-specific words (see Appendix Section 1.A.2 for more details on the construction of the score). I report summary statistics on the politicians in Table 1.1.

⁴See Appendix Section 1.A.1 for an example from a German parliamentary speech.

Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Median	Min.	Max.	Obs.
Gender Inclusivity Score	0.11	0.10	0.09	0	.54	$2,\!144$
Years in Data	8.45	6.26	7.00	1	28	$2,\!156$
Share Female	0.31	0.46				2,156
Share Linke	0.08	0.28				2,156
Share Grüne	0.08	0.27				2,156
Share SPD	0.30	0.46				$2,\!156$
Share FDP	0.11	0.31				$2,\!156$
Share CDU/CSU	0.37	0.48				2,156
Share AfD	0.04	0.20				$2,\!156$

Table 1.1: Summary Statistics on German MPs

Notes: The table reports descriptive statistics on German MPs between 1991 and 2018. *Years in Data* reports the number of years in which an individual politician has given a speech. *Gender Inclusivity Score* reports the measure of gender attitudes as suggested in Equation (1.1). To account for a small fraction of MPs who switch parties over time, I assign each MP their modal party affiliation.

In this first set of findings, I present four facts about gender-inclusive language in the German parliament. The first fact is that gender inclusivity has increased over time (see Figure 1.1). The average level of gender inclusivity in the Bundestag has almost doubled from 0.08 in 1991 to around 0.15 in 2018. This means that in 2018 out of 100 person-specific nouns used in all speeches in the German parliament 15 are female-specific. This is in line with the evolution of feminism and the social norm of using gender-inclusive language in the public sphere.

Figure 1.1: Gender Inclusivity of German MPs Over Time



Notes: This figure plots the yearly average of the gender inclusivity score over all speeches in the German parliament.

The second fact is that women speak more gender-inclusively than men (see Figure 1.2). While politicians of both genders have increased their use of gender-inclusive language, men have consistently been lagging behind women. Male MPs in the 2010s spoke as gender-inclusively as did female MPs in the 1990s.

Figure 1.2: Gender Inclusivity of German MPs Over Time, by Gender



Notes: This figure plots the yearly average of the gender inclusivity score for men (blue) and for women (orange) in the German parliament.

Third, politicians from left-wing parties speak more gender-inclusively than politicians from right-wing parties (see Figure 1.3).⁵ The conservative CDU/CSU and the liberal FDP have continuously increased their use of gender-inclusive language. Nevertheless, conservative MPs in 2018 spoke less gender-inclusively than the Greens in 1991. Moreover, while the center-left SPD in the early 1990s was closer to the rightwing parties, it is nowadays indistinguishable from the other left-wing parties in its use of gender-inclusive language. The far-right and reactionary AfD almost never speak gender-inclusively. In fact, they speak less gender-inclusively than did Conservatives over three decades ago. These findings are not driven by more women being in left-wing parties. I also show that these cross-party patterns hold for men and women separately (see Appendix Figures 1.B.1 and 1.B.2.)

⁵Throughout this paper, I denote the Greens (Grüne), the Left (Linke), and the Social Democrats (SPD) as left-wing parties, and the Liberals (FDP), the Conservatives (CDU/CSU), and the Alternative for Germany (AfD) as right-wing parties. I exclude the AfD, a xenophobic far-right party, from most analyses, because they only entered parliament in 2017.



Figure 1.3: Gender Inclusivity of German MPs Over Time, by Party

Notes: This figure plots the yearly average of the gender inclusivity score for each party in the German parliament: the Left (Linke, dark red), the Greens (Grüne, green), the Social Democrats (SPD, red), the Liberals (FDP, yellow), the Conservatives (CDU/CSU, black), and the Alternative for Germany (AfD, blue).

Fourth, there is considerable variation in individuals' gender inclusivity scores.⁶ Above, I have shown that gender inclusivity meaningfully tracks political ideology. Yet, Figure 1.3 only shows the party-level means of politicians' gender inclusivity. Instead, I now construct a time-invariant politician-level score and plot the distribution of scores for each party (see Figure 1.4). The further one moves to the right on the political spectrum, the more skewed is the distribution toward gender-uninclusive language. While the Left party has an almost uniform distribution, the Greens and the SPD exhibit more bell-like distributions. The CDU/CSU and the FDP have a high proportion of individuals who virtually never use female-specific words in their speech. Yet, even within political parties, there is considerable variation in individuals' gender inclusivity scores. Regardless of the shape of the distribution, in every party there are some gender-inclusive and some gender-uninclusive politicians.

⁶I plot the distribution of gender inclusivity scores for all politicians in Appendix Figure 1.B.3. I also show that this distribution persists over time in Appendix Figure 1.B.5.



Figure 1.4: Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores, by Party

Notes: This figure plots the distribution of individual politicians' gender inclusivity scores within the five main parties. From left to right, these are: the Left (Linke, dark red), the Greens (Grüne, green), the Social Democrats (SPD, red), the Liberals (FDP, yellow), the Conservatives (CDU/CSU, black). I also show the distribution over all politicians in the bottom right panel. I construct the politician-level gender inclusivity score based on all speeches of a politician.

1.2.3 Validity of the Measure

These findings suggest that my gender inclusivity score is a proxy for gender attitudes. This interpretation is in line with studies in social psychology that show that attitudes affect gender-inclusive language (e.g., Sczesny et al., 2015). To further strengthen the validity of my score as a measure for gender attitudes, I show that politicians who speak more gender-inclusively also vote more female-friendly.

In the German political system, MPs usually vote in line with the party leadership. In rare cases, however, MPs within a party are split and can vote against party lines. This was the case in 1997 when the German parliament voted on a law criminalizing marital rape. While the left-wing parties unanimously voted in favor of this law, the Conservatives and the Liberals voted both ways. Thus, I can use politicians' voting decisions on this law as a validation check for my measure of gender attitudes.

I collect data from plenary protocols of the German parliament, which list MPs' voting decisions (Deutscher Bundestag, 1997). I then link politicians' voting decisions

and their gender inclusivity scores. I show that those voting in favor of criminalizing marital rape also speak more gender-inclusively (see Figure 1.5). Among the CDU/CSU and the FDP, those voting in favor of the law had around 30% higher gender inclusivity scores than those voting against it. I also show that this pattern persists within parties (see Appendix Figure 1.B.6). This finding adds to the validity of using the gender inclusivity score as a proxy for gender attitudes.



Figure 1.5: Voting on the Criminalization of Marital Rape

Notes: This table shows the average gender inclusivity score of MPs from the Conservatives (CDU/CSU) and the Liberals (FDP) by whether they voted in favor of a 1997 law criminalizing marital rape.

1.3 Data on German Civil Servants

In the second part of my paper, I use this measure to investigate the role of superiors' gender attitudes in shaping women's careers. To study whether ministers with high gender attitudes are more likely to promote women, I collect employment data on civil servants in German ministries and I construct gender inclusivity scores for all ministers.

Ministerial Employment Data

I digitize data on the population of civil servants in leadership positions in German federal ministries. At least once a year, every German ministry publishes an official organization chart, listing all civil servants who hold a leadership position (see Appendix Figure 1.B.8 for an example). These charts detail the organizational structure of the ministry: each section (*Referat*; henceforth: low level leadership) belongs to a subdivision (*Unterabteilung*; middle level), which in turn belongs to a division (*Abteilung*; high level). At the top level, ministries are led by a small number of state secretaries (*Staatssekretär:in*) and the minister. Every civil servant above and including low level leadership is listed in these organization charts.

I collect organization charts for all ministries from records at the German Federal Archives (*Bundesarchiv*). I digitize a total of 138 organization charts at ten points in time from 1982 to 2016. I always choose the year before an election, so I observe civil servants' career outcomes at the end of a minister's appointment. These data contain 20,103 observations at the individual-year level.⁷

One advantage of working with these data is that the organizational structure within a ministry remains stable over time. Moreover, all ministries have the same hierarchy of state secretaries, high level, middle level, and low level leaders. This institutional setting is crucial for my main analysis because it allows me to systematically track female employees' career trajectories over time. Moreover, using these data I can compare female representation in different leadership levels across ministries and over time.

Figure 1.6: Share of Women in Different Leadership Levels



Notes: This figure plots the share of women in different leadership ranks in German ministries: low level (light blue), middle level (medium blue), and high level (dark blue).

⁷My final dataset excludes civil servants at the Ministry of Defence. The Ministry of Defence does not indicate the names of its civil servants in organization charts.

My study period coincides with the entry of women into higher leadership ranks of the German civil service. The share of women among low level leaders rose from 5% in 1982 to over 35% in 2016 (see Figure 1.6). The share of female leaders is lower in higher ranks. Yet, there was a considerable increase of women in high level leadership: from virtually no women in 1997 to around 23% in 2016. This increase was not uniform across ministries (see Appendix Figure 1.B.7). Some ministries (e.g., the Ministry for International Cooperation and Development) have appointed many women to leadership ranks. At the same time, other ministries have been lagging behind. For example, in the Finance Ministry in 2016, 23% of its low level leaders were women. At higher levels, this share is even lower.

Final Dataset on Civil Servants and Ministers' Gender Attitudes

My dataset contains 4,973 civil servants who appear at least twice. For each civil servant in each year, I observe their name, gender, their position, their pay band, and who their direct superior is. I then link individuals over time and thus construct for each civil servant a history of their career steps. Thus, I can observe, at the individual level, which civil servant was promoted in a given year. Importantly for my analysis, I construct an indicator variable $\mathbb{1}[Promotion]_{imt}$ that is equal to one if individual *i* working in ministry *m* was promoted from low level leadership to middle level leadership between t - 1 and *t* (usually a period of four years).⁸

Among the civil servants who I link over time, 16% are female (see Table 1.2). 79% of all civil servants in my data were at some point low level leaders, whereas only nine percent were ever promoted to high level leadership. 28% of all civil servants were promoted at least once.

For each employee-year observation, I observe the minister in charge of the ministry at the time. I calculate the lifetime gender inclusivity score for nearly all ministers who appear in the parliamentary speech dataset. For 79 of these ministers, I calculate their gender inclusivity score, covering 127 ministry-year pairs.⁹ Just as individual politicians vary in their gender inclusivity scores, so do ministers. For example, among the cabinet in 2020, ministers' gender inclusivity scores ranged from 0.04—i.e., four in every one hundred person-specific words were female-specific—to 0.35 (see Appendix Table 1.B.1). This introduces variation within ministries over time in ministers' gender

⁸I can only construct this variable for the second time I observe an individual in the data. Hence, I lose 4,973 observations from my dataset.

⁹Only for 14 ministers, covering 18 ministry-year pairs, I cannot construct the gender inclusivity ratio. All but one of these ministers served in the 1980s, which is unsurprising since the parliamentary speech data covers speeches only after 1991.

attitudes (see Figure 1.7 for an example). Thus, for each civil servant at each point in time, I observe the score for the gender attitudes of the minister in charge.

Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Median	Min.	Max.	Obs.
Panel A: Civil Servants						
Number Times in Data	3.25	1.30	3	2	10	4,973
Share Female	0.16	0.36				4,973
Share Ever Promoted	0.28	0.45				4,973
Share Ever State Secretary	0.01	0.12				4,973
Share Ever High Level	0.09	0.28				4,973
Share Ever Mid Level	0.18	0.39				4,973
Share Ever Lower Level	0.79	0.41				4,973
Panel B: Ministers						
Number Times in Data	1.61	0.93	1	1	6	79
Gender Inclusivity Score	0.11	0.08	0.10	0	.34	79
Share Female	0.28	0.45				79
Share Grüne	0.04	0.19				79
Share SPD	0.33	0.47				79
Share FDP	0.16	0.37				79
Share CDU/CSU	0.46	0.50				79

Table 1.2: Summary Statistics

Notes: Panel A reports summary statistics at the employee level in the ministerial employment data. I include only those employees who appear more than once. Panel B reports summary statistics for all ministers for whom I have speech data and can thus construct the gender inclusivity score.

Figure 1.7: Example: Gender Inclusivity in a Ministry Over Time



Notes: This figure plots the variation in the gender inclusivity score within a ministry over time using the example of the Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women, and Youth (BMFSFJ). For each year, it shows the gender inclusivity score of the minister in charge of the ministry. Thus, the level of the score changes when a new minister is appointed. The gender inclusivity score for each minister is calculated using all their speeches in the German parliament between 1991 and 2018.

1.4 Ministers' Gender Attitudes and Women's Careers

1.4.1 Empirical Strategy

I study whether ministers with different gender attitudes affect female civil servants' careers.¹⁰ Over time, civil servants in the same ministry experience ministers with different gender attitudes. I use this variation at the ministry level to estimate the effect of ministers with different gender attitudes on the probability that low level leaders are promoted to a higher position in the ministerial hierarchy.

Using my panel dataset on civil servants, I estimate the regression:

$$\mathbb{1}[Promotion]_{imt} = \beta_1 \cdot Inclusivity_{mt} + \beta_2 \cdot Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemaleEmployee_i + X'_{mt} \cdot \theta + \alpha_t + \lambda_i + \epsilon_{imt}$$
(1.2)

where the dependent variable $\mathbb{1}[Promotion]_{imt}$ is an indicator variable equal to one if individual *i* in ministry *m* has been promoted from the low level to middle level leadership between t - 1 and *t*. Inclusivity_{mt} is the gender attitudes score of the minister in ministry *m* at time *t*; its value changes when a new minister gets appointed to ministry *m*. FemaleEmployee_i is an indicator variable equal to one if *i* is female. X_{mt} is a vector of control variables for the minister in charge (e.g., minister's gender and party), α_t is a full set of time fixed effects, and λ_i is a full set of individual fixed effects. To account for potential correlation of shocks within ministries across time, I cluster standard errors at the ministry level.¹¹

The coefficient on $Inclusivity_{mt}$ captures the effect of ministers' gender attitudes on male civil servants' promotion probability. Gender attitudes are unlikely to predict men's promotion probabilities. Thus, I expect this coefficient to be near zero. The coefficient on the interaction term $Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemaleEmployee_i$ captures the differential effect of ministers with high gender attitudes on female civil servants' promotion probability. If the estimate for this coefficient is positive, this would indicate that, indeed, women's careers benefit from female-friendly ministers. Under the identifying assumption that ministers with higher gender attitudes do not get appointed

¹⁰Ministers cannot fire civil servants at will, since civil servants have a high degree of job protection. Ministers do, however, have discretionary powers in the appointment of civil servants to leadership positions (see Goetz, 2007; Jann and Veit, 2010).

¹¹To avoid a bias in estimated standard errors due to the small number of clusters (16), I implement a cluster-bootstrap to calculate standard errors.

to ministries in which women were already more likely to be promoted, this effect is causally estimated.

1.4.2 Main Findings

I report estimates of Equation (1.2) in Table 1.3. The first column includes individual fixed effects and time fixed effects. The point estimate on *Inclusivity_{mt}* is 0.02 and is not statistically significant. This is in line with the idea that gender attitudes do not affect the promotion probability of men in a ministry. The point estimate on *Inclusivity_{mt}* × *FemaleEmployee_i* is 0.23 and is statistically significant at the 10%-level. An increase in the gender inclusivity score by 0.01 is associated with a 0.23 percentage point increase in women's promotion probability. In other words, ministers with one standard deviation higher gender attitudes increase the promotion probability of women by around two percentage points (2 \approx 0.23 × 8.3; i.e., the point estimate times the standard deviation of ministers' gender inclusivity scores, see Table 1.2).

	Dependent Variable: Promotion				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Gender Inclusivity	$0.02 \\ (0.06)$	0.01 (0.06)	0.03 (0.06)		
Gender Inclusivity \times Female Employee	0.23^{*} (0.13)	0.23^{*} (0.13)	0.25^{**} (0.13)	0.28^{**} (0.13)	
Individual Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Time Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Female Minister Control		Yes	Yes		
Party Minister Controls			Yes		
Ministry \times Time Fixed Effects				Yes	
Observations R^2	$7,751 \\ 0.706$	$7,751 \\ 0.706$	$7,751 \\ 0.706$	$7,751 \\ 0.715$	
Dependent Variable Mean	6.54	6.54	6.54	6.54	

 Table 1.3: Main Results

Notes: This table reports estimates of Equation (1.2). The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual *i* working in ministry *m* was promoted from a low level leadership position to middle level leadership at time *t*. The explanatory variable *Gender Inclusivity* is the gender inclusivity score of the minister in charge of ministry *m* at time *t* (on a scale from 0 to 1). The explanatory variable *Gender Inclusivity* × *Female Employee* is the interaction between the variable *Gender Inclusivity* and an indicator equal to one if individual *i* is female. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression on these two explanatory variables, and individual and time fixed effects. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression which additionally controls for the gender of the minister in charge of ministry *m* at time *t*. Column (3) additionally controls for the party of the minister in charge of ministry *m* at time *t*. Column (4) includes ministry×time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the ministry level and calculated using the cluster-bootstrap. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, and * p<0.1. One might be concerned that the gender inclusivity score of the minister is correlated with other characteristics of the minister. Thus, I control for the minister's gender (column (2)) and additionally for the minister's party (column (3)).¹² The estimated coefficients remain stable and statistically significant at the 5% or 10%-level. In column (4), I control for ministry-year fixed effects. These hold fixed all aspects within a ministry at a specific point in time, e.g., characteristics of a minister. Thus, I can no longer estimate the baseline effect of the gender inclusivity score. Yet, I can still estimate the coefficient of interest: the differential effect of ministers with higher gender attitudes on women. The estimated coefficient is 0.28 and significant at the 5%-level.

Across specifications, the effect of ministers with one standard deviation higher gender attitudes on women's promotion probability is around two percentage points. This is a meaningful and sizeable effect, considering that the overall promotion probability from low level to middle level leadership is around 6.5%.

Identification of the impact on women's careers of ministers who differ in their gender attitudes relies on the assumption that female-friendly ministers do not get appointed to ministries in which women were already more likely to be promoted. Of course, ministers are not randomly appointed to lead specific ministries. Yet, ministers are generally appointed as a result of political considerations. To address potential government-level effects (e.g., a shift of the government along the left-right spectrum or a potential shift to an explicitly female-friendly government), I control for time fixed effects. Moreover, ministry fixed effects would control for selection of ministers with higher gender attitudes into specific ministries. Since I observe individual civil servants only within ministries, individual fixed effects absorb ministry fixed effects. Thus, my specification controls for time-invariant ministry-level confounders.

A limitation of my analysis is that I cannot identify the precise mechanism by which superiors with higher gender attitudes affect women's career outcomes. The estimated effect could be explained by both demand and supply forces. For example, a sexist minister might be less likely to choose a woman from the pool of candidates. But, at the same time, female employees might also be less likely to apply for a promotion under a sexist minister. Hence, my empirical strategy estimates the reduced-form effect of ministers with higher gender attitudes on women's promotions.

 $^{^{12}}$ In Appendix Table 1.C.1, I show that this result is stable to the inclusion of further control variables.

1.4.3 Heterogeneous Impact of Ministers

I now turn to an additional analysis and ask: which ministers matter? I study the heterogeneous effects (1) of ministers with particularly high or low gender attitudes scores, and (2) of male relative to female ministers.

Ministers With High and Low Gender Attitudes

First, I investigate if ministers with higher or lower gender attitudes drive the effect. I estimate a non-parametric version of my main regression:

$$\mathbb{1}[Promotion]_{imt} = \beta_1 \cdot HighIncl_{mt} + \beta_2 \cdot HighIncl_{mt} \times FemaleEmployee_i + \gamma_1 \cdot LowIncl_{mt} + \gamma_2 \cdot LowIncl_{mt} \times FemaleEmployee_i (1.3) + \alpha_t + \lambda_i + \epsilon_{imt}$$

where $HighIncl_{mt}$ and $LowIncl_{mt}$ are indicator variables equal to one if the minister in ministry m at time t is in the highest quarter or the lowest quarter in the distribution of ministers' gender inclusivity scores. I interact these indicator variables with $FemaleEmployee_i$. The remaining variable definitions are identical to Equation (1.2).

I report estimates of this specification in Table 1.4. In column (1), I report estimates from a regression where I only estimate the effects of ministers who are in the top quartile of the gender inclusivity score distribution, relative to ministers in the lowest 75 percent of the distribution. I again find that the baseline effect of a minister with high gender attitudes on men is insignificantly different from zero. However, the differential effect on women, i.e., the coefficient on the interaction $HighIncl_{mt} \times FemaleEmployee_i$, is positive and statistically significant at the 10%-level. The differential effect of a minister with high gender attitudes on the probability that a woman gets promoted is around four percentage points. In column (2), I report estimates from an analogous regression in which I estimate the effect of ministers with low gender attitudes. The reported estimates are symmetric: the baseline effect on male employees is near zero, but the differential effect on female employees is negative. However, this effect is not statistically significant.

In column (3), I report estimates from a regression with indicator variables on both ministers with high gender attitudes and ministers with low gender attitudes, i.e., of Equation (1.2). The estimated effects of these variables are relative to ministers between the 26^{th} and 75^{th} percentiles. For both sets of coefficients, I find similar results to the ones in columns (1) and (2). I find null effects on the baseline promotion

	Dependent Variable: Promotion				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Top Quarter Inclusivity	0.007 (0.009)		0.007) (0.009)		
Top Quarter Inclusivity \times Female Employee	0.041^{*} (0.022)		0.039^{*} (0.022)	0.045^{*} (0.024)	
Bottom Quarter Inclusivity		$\begin{array}{c} 0.005 \\ (0.031) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.005 \\ (0.031) \end{array}$		
Bottom Quarter Inclusivity \times Female Employee		-0.060 (0.048)	-0.045 (0.049)	-0.047 (0.045)	
Individual Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Time Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Ministry \times Time Fixed Effects				Yes	
Observations	7,751	7,751	7,751	7,751	
R^2	0.706	0.705	0.706	0.715	
Dependent Variable Mean	6.54	6.54	6.54	6.54	

Table 1.4: Non-Linear Effect of Gender Attitudes

Notes: This table reports estimates of Equation (1.3). The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual i working in ministry m was promoted from a low level leadership position to middle level leadership at time t. The explanatory variable Top Quarter Inclusivity is an indicator equal to one if the minister in charge of ministry m at time t is in the top quartile in the distribution of ministers' gender inclusivity scores. The explanatory variable Bottom Quarter Inclusivity is an indicator equal to one if the minister in charge of ministry m at time t is in the bottom quartile in the distribution of ministers' gender inclusivity scores. Top Quarter Inclusivity \times Female Employee and Bottom Quarter Inclusivity \times Female Employee are the interactions between these indicator variables and the indicator FemaleEmployee, which is equal to one if individual i is female. Columns (1)-(3) include individual and time fixed effects. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression on the variable Bottom Quarter Inclusivity and its interaction with Female Employee. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression on the variable Top Quarter Inclusivity and its interaction with Female Employee. Column (3) reports estimates from a regression with both explanatory variables, Bottom Quarter Inclusivity and Top Quarter Inclusivity, and their interactions with the indicator Female Employee. Column (4) reports estimates from a regression with the same explanatory variables as in column (3), except that it includes individual and ministry×time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the ministry level and calculated using the cluster-bootstrap. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, and * p<0.1.

probability, indicating that under ministers with higher gender attitudes promotions are not more likely for men. They are, however, more likely for women: I find that the differential effect of a minister with high gender attitudes on women's promotion probability is around 3.9 percentage points, which is statistically significant at the 10-% level. The differential effect of ministers with low gender attitudes is -4.5 percentage points. This would indicate that the effect is symmetric, i.e., driven by both ministers with high and low gender attitudes. However, this effect is not statistically significant.

I replicate these results using ministry-time fixed effects, which control for party and gender of the minister as well as potential government effects over time. In this regression, I can no longer estimate the baseline coefficients β_1 and γ_1 because they vary at the ministry-time level. Estimated coefficients remain broadly unchanged.

Male and Female Ministers

Second, I analyze if the effect of ministers with high gender attitudes is driven by male or female ministers. In this specification, I estimate the effect of gender attitudes on female employees separately for male and female ministers:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{1}[Promotion]_{imt} &= \beta_1 \cdot Inclusivity_{mt} \\ &+ \beta_2 \cdot Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemEmployee_i \\ &+ \beta_3 \cdot Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemMinister_{mt} \\ &+ \beta_4 \cdot Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemMinister_{mt} \times FemEmployee_i \\ &+ \beta_5 \cdot FemMinister_{mt} \times FemEmployee_i \\ &+ \beta_6 \cdot FemMinister_{mt} + \alpha_t + \lambda_i + \epsilon_{imt} \end{split}$$
(1.4)

where $FemMinister_{mt}$ is an indicator equal to one if the minister in ministry m at time t is a woman. As in the main analysis, I include the variables $Inclusivity_{mt}$ and $Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemEmployee_i$. Additionally, I estimate the differential effect of female ministers with high gender attitudes on female employees, i.e., I include $Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemMinister_{mt} \times FemEmployee_i$. I control for ministry and time fixed effects, and cluster standard errors at the ministry level.

I report the results of this regression in Table 1.5. Column (1) reports estimates from the main regression, i.e., without the interactions for female ministers, and is included for reference. In column (2), I report estimates of Equation (1.4). The differential effect of ministers with high gender attitudes on the baseline probability of promotion is near zero (0.04), as is the differential effect of female ministers (-0.02). This again shows that gender attitudes are not driving men's promotions in a ministry, under both male and female ministers. Also, the differential effect of ministers with high gender attitudes on female employees is positive (0.37) and significant at the 10%-level.

If female ministers with high gender attitudes promote more women than male ministers with high gender attitudes, I expect the differential effect of female ministers with high attitudes to be positive. I find that this is not the case. The point estimate is -0.20, which is large relative to the estimated coefficient on $Inclusivity_{mt} \times FemEmployee_i$ (0.37). However, this effect is not statistically significant. I replicate the findings in column (3), where I include ministry-year fixed effects. I conclude that the effect of ministers with high gender attitudes is not driven by female ministers but by ministers of both genders. If anything, the point estimate (-0.20) indicates that male ministers

	Dep. V	Var.: Pro	motion
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Gender Inclusivity	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ (0.06) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.04 \\ (0.08) \end{array}$	
Gender Inclusivity \times Female Employee	0.25^{**} (0.13)	0.37^{*} (0.22)	0.38^{*} (0.22)
Gender Inclusivity \times Female Minister		-0.02 (0.17)	
Gender Inclusivity \times Female Minister \times Female Employee		-0.20 (0.25)	-0.23 (0.26)
Individual Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes
Time Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	
Party Minister	Yes	Yes	
Female Minister	Yes	Yes	
Female Minister \times Female Employee Control		Yes	Yes
Ministry \times Time Fixed Effects			Yes
Observations	7,751	7,751	7,751
R^2	0.706	0.706	0.715
Dependent Variable Mean	6.541	6.541	6.541

Table 1.5: Female and Male Ministers

Notes: This table reports estimates of Equation (1.4). The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual *i* working in ministry *m* was promoted from a low level leadership position to middle level leadership at time t. The explanatory variable Gender Inclusivity is the gender inclusivity score of the minister in charge of ministry m at time t (on a scale from 0 to 1). The explanatory variable Gender Inclusivity \times Female Employee is the interaction between the variable Gender Inclusivity and indicator equal to one if i is female. The explanatory variable Gender Inclusivity \times Female Minister is the interaction between the variable Gender Inclusivity and an indicator equal to one if the minister in charge of ministry m at time t is female. The explanatory variable Gender Inclusivity \times Female $Minister \times Female \ Employee$ is the interaction between the variable Gender Inclusivity, and an indicator equal to one if the minister in charge of ministry m at time t is female, and an indicator equal to one if individual i is female. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression on the first two explanatory variables, individual and time fixed effects, and indicator variables for the party and gender of the minister in charge of ministry m at time t. It is equivalent to column (3) in Table 1.3 and is included for reference. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression which additionally includes Gender In $clusivity \times Female Minister, Gender Inclusivity \times Female Minister \times Female Employee, and Female Compared States and Female Minister + Fe$ $Minister \times Female Employee.$ Column (4) additionally includes ministry $\times time fixed effects and there$ fore omits time fixed effects and minister controls. Standard errors are clustered at the ministry level and calculated using the cluster-bootstrap. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, and * p<0.1.

with high gender attitudes are more likely to promote women than female ministers with high gender attitudes.

1.5 Conclusion

In this paper, I introduced a new method to measure gender attitudes: the extent to which a person speaks gender-inclusively. I then presented a series of facts about German politicians' use of gender-inclusive language and argued that my score is a meaningful measure of gender attitudes. I used this measure to estimate the effect of ministers who differ in their gender attitudes on female employment outcomes. I
find that ministers with one standard deviation higher gender attitudes increase the promotion probability of women by about two percentage points. This effect holds both for male and female ministers.

This finding is important for policy: while many countries have introduced quotas for women in leadership (e.g., boards of advisors or public bodies), research has shown that the representation of women at higher levels often does not trickle down to lower levels (e.g., Bertrand et al., 2019; Maida and Weber, 2022). My findings indicate that female-friendly superiors—as opposed to female superiors—might be more beneficial for women's careers.

This paper leaves two aspects of the role of superiors' gender attitudes unanswered. First, I estimate a reduced-form effect, which could be explained by both demand and supply. Second, my findings do not show that an intervention that makes superiors speak more gender-inclusively or have more female-friendly gender attitudes (e.g., diversity training) would have a causal effect on their likelihood of promoting women. Yet, my findings do suggest that in the absence of female-friendly superiors women's underrepresentation in leadership may persist.

Appendix to Chapter 1

This appendix presents details on data collection and additional results:

- Section 1.A provides details on the construction of the gender inclusivity score.
- Section 1.B provides additional figures.
- Section 1.C reports additional findings.

1.A Further Details on the Gender Inclusivity Score

1.A.1 Example

This example illustrates the construction of the gender inclusivity score using a speech by Angela Merkel in the German parliament on 29 October 2020 (Bundesregierung, 2020). Below is a part of the speech in its German original. Female-specific words are colored in orange and male-specific words in light blue. In the English translation of the text, I indicated the use of gender-specific words by adding these terms in the respective colors.

"Liebe Kolleginnen und Kollegen! ... Am 18.10. waren es 769 betreute Patienten, am 28.10., zehn Tage später, 1 569. ... Deshalb haben sich die Regierungschefinnen und Regierungschefs des Bundes und der Länder gestern zu einer weiteren Konferenz getroffen und weitere Vereinbarungen beschlossen. ... Wir haben also gemeinsam mit den Ministerpräsidentinnen und Ministerpräsidenten Folgendes beschlossen ..."

"Dear colleagues and colleagues! ... On the 10th of October, 769 patients were in intensive care; on the 29th of October, 10 days later, this number has reached 1,569. ... Hence, the federal and state heads of government and heads of government have met yesterday and made further agreements. ... Together with the minister-presidents and ministerpresidents we have come to the following conclusions ..."

In this example, Angela Merkel uses four different person-specific words: colleagues, patients, heads of government, and minister-presidents. For three of these words she uses the gender-inclusive form, i.e., she uses a male-specific and a female-specific word to describe these people. For one of these words, patients, she only uses the male word. Hence, she has used 7 person-specific words, of which 3 were female-specific. Her gender inclusivity score in this example is thus 3/7.

1.A.2 Details on Constructing the Gender Inclusivity Score

I calculate the gender inclusivity score for all German politicians in my dataset by counting the number of female-specific and male-specific words they use in their speeches. Hence, I need a list of person-specific words (e.g., baker, terrorist, expert) with their female and male forms. Instead of relying on an arbitrary selection of person-specific words, I draw these person-specific words from the data itself. I construct the gender inclusivity score in three steps:

- (1) I compile a list of person-specific words with gender-specific forms. I parse through all speeches and extract the word after the substring "innen und." For example, the word for pilot in German is "Pilot" for men and "Pilotin" for women. The gender-inclusive plural is "Pilotinnen und Piloten." The term after "innen und" is "Piloten," the plural for the male-specific word for pilot. This process gives me a list of 6,000 person-specific words that were used at least once in their gender-inclusive form. (This list contains some mistakes which I manually clean. For example, in the case of the words "gewinnen und verlieren" (in English: "win and lose"), I would extract the string "verlieren," which of course is not a noun.)
- (2) For each of these terms, I count how often they appear in all speeches. I rank terms by their frequency and extract a list of the 100 most used person-specific words. Out of all instances a person-specific word was used in a speech (based on my list compiled in step 1), in 95% of these instances the word was among the top 100 words. (I report the ten most used person-specific nouns in speeches in the German parliament in Table 1.A.1.) I compile a list of the respective female and male forms of these 100 words.
- (3) For all speeched, I count the number of times each of these 100 words was used in their male form and in their female form.
- (4) I then calculate, within a politician, the sum of all female-specific words and the sum of all male-specific words they used in all their speeches. Then I construct the ratio, as defined in Equation (1.1).

When I construct scores for genders or parties, I do not perform step 4 at the level of the politician, but rather I count the sum of all male-specific and all female-specific words within all speeches of politicians of that specific gender or party. Likewise, when I construct time-varying gender inclusivity scores I count the sum of these words at the gender-year or the party-year level.

Rank	Male-specific word	Female-specific word	English translation
1	Kollege	Kollegin	Colleague
2	Bürger	Bürgerin	Citizen
3	Soldat	Soldatin	Soldier
4	Arbeitnehmer	Arbeitnehmerin	Employee
5	Mitarbeiter	Mitarbeiterin	Co-worker
6	Verbraucher	Verbraucherin	Consumer
7	Schriftführer	Schriftführerin	Clerk/minute taker
8	Patient	Patientin	Patient
9	Rentner	Rentnerin	Pensioner
10	Wähler	Wählerin	Voter

 Table 1.A.1: Ten Most Used Person-Specific Words

Notes: This table reports the ten most used person-specific words in speeches in the German parliament.

1.B Additional Figures

1.B.1 Gender Inclusivity Among German Politicians

Figure 1.B.1: Gender Inclusivity of Male MPs Over Time, by Party



Notes: This figure plots the yearly average of the gender inclusivity score for male MPs in each party: the Left (Linke, dark red), the Greens (Grüne, green), the Social Democrats (SPD, red), the Liberals (FDP, yellow), the Conservatives (CDU/CSU, black), and the Alternative for Germany (AfD, blue).



Figure 1.B.2: Gender Inclusivity of Female MPs Over Time, by Party

Notes: This figure plots the yearly average of the gender inclusivity score for female MPs in each party: the Left (Linke, dark red), the Greens (Grüne, green), the Social Democrats (SPD, red), the Liberals (FDP, yellow), the Conservatives (CDU/CSU, black), and the Alternative for Germany (AfD, blue).

Figure 1.B.3: Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores



Notes: This figure plots the distribution of individual politicians' gender inclusivity scores.





Notes: This figure plots the distribution of male and female politicians' gender inclusivity scores.

Figure 1.B.5: Distribution of Gender Inclusivity Scores, By Decade



Notes: This figure plots the distribution of individual politicians' gender inclusivity scores by decade (1990s, 2000s, 2010s).





Notes: This table shows, separately for the Conservatives (CDU/CSU) and the Liberals (FDP), the average gender inclusivity score for politicians who voted in favor of a 1997 law criminalizing marital rape, for those who voted against the law, and for those who abstained.

Minister Ministry		Gender	Party	Inclusivity
Svenja Schulze Environment		F	SPD	0.35
Franziska Giffey	Family & Women	F	SPD	0.32
Andreas Scheuer	Transport	Μ	CSU	0.27
Olaf Scholz	Finance	Μ	SPD	0.26
Hubertus Heil	Labour	Μ	SPD	0.23
Julia Klöckner	Agriculture	F	CDU	0.19
Angela Merkel	Chancellor	F	CDU	0.19
Peter Altmaier Economy		Μ	CDU	0.19
Heiko Maas Foreign Affairs		Μ	SPD	0.18
Gerd Müller Development		Μ	CSU	0.14
Christine Lambrecht Justice		F	SPD	0.13
Helge Braun Chancellery		Μ	CDU	0.10
Anja Karliczek Education		F	CDU	0.07
Jens Spahn Health		Μ	CDU	0.06
Horst Seehofer	Interior	М	CSU	0.04
Average				0.18

 Table 1.B.1: Gender Inclusivity Score Among Ministers in 2020

Notes: This table lists the individual-level gender inclusivity score for each minister in 2020, with information on their ministry, their gender, and party. The Minister of Defence in 2020, Annegret Kramp-Karrenbauer, is omitted from this table due to missing speech data.



Figure 1.B.7: Share of Women in Low Level Leadership

Notes: This figure plots the share of women in low leadership ranks between 1982 and 2016 in five ministries: the German Federal Ministry of Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women, and Youth; the Ministry of Finance; the Ministry for International Cooperation and Development; the Ministry of the Interior; and the Ministry of Justice.



Example Organization Chart Figure 1.B.8: *Notes:* This figure shows the organization chart of the German Federal Ministry of Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women, and Youth in 2023. For data protection, I show a chart without names (unlike the ones I have digitized). Source: BMFSFJ (2024).

1.C Additional Findings

Table 1.C.1 reports estimates from regressions using additional ministry-level and individual-level controls. The results in the main analysis (here columns (1) and (4), included for reference) are robust to controlling for the share of lower-level leaders who are female at t-1 (column (2)). The results are also robust to controlling for indicator variables that capture individual *i*'s years of experience, i.e., how many times I observe them in the data (columns (3) and (5)).

	Dependent Variable: Promotio				tion
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Gender Inclusivity	$0.03 \\ (0.06)$	$0.03 \\ (0.07)$	$0.00 \\ (0.07)$		
Gender Inclusivity \times Female Employee	0.25^{**} (0.13)	0.25^{*} (0.14)	0.30^{*} (0.16)	0.28^{**} (0.13)	0.33^{**} (0.15)
Individual Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Time Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Minister Female Control	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Minister Party Controls	Yes	Yes	Yes		
Share of Lower-Level Leaders Control		Yes	Yes		
Years of Experience Controls			Yes		Yes
Ministry \times Time Fixed Effects				Yes	Yes
Observations	7,751	7,707	6,042	7,751	6,086
R^2	0.706	0.707	0.720	0.715	0.728
Dependent Variable Mean	6.54	6.55	6.17	6.54	6.16

Table 1.C.1: Robustness: Adding Additional Controls

Notes: This table reports estimates of Equation (1.2). The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual i working in ministry m was promoted from a low level leadership position to a middle level leadership at time t. The explanatory variable Gender Inclusivity is the gender inclusivity score of the minister in charge of ministry m at time t (on a scale from 0 to 1). The explanatory variable Gender Inclusivity \times Female Employee is the interaction between the variable Gender Inclusivity and whether individual i is female, i.e., it is equal to zero for men and equal to Gender Inclusivity for women. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression on these two explanatory variables, individual and time fixed effects, and controls for the gender and party of the minister in charge of ministry m at time t. This column is equivalent to column (3) of Table 1.3 and is included for reference. Column (2) additionally controls for the share of women among low level leaders in ministry m at time t-1. Column (3) additionally controls for a set of indicator variables for the years of experience of individual i at time t. Column (4) is equivalent to column (1) except that it includes ministry \times time fixed effects. This column is equivalent to column (4) of Table 1.3 and is included for reference. Column (5) additionally controls for a set of indicator variables for the years of experience of individual i at time t. Standard errors are clustered at the ministry level and calculated using the cluster-bootstrap. Significance levels: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

Chapter 2

Measuring Science: Performance Metrics and the Allocation of Talent

This chapter is based on co-authored work with Carlo Schwarz and Fabian Waldinger (see Hager et al., 2023).

2.1 Introduction

The allocation of talent to productive positions in society is of utmost importance for the creation of new ideas, technological progress, and economic growth (e.g., Romer, 1986, 1990; Murphy et al., 1991; Jones, 1995; Weitzman, 1998; Hsieh et al., 2019). As talent is scarce, private sector firms and universities increasingly rely on performance metrics to identify talented individuals (e.g., Bersin, 2013; Hoffman et al., 2018). In academia, performance metrics based on citations and publications affect hiring, promotions, wages, research funding, and the prestige of academics (e.g., Hamermesh and Schmidt, 2003; Ellison, 2013). Due to their increasing use, concerns have been raised about a potential overreliance on performance metrics in science (CoARA, 2024; DORA, 2024). Despite the importance of such metrics, as well as the recent discussions, there is virtually no evidence that quantifies how performance metrics affect the organization of science.

In this article, we provide the first systematic evidence of the impact of performance metrics on the allocation of talent and on scientific careers. Specifically, we study how citation metrics affect the assortative matching between scientists and universities, which groups benefit most from citation metrics, and how citation metrics affect career outcomes, such as promotions and research funding.

Our empirical strategy exploits the introduction of the Science Citation Index (SCI), which led to quasi-random variation in the visibility of individual scientists' citation counts. While researchers always had a rough sense of the influence of scientific work, it was impossible to systematically measure citations until the 1960s. This changed fundamentally in 1963 when Eugene Garfield published the first Science Citation Index (SCI). For the first time, it became possible to identify the highest-cited papers and researchers. The Nobel laureate and molecular biologist Joshua Lederberg lauded the invention of the SCI with the words: "I think you're making history, Gene!" (Wouters, 2017). Scientists, funding bodies, and university administrators immediately started to use citation counts in hiring, promotion, and funding decisions. The sociologist Harriet Zuckerman remarked in the New York Times that there are "cases of people who have been asked to go count their own citations, and also of deans and administrations who have asked for citation counts" (Charlton, 1981).

In the first part of the article, we investigate how the availability of citation metrics affects the assortative matching between scientists and departments. We document that the correlation between scientists' citation counts and the rank of their department increased by 61%. At the same time, scientists' publication counts became 46%

less predictive of their department rank. These over-time changes suggest that hiring committees started to attach more weight to citation counts and less weight to other observable characteristics such as publications when evaluating candidates. The increased correlation between scientists' citations and the ranking of their departments may be spurious for various reasons. For example, the increasing importance of expensive research labs and of federal research funding (e.g., Kantor and Whalley, 2023) could disproportionately favor leading departments and allow them to attract star scientists, who turn out to be highly cited. Similarly, increases in team production (e.g., Wuchty et al., 2007; Jones, 2009) may have spurred collaborations within departments and, hence, made department quality more critical for citations of individual scientists.

We estimate the causal effect of citation metrics by exploiting that, for technical reasons, the SCI only covered citations in a subset of years and journals. Only these citations became visible to the scientific community. In contrast, other citations remained *invisible* to contemporaries, yet are observable in modern citation data. The variation in the visibility of citations stems from two sources: variation in the coverage of citations (1) over time and (2) across journals. First, citations appearing in citingarticles until 1960 were invisible. With the first edition of the SCI, citations from citing articles in 1961 became visible. Due to technological constraints, the coverage of the SCI was interrupted for two years. Hence, citations appearing in citing articles in 1962 and 1963 remained invisible at the time. After 1964, the SCI was published yearly, and thus citations appearing in citing articles after 1964 became visible. Second, due to a lack of computing power, the SCI only covered citations in certain journals. As a result, some citations appearing in covered years (1961 and from 1964 onwards) remained invisible if they came from citing articles published in journals not indexed by the SCI. Crucially, in the early years, the selection of citing journals was somewhat arbitrary because the lack of citation data meant that journal rankings did not exist.¹

Importantly, our empirical strategy exploits when and where a scientist's papers were *cited*, not when and where they were published. The cit*ed* papers could be published in any journal and in any earlier year. The following example of two hypothetical scientists illustrates our identification strategy: suppose that both scientists published a paper in 1957 (in any journal). One of the papers was cited in *Nature* in 1961, while the other one was cited in *Nature* in 1962. As the SCI covered citations in 1961 but not in 1962, the first citation became visible to contemporaries, while the second remained invisible. Using modern citation data, we can, however, observe both visible and invisible citations.

 $^{^{1}}$ In fact, the impact factor, which now adays is used to rank academic journals, was invented by the creators of the SCI (Gar field, 1979, p. 150).

For our analysis, we combine new data on historical faculty rosters of U.S. universities from the World of Academia Database (Iaria et al., 2022) with extensive publication and citation data from Clarivate Web of Science. These data enable us to construct the most comprehensive individual and department-level rankings for the 1960s. In addition, we digitize lists from historical volumes of the SCI, which specify the exact citing journals that were indexed in each volume of the SCI. This allows us to measure which citations were visible and, thus, to reconstruct the information set available to scientists in the 1960s.

We estimate the effect of citation metrics on the match between scientists and departments by comparing the relative importance of visible to invisible citations. We find that visible citations are four times as predictive of scientists' department rank than invisible citations. Specifically, scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation count were, on average, placed at a 2.5 percentiles higher ranked department in 1969. For instance, a mathematician would be placed at Princeton or Chicago as opposed to Columbia or Brandeis. In contrast, scientists with a 10 percentile higher ranked department. This pattern holds even if we control for detailed publication records, i.e., for the number of publications in each journal (e.g., two *Nature*, one *Science*, and one PNAS publication) and in each year (e.g., one publication in 1956, two in 1960, and one in 1964). Note that it is not surprising that even invisible citations affect the matching between scientists and departments since the academic community always had some knowledge of the quality of scientists' research, even if precise citation counts were not available.

Despite the somewhat arbitrary nature of the SCI coverage, two main concerns could potentially invalidate this identification strategy. First, visible citations may come from articles in higher-quality journals. Second, as the SCI was introduced in 1961, visible citations occur in later years, on average, and may have a larger impact on career outcomes in 1969. As a consequence, the impact of visible citations on scientists' careers would be overestimated.

To address the quality concern, we compute measures of the quality of citing journals. We find that visible and invisible citations come from journals of similar quality. We also provide further evidence that differences in the quality of citing journals do not bias our results. For this test, we estimate regressions that only consider citations from the set of citing journals that were indexed in the first edition of the SCI. This analysis compares scientists whose paper was cited, for example, in *Science* in 1961, and was therefore visible, to scientists whose paper was cited in *Science* in 1963, and was therefore invisible.

To address the timing concern, we confirm that the results hold in specifications that exclusively rely on across-journal variation in the visibility of citations. This analysis compares scientists whose paper was cited in the same year (e.g., 1961), but one citation occurred in the *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, and was thus visible in the SCI, while the other citation occurred in *Chemical Reviews*, and was thus invisible.

The quality of citing journals and the timing of citations could interact to make visible citations more predictive for assortative matching. To address this concern, we introduce an additional specification. For this test, we partition the citation space into four mutually exclusive sets depending on where and when a scientist was cited: (1) visible citations: citations from journals that were indexed in the SCI in years when the SCI was published; (2) pseudo-visible citations: citations from journals that were not indexed in the SCI in 1961 but from years when the SCI was not published; (3) invisible citations (SCI years): citations from journals that were not indexed in the SCI in years): citations from journals that were not indexed in the SCI was published; and (4) invisible citations (non-SCI years): citations from journals that were not indexed in the SCI was not published.

We find that the coefficient on visible citations is almost identical to the baseline specification. Moreover, the coefficient on pseudo-visible citations is considerably smaller and very similar to the two coefficients on invisible citations in SCI years and in non-SCI years. This indicates that citations in journals that were indexed by the SCI only had a differential impact in years in which the SCI was actually available. These results support the validity of our identification strategy.

Next, we shed light on two potential mechanisms that could underlie the increase in assortative matching based on citation metrics. First, scientists with few citations may have disproportionately left academia. We find that scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation count were 3.0 percentage points (or 4.3 percent) less likely to leave academia between 1956 and 1969. In contrast, invisible citations did not affect the probability of leaving academia. Second, highly cited scientists may have moved to higher-ranked departments. We show that scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation count were 0.8 percentage points (or 17.6 percent) more likely to move to a higher-ranked department between 1956 and 1969. Invisible citations had no effect on moving to a higher-ranked department. Overall, these results indicate that both mechanisms increased assortative matching. Citation metrics may matter more in situations where peers did not have good information on the quality of a potential hire. We, therefore, explore whether citation metrics reduced information frictions across geographic and intellectual distance. We find that citation metrics only impacted moves to higher-ranked departments that were geographically far but not to departments that were geographically close. Similarly, we find that citation metrics only impacted moves to higher-ranked departments where the moving scientist had not been cited before the move. These results suggest that citation metrics helped overcome information frictions. Reducing these frictions may have enabled departments to discover scientists in lower-ranked departments, even if they had not interacted before.

In the second part of the article, we investigate the heterogeneous effects of citation metrics. First, we show that scientists in higher percentiles of the individual-level citation distribution, and especially those above the 90th percentile, benefited disproportionately from the availability of citation metrics. Second, we find that the availability of citation metrics particularly benefited highly cited academics who were originally placed in lower-ranked departments. Thus, citation metrics enabled the discovery of these "hidden stars." This suggests that the introduction of the SCI helped to overcome misallocation by helping the highest-cited scientists move to higher-ranked departments. We also investigate the characteristics of these hidden stars. We provide evidence that these scientists, on average, obtained their Ph.D. from worse universities and that they were more likely to be female. Third, we investigate whether minority scientists (female, Jewish, Hispanic or Asian) differentially benefited from the introduction of the SCI. While we do not find evidence that minority scientists, on average, benefited more from citation metrics than majority scientists, we find evidence that among star scientists, minority scientists benefit slightly more. Overall, these results suggest that the availability of more "objective" performance metrics helped highly cited scientists in lower-ranked departments and highly cited scientists from minority groups.

In the last part of the article, we study the impact of citation metrics on other career outcomes: promotions and receiving research grants. In particular, we analyze whether scientists who were assistant or associate professors in 1956 were promoted to full professors by 1969. The probability of promotion increased by 4.2 percentage points (or 6.0 percent) for scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation rank. In contrast, invisible citations did not affect promotions. Similarly, we find that scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation rank were 18.2 percent more likely to receive an NSF grant. These results indicate that citation metrics not only affected assortative matching but also had direct impacts on the careers of scientists and changed the allo-

cation of resources. Scientists with many visible citations accrued additional rewards and recognition, suggesting the presence of Matthew effects (Merton, 1968).

This paper contributes to three different strands of the literature. First, our paper contributes to the body of literature on the economics of science and the creation of knowledge. The existing literature has shown that scientists have to process increasing amounts of knowledge to advance the scientific frontier (Jones, 2009) and that access to the knowledge frontier is crucial for producing science (Iaria et al., 2018). Additional contributions have studied the importance of superstar scientists (Azoulay et al., 2010), peer-effects and scientific productivity (e.g., Waldinger, 2010; Borjas and Doran, 2012; Waldinger, 2012), and the role of editors (e.g., Card and DellaVigna, 2020). More recently, increased attention has been paid to inefficiencies in the scientific process such as the Matthew Effect (Azoulay et al., 2014; Jin et al., 2019), gatekeepers (Azoulay et al., 2022; Hengel, 2022; Iaria et al., 2022).

Despite all these papers making use of publication and citation data, and a longstanding sociological debate on this fundamental aspect of modern science (e.g., Lotka, 1926; Merton, 1968; Zuckerman and Merton, 1971; Wouters, 1999a, 2014; Muller and Peres, 2019; Biagioli and Lippman, 2020; Pardo-Guerra, 2022), there is no causal evidence on how performance metrics affect scientific careers.² Our paper is the first to provide causal evidence that citation metrics fundamentally impact the organization of science.

Second, our findings contribute to the literature on performance metrics in the labor market. As highlighted by the theoretical models of Holmstrom and Milgrom (1991) and Feltham and Xie (1994), the use of performance metrics shapes incentives of agents in the labor market. The key empirical challenge to estimating the impact of performance metrics is that, in most cases, it is impossible to measure performance before the introduction of a specific performance metric. As a result, researchers often lack a valid counterfactual. This makes empirical evidence on how performance metrics affect the allocation of talent exceedingly rare. A few notable exceptions study the effect of performance metrics in the teacher labor market (Rockoff et al., 2012) and on first placements of MBA graduates (Floyd et al., 2023). The unique advantage of our setting is that we observe the information set.³

²Some papers document that citation metrics, such as the h-index or citation counts, are correlated with career outcomes (e.g., Jensen et al., 2009; Ellison, 2013; Hilmer et al., 2015).

³Since we measure the information set of contemporaries in the 1960s, our analysis allows us to identify the effects of revealing new information on labor market outcomes. In this, we add to the

Last, we contribute to research on assortative matching in labor markets (e.g., Abowd et al., 1999; Andrews et al., 2008; Card et al., 2013; Song et al., 2019). We show that performance metrics can increase assortative matching by lowering information frictions.

2.2 The Science Citation Index: Background and Data

2.2.1 The Creation of the Science Citation Index

The SCI was the first systematic international and interdisciplinary citation index. During the 1950s, Eugene Garfield and his newly founded *Institute for Scientific Information* (ISI) developed the technology to construct a citation index. By the early 1960s, this endeavor was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health and the National Science Foundation. In November 1963, these efforts came to fruition, and the first edition of the SCI was published, covering citations in 1961 (Garfield, 1963b, see Figure 2.A.1 for a picture of the first SCI). The SCI quickly became the "most widely used and authoritative database of research publications and citations" (Birkle et al., 2020).⁴

To construct the SCI, Garfield and his team selected 613 citing journals from the physical and life sciences and collected all citations appearing in articles in these journals in 1961 (Garfield, 1963a). This enabled them to identify all papers that were cited by these articles in 1961. The cited papers could have been published in any previous year (i.e., not only in 1961) and in any journal (i.e., not only in the set of citing journals but in any journal or book).

This information was stored on punch cards and converted to magnetic tapes, which were processed by IBM computers Garfield (1963b, p. x (sic)). Entries were ordered by last names and initials of scientists (see Figure 2.A.1). Figure 2.1 shows the 1961 entry for the medical scientist Murray Abell. His entry covers five cited papers: a 1950 paper

literature on how information disclosure and new information technologies affect market efficiency (e.g., Jensen, 2007; Koudijs, 2015; Tadelis and Zettelmeyer, 2015; Steinwender, 2018; Bernstein et al., 2023).

⁴The SCI was revolutionary because it created a novel metric of scientific productivity that individuals were unable to compile for themselves. No scientist would have had the capacity to count citations to their own work, because it would have required sifting through hundreds of thousands of potentially citing articles. In contrast, earlier metrics of scientific productivity, such as publication catalogs, aggregated information that was already individually available (for example, the *Catalogue* of *Scientific Papers* (Csiszar, 2017)).

in Archives of Pathology (vol. 50, p. 1), another 1950 paper in Archives of Pathology (vol. 50, p. 23), a 1956 paper in Archives of Pathology (vol. 61, p. 360), a 1957 paper in the American Journal of Clinical Pathology (vol. 28, p. 272), and a 1961 paper in Cancer (vol. 14, p. 318). Each of these papers was cited at least once in 1961; e.g., the 1956 Archives of Pathology paper was cited by one article in 1961 in the Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology (vol. 82, p. 281). Overall, these five papers received six citations in 1961.





Notes: This figure shows a sample entry of the 1961 volume of the SCI. It lists five cited papers for "Abell MR." Murray R. Abell was Professor of Pathology (Medicine) at the University of Michigan. The cited papers could have been published in any year until 1961 (here: 1950 (twice), 1956, 1957, and 1961). The five papers are cited by six citing articles. Because this example is from the 1961 volume of the SCI, all citations are from 1961.

For technical reasons, the SCI did not collect citations for 1962 and 1963. As "[t]he 1961 SCI was the result of an experimental research program," its preparation took more than two years Garfield (1965). After releasing the 1961 SCI in November 1963, the ISI moved on to preparing the 1964 SCI.⁵ From then on, the SCI was published quarterly. The set of indexed cit*ing* journals quickly expanded from 613 in 1961 to 2,180 in 1969.

The SCI was an immediate success. By the late 1960s, every major university had a subscription (Garfield, 1972, p. 4). For example, in 1965 chemists at Ohio State University lobbied the library administration to subscribe to a second copy of the SCI, in addition to the copy that was already available in the medical library (see Appendix Figure 2.A.3).⁶

⁵The 1962 and 1963 SCIs were released only in 1972 (Garfield, 1972). For this reason, we measure outcomes in 1969 and, hence, before the ISI had begun to fill in gaps in coverage.

⁶By 1966, the SCI was not only available as printed volumes, but could also be purchased on magnetic tapes. The magnetic tapes provided the raw data for constructing citation counts and for conducting quantitative citation analyses (Garfield, 1966). Furthermore, the ISI published five-year cumulations of the SCI. For example, the 1965-1969 compilation included all citations between 1965 and 1969 (Garfield, 1971).

2.2.2 Data

Reconstructing SCI Coverage from the Web of Science

For contemporaries, citations were only visible if they came from citing articles in journals that were indexed by the SCI. This means that only an incomplete set of citations was visible at the time. Citations before the SCI's introduction in 1961, as well as those from 1962 and 1963, and from journals that were not indexed by the SCI remained invisible. In the 1970s and 1980s, the SCI was backward expanded to cover additional years and journals, and later became part of the *Web of Science*. As a result, the *Web of Science* covers both citations that were visible to contemporaries and citations that were invisible at the time, but became available during the backward expansions.

We reconstruct the sets of citations that were visible and invisible to contemporaries. For this purpose, we hand-collect yearly lists of citing journals from the printed historical SCI volumes. We digitize these lists and hand-link them to the *Web of Science*. Appendix Figure 2.A.2 shows a sample journal list. Using this linking procedure, we can identify which citations were part of the information set of the 1960s, and which ones were not.

Faculty Rosters

To study how the introduction of citation metrics affects the careers of academics, we use data containing faculty rosters for nearly all universities in the United States from the *World of Academia Database* Iaria et al. (see 2022). The data contain almost comprehensive cross-sections of all U.S. academics for the years 1956 and 1969. Because the SCI only counted citations for the natural and biomedical sciences, we focus on all academics who worked in either biology, biochemistry, chemistry, physics, mathematics, or medicine. For the period of our analysis, the database provides the most comprehensive data on academics in the United States (see Iaria et al. (2022) for details). For the 1969 cross-section, the data contain 27,315 scientists at 1,477 departments in 384 universities (Table 2.1, Panel B).

The World of Academia Database has two unique advantages for our purpose. First, it enables us to identify the department (e.g., physics at Berkeley) of each academic. Second, it contains complete faculty rosters, which allows us to observe both academics who received citations and, importantly, academics who did not receive any citations. This enables us to construct comprehensive individual and department rankings based on *all* academics and not only based on those who published and were cited.

Linking Scientists with Publications and Citations

To count scientists' publications and citations, we link the *World of Academia Database* with publication and citation data from the *Web of Science*. We use the cascading linking algorithm developed in Iaria et al. (2022) (see Section 2.B.1.1 for details).

For the 1969 cohort of scientists, we link their publications and citations from 1956 to 1969. This enables us to measure the number of papers that each scientist published in this period and to count the citations that these papers received from the time they were published until 1969. Importantly, for our identification strategy, we observe the complete citation network and thus the exact journal in which a certain paper was cited. This allows us to measure whether the citations were covered in the SCI and were thus visible to contemporaries.

The average scientist in our data published 8.75 papers between 1956 and 1969 (Table 2.1, Panel A). These papers received 47 citations that were visible to contemporaries and 19 citations that were invisible to contemporaries but can be observed today.⁷ As has been documented by a large literature in the sociology of science, citations of academics are highly skewed (e.g., Lotka, 1926). The most highly cited scientists in our data received more than 3,000 visible and more than 2,000 invisible citations between 1956 and 1969.

Constructing Scientist Rankings

Using our scientist-publication-citation-linked data, we can construct rankings based on citations and publications. Within each subject, we rank scientists according to their citation (or publication) counts between 1956 and 1969. We then calculate each scientist's percentile rank in the subject-specific distribution of citations (or publications), assigning 100 to the best and 1 to the worst scientist. This variable transformation allows us to compare the scientists' relative positions in the citation distributions, even if these distributions differ across subjects. For example, the median biologist received 2 citations, while the median chemist received 9 citations. If percentiles cannot be uniquely assigned because too many scientists have the same number of citations or

 $^{^7\}mathrm{We}$ show below that the different distributions of visible and invisible citations do not drive our results.

Panel A: Summary Statistics						
Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max		
Publications	8.75	16.65	0	405		
Visible Citations	46.99	128.05	0	3,346		
Invisible Citations	18.93	57.95	0	2,010		
Full Professor Share	0.40	0.49				
Female Share	0.10	0.30				

 Table 2.1: Descriptive Statistics

Panel B: Number of Observations

Dataset includes:	Observations
Citations	1,800,669
Publications	239,124
Scientists	$27,\!315$
Departments	1,477
Universities	384

Notes: Panel A reports summary statistics at the scientist level for the cross-section of scientists observed in 1969. Publications are the number of papers a scientist published between 1956 and 1969; visible citations are the number of citations these papers received between 1956 and 1969 that were visible in the SCI; invisible citations are the number of citations these papers received between 1956 and 1969 that were not visible in the SCI. Panel B reports the number of observations at the citation, publication, scientist, department, and university level.

publications, we assign the mid-point of the corresponding percentiles.⁸ This is particularly important for scientists with zero citations. Alternative assignments of percentile ranks to scientists with zero citations do not affect our findings (see Section 2.C.2.3).

Constructing Department Rankings

Our data also enable us to construct the most comprehensive department rankings for this time period. These are the first rankings for this period that are based on scientific output, as opposed to reputational surveys. In addition, our rankings cover a much larger number of departments than previously available survey-based rankings. In fact, the practice of ranking departments by their research output only developed as a result of citation indexing.

⁸For example, in physics 30.37% of observations have zero citations. For the main results, we assign the mid-point between the 1st percentile and the 31st percentile, i.e., a percentile rank of 15.5, to each of these observations.

We rank all 1,477 departments in 384 universities on the basis of the average total citations received by scientists in each department. As outlined above, the rankings avoid systematic error because the *World of Academia* database also lists all scientists who have not published and/or were not cited in our study period. In our main department ranking, we construct the leave-out mean of the number of citations received by scientists in a given department, i.e., the average citation count of scientist i's colleagues. We then assign the percentile rank in the subject-specific distribution of leave-out mean citation counts, assigning 100 to the best and 1 to the worst department. We use the percentile rank because it allows us to compare the relative position of departments in different subjects (physics, chemistry, and so on), which have different numbers of departments, scientists, and average citations per scientist.

In robustness checks, we show that our findings are robust to using several alternative department rankings. First, we construct analogous department percentile ranks based on publications. Second, we construct department percentile ranks using reputation-based rankings from Roose and Andersen (1970) and Cartter (1966). As highlighted above, the reputation-based rankings cover far fewer universities.⁹ In Section 2.B.2, we list the top 20 departments in each subject, as measured by the various rankings.

2.2.3 How Was the SCI Used in Hiring and Promotions?

While the SCI was predominantly designed to facilitate literature research, it was immediately used to evaluate scientists. For example, Eugene Garfield remembered:

"The SCI's success did not stem from its primary function as a search engine, but from its use as an instrument for measuring scientific productivity." (Garfield, 2007, p. 65)

The eminent biologist Richard Dawkins described the SCI as a publication that:

"is intended as an aid to tracking down the literature on a given topic. University appointments committees have picked up the habit of using it as a rough and ready (too rough and ready) way of comparing the scientific achievements of applicants for jobs." (Dawkins, 2016, p. 427)

⁹The Cartter ranking contains 106 universities, and the Roose-Andersen ranking contains 130, while our baseline ranking contains 384 universities. The alternative rankings strongly correlate with our main citation-based ranking. The correlation between the Cartter ranking and our citation-based ranking is 0.68, while the correlation between the Roose-Andersen ranking and our citation-based ranking is 0.70.

The SCI made scientists' citations visible and readily accessible for the first time. Because the SCI was organized by cited authors, it was easy to measure and compare the citation counts of scientists. Figure 2.2 shows one such comparison for two scientists working at Caltech. The box on the left shows citations of the physicist Charles Archambeau. The box on the right shows the citations of the 1965 physics Nobel laureate Richard Feynman. As one contemporary remarked, "[a]n early form of research evaluation of individuals made use of a ruler to measure column inches of citations!" (Birkle et al., 2020, p. 364).





Notes: This figure compares the entries in the 1965-1969 cumulation of the SCI (Garfield, 1971) for two physicists at Caltech: Charles Archambeau on the left, and Nobel laureate Richard Feynman on the right.

Quickly, scientists, funding bodies, and university administrators started to use citation counts in hiring, promotion, and funding decisions. Some universities even made citations a mandatory metric in the evaluation of applicants' portfolios (Wade, 1975, p. 429). The importance of newly available citation metrics is exemplified in the court case Johnson v. University of Pittsburgh.¹⁰ In 1973, Sharon Johnson sued the biochemistry department at the University of Pittsburgh for sex discrimination. Her legal case argued that she was overlooked for tenure even though her papers had received more citations (as measured in the SCI) than those of two recently tenured male colleagues.

¹⁰Dr. Sharon Johnson v. The University of Pittsburgh, W.Da. PA., 1977.

The SCI's Impact on Assortative Matching: Suggestive Evidence

We first provide suggestive evidence of the impact of the citation metrics on the assortative matching of academics and departments. If departments began to use the SCI to evaluate scientists, we would expect that the correlation between a scientist's citations and their department rank increased after the introduction of the SCI. We find that the correlation between a scientist's individual citation rank and their department rank increased by 61% between 1956 and 1969 (Figure 2.3, panels (a) and (b)). In contrast, the correlation between the individual publication rank and the department rank decreased by 46% (Figure 2.3, panels (c) and (d)).

This evidence is in line with the hypothesis that the introduction of citation metrics increased the reliance of hiring decisions on citations, and decreased the reliance on other observable characteristics such as publications. However, the increasing correlation between scientists' citation rank and their department rank may have been caused by other factors. For example, the increasing importance of expensive research labs or federal research funding (e.g., Kantor and Whalley, 2023) could disproportionately favor leading departments and allow them to attract highly cited scientists. Similarly, increases in team production (e.g., Wuchty et al., 2007; Jones, 2009) may have spurred within-department collaborations and, hence, may have made department quality more important for scientists' citations. To overcome these challenges, we introduce a novel identification strategy that allows us to isolate the causal effect of citation metrics on assortative matching in academia.

2.3 The Effect of Citation Metrics on Assortative Matching

2.3.1 Empirical Strategy

We identify the causal effect of citation metrics by comparing the effect of citations that were *visible* in the SCI to the effect of citations that remained *invisible*. For technical reasons, the SCI only covered citations from cit*ing* articles in a subset of journals and years. Hence, only citations from citing articles in this subset were visible to the scientific community. In contrast, other citations remained invisible because they were not covered in the SCI. Importantly, the cit*ed* papers could have been published in any journal and in any previous year. Therefore, scientists' visible citation counts were





Assortative Matching by Citations

Individual Citation Rank

Assortative Matching by Publications





Notes: Panels (a) and (b) show the correlation of scientists' citation rank and their department rank for two cross-sections: 1956 and 1969. Panel (a) shows a binned scatter plot for 1956 and, thus, before the introduction of the SCI. While we can now measure these citations, they were not observable at the time. Panel (b) shows a binned scatter plot for 1969 and, thus, after the introduction of the SCI. The regression coefficient in both panels is conditional on an individual's publication rank. The p-value of the test that the slope coefficients in panels (a) and (b) are equal is 0.008. Panels (c) and (d) show the correlation between scientists' publication rank and their department rank. Publications were observable to contemporaries in both 1956 and 1969. The regression coefficient in both panels is conditional on an individual's publication rank. The p-value of the test that the slope coefficient is not panels in both 1956 and 1969. The regression coefficient in both panels is conditional on an individual's citation rank. The p-value of the test that the slope coefficient is not panels in both 1956 and 1969.

not determined by the journals in which their papers were published but only by the journals in which their papers were cited.

As described above, the first volume of the SCI covered citations from 1961 in any of the 613 citing journals. As a result, all 1961 citations in those 613 journals became visible in the SCI, while citations before 1961 and in other journals remained invisible. Due to limited computing power, the collection of citation data was interrupted in 1962 and 1963. By 1964, data collection resumed. The set of indexed citing journals quickly expanded from 613 in 1961 to 2,180 in 1969. As a result, the visibility of citations was affected by two sources of variation: first, in which *year* a paper was cited, and second, in which *journal* it was cited.¹¹

Our data enable us to reconstruct which citations were part of the information set of the 1960s, i.e., we measure citations that were *visible* in the SCI. Crucially, we can also reconstruct which citations were not part of that information set, i.e., citations that were *invisible*. Invisible citations can be measured today because citation databases were expanded to include citations for additional years and for a larger set of citing journals.

Table 2.2 illustrates the identifying variation for a hypothetical scientist. It reports citations to the scientist's papers, which were published in any journal and in any year. These papers were cited in articles from journals A, B, and C between 1956 and 1969. Journal A was in the initial set of 613 citing journals indexed by the SCI in 1961. Journal B was added to the SCI in 1966, whereas journal C was not indexed in the 1960s. The dark blue cells indicate citations that were visible to contemporaries because the SCI collected citations for these years and citing journals. The light blue cells indicate citations that were invisible because the SCI did not collect data for these years and citing journals. In other words, citations in dark blue cells were part of contemporaries' information set, while citations in light blue cells were not.

In the example, the hypothetical scientist's papers were cited in articles published in journal A in 1959, in 1961, in 1963, and twice in 1967. The citations in 1959 and 1963 were invisible because the SCI did not exist for those years. In contrast, the citations in 1961 and 1967 were visible in the SCI. Similarly, the scientist's papers were cited in articles in journal B in 1957, 1961, 1965, and three times in 1966. Because journal B was added to the SCI only in 1966, the citations in 1957, 1961, and 1964 were invisible. In contrast, the three citations in 1966 were visible. Finally, the scientist's

¹¹Below, we provide evidence that the quality of citing journals or differences in the timing of citations does not drive our findings.

	Citations in Journal A	Citations in Journal B	Citations in Journal C
1956			
1957		1	
1958			
1959	1		1
1960			
1961	1	1	
1962			1
1963	1		
1964			
1965		1	
1966		3	
1967	2		
1968			
1969			1

 Table 2.2: Identifying Variation for Specification 1

Notes: This table reports citations of a hypothetical scientist's papers. Numbers in dark blue cells show citations that were visible in the SCI because the citation occurred in a journal and year (1961, or 1964-69) that was covered by the SCI. Numbers in light blue cells show citations that were invisible in the SCI, but are observable today.

papers were cited in articles in journal C in 1959, 1961, and 1969. As journal C was not indexed in our study period, all of these citations were invisible to contemporaries.

Hence, if contemporaries had looked up the scientist's total citations in the SCI in 1969, they would have observed six citations, i.e., the scientist had six *visible* citations. In addition, the scientist had eight citations that were *invisible* at the time. Using modern citation data, we can observe both visible and invisible citations. For each scientist i, we separately count the number of visible and invisible citations between 1956 and 1969 to i's papers published between 1956 and 1969.

2.3.2 Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations

Our identification strategy exploits the differential visibility of scientists' citations. If the measurement of citations affects the assortativeness of the match between academics and universities, visible citations should be more predictive of career outcomes than invisible ones.¹² The identifying assumption underlying this new empirical strategy is that the effect of visible and invisible citations would be the same if both had been covered in the SCI. Given the arbitrary timing of the introduction of the SCI and the lack of coverage for the years 1962 and 1963, this seems plausible. Nonetheless, there may be concerns that any effect might be driven by differences in the quality of the citing journals or the timing of citations, i.e., by the two sources of variation in the visibility of citations. We address these concerns with alternative specifications outlined below.

We estimate the following regression:

Dep.
$$Rank_i = \delta \cdot Visible\ Citations_i + \theta \cdot Invisible\ Citations_i + \pi \cdot Publications_i + Subject\ FE + \epsilon_i$$

$$(2.1)$$

where $Dep. Rank_i$ is the department rank of scientist *i* in 1969, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department.¹³ Visible Citations_i measure scientist *i*'s visible citations. Invisible Citations_i measure scientist *i*'s invisible citations. In the baseline specification, we measure citations as the percentiles in the distributions of visible and invisible citations.¹⁴ Publications_i flexibly control for scientists *i*'s publications. Subject FE control for differences between academic subjects. To account for potential correlations of regression residuals in a certain department, e.g., in chemistry at Berkeley, we cluster all standard errors at the department level.

To study how citation metrics affect assortative matching, we compare the magnitudes of the estimated coefficients $\hat{\delta}$ and $\hat{\theta}$. If the visibility of citations in the SCI increased the assortativeness of the match between scientists and departments, we would expect that $\delta > \theta$. For example, the difference between δ and θ captures whether citations that occurred in 1961 instead of 1962 had a larger impact on the match between scientists and departments. Note that we would not expect θ to be zero because, even in the absence of the SCI, scientists will have an approximate idea about the importance and quality of other scientists' papers.

We report estimates of Equation (2.1) in the first panel of Table 2.3. In column (1), we report a specification that controls for subject fixed effects. The coefficient

¹²Invisible citations may still correlate with outcomes, because scientists have always had a rough idea of the quality, and thus citation potential, of their peers' papers.

¹³In the main specification, we use the department ranking based on the leave-out mean of citations. All results are robust to using different measures of the department rank, e.g., based on citations, publications, or alternative department rankings based on contemporaneous reputation-based surveys (Tables 2.C.1 and 2.C.2).

¹⁴We explore alternative transformations of citation counts in Table 2.C.3, e.g., standardizing citation counts or using the inverse hyperbolic sine of citations.

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations					
Visible Citations	0.299 (0.034)	0.320 (0.031)	0.280 (0.035)	0.252 (0.035)	0.244 (0.036)
Invisible Citations	0.103 (0.023)	0.068 (0.020)	0.062 (0.021)	0.057 (0.023)	0.056 (0.023)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
R^2	0.138	0.140	0.153	0.229	0.256
Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citati	ons				
Visible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.305 \\ (0.035) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.327 \\ (0.032) \end{array}$	0.284 (0.036)	$0.256 \\ (0.036)$	0.247 (0.037)
Pseudo-Visible Citations	0.033 (0.021)	$0.012 \\ (0.020)$	0.013 (0.020)	0.025 (0.022)	0.023 (0.023)
Invisible Citations (SCI years)	$0.030 \\ (0.014)$	0.029 (0.014)	$0.030 \\ (0.014)$	0.021 (0.014)	0.021 (0.015)
Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)	0.057 (0.017)	0.044 (0.016)	$0.037 \\ (0.016)$	$0.025 \\ (0.017)$	0.029 (0.017)
P-value (Visible = Pseudo-Visible) P-value (Visible = Invisible (SCI years)) P-value (Visible = Invisible (non-SCI years)) P-value (Pseudo-Vis. = Invis. (SCI) = Invis. (non-SCI))	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.451	$< 0.001 \\ < 0.001 \\ < 0.001 \\ 0.551$	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.676	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.972	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.939
	0.138	0.141	0.154	0.229	0.256
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year \times Subject Publications by Journal Publications by Journal \times Subject			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes
Observations Dependent Variable Mean	$27,315 \\ 50.40$	$27,315 \\ 50.40$	$27,315 \\ 50.40$	$27,315 \\ 50.40$	$27,315 \\ 50.40$

Table 2.3: Citations and Assortative Matching

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1) in the first panel and of Equation (2.2) in the second panel. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations*. *Pseudo-Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations*. *Pseudo-Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations* (*SCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations* (*SCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations* (*SCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations* (*SCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations* (*SCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations* (*sCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations* (*non-SCI years*) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations* in non-SCI years (citations in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and in years that were not covered, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., *Nature*). Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

for visible citations is around three times larger than the coefficient for invisible citations. Scientists with a 10 percentiles higher visible citation count were, on average, placed at a 3.0 percentiles higher-ranked department in 1969. For example, a chemist would be placed at Harvard or Stanford as opposed to Northwestern University or the University of Southern California. In contrast, scientists with a 10 percentiles higherinvisible citation count were, on average, only placed at a 1.0 percentiles higher-ranked department.¹⁵ We also report the p-value of a two-sided t-test for the equality of the two citation coefficients. We reject the equality of the two coefficients at the 0.1%-level.

To rule out that these differences could potentially be explained by scientists' publication records, we include fine-grained controls for publications in columns (2)-(5). In column (2), we show that the results are robust to controlling for the number of publications by year, i.e., controlling separately for the number of publications in 1956, 1957, and so on.¹⁶ One might be concerned that differences in publication and citation patterns across the sciences could explain our findings. For example, mathematicians publish fewer papers and receive fewer citations than chemists or medical researchers. To address this concern, we show that the results are robust to separately controlling for the number of publications by year and subject (column (3)).

Naturally, not only the number of publications but also the journal in which a paper was published may be correlated with citation counts and thus might bias our estimates. To overcome this challenge, we additionally control for the number of publications in each individual journal. That is, we add a variable that counts the number of papers in *Science*, another variable that counts the number of papers in *Nature*, and so on. In total, we add 1,714 variables that control for the number of publications in each journal (column (4)). We also allow the effect of these controls to differ by subject, so that a publication in *Science* may have a different effect on the career of a physicist than on the career of a chemist (column (5)). The results are robust to the inclusion of these fine-grained controls for scientists' publication records. In fact, the difference in the impact of visible and invisible citations increases with the inclusion of additional controls. With all controls (column (5)), visible citations have a four times larger effect on the department rank than invisible citations. Appendix Figure 2.C.1 illustrates these results graphically.

We show that these findings are robust to using alternative ways of ranking departments (Section 2.C.2.1), to using alternative transformations of individual citation counts (Section 2.C.2.2 and 2.C.2.3), and to imposing additional sample restrictions (Section 2.C.2.4).

¹⁵As discussed above, it is not surprising that invisible citations are positively correlated with the department rank because they proxy for wider recognition by the scientific community.

¹⁶Since the number of scientists' publications takes many fewer values than the number of citations (see Table 2.1), especially when measuring publications separately by years (columns (2)-(5) in Table 2.3) and journals (columns (4)-(5) in Table 2.3), we do not use the percentile rank transformation of publications.

Alternative Explanation 1: Quality of Citing Journals

Despite the somewhat arbitrary nature of the SCI coverage, the results would be biased if the visibility of citations in the SCI were correlated with other characteristics that impacted a scientist's department rank in 1969.

The first concern is that visible citations may come from citing articles in higher quality journals (e.g., *Nature* or *Science*) and therefore have a larger impact on a scientist's career. It is important to note that this concern is somewhat mitigated because it was difficult to assess journal quality before the introduction of the SCI. Some of the citing journals initially indexed in the SCI turned out to be of relatively lower quality. Similarly, many journals that were, in fact, of high quality were not indexed during the first years of the SCI.

While it was not possible to quantitatively measure journal quality at the time, we can retrospectively compute measures of the quality of the citing journal and thereby assess whether visible citations came from better journals. For this test, we compute the impact factors for all citing journals in the pre-SCI period.¹⁷ Journals which were indexed in the 1961 SCI had an average impact factor of 0.83, while journals which were not indexed had an average impact factor of 0.86 (p-value of test of equal means: 0.618). We also plot the distributions of the average impact factors for both types of journal in Figure 2.4. This analysis indicates that journals indexed in the 1961 volume of the SCI were not of higher quality than journals that were not indexed.

To provide additional evidence that differences in the quality of citing journals are not driving the results, we estimate regressions that only consider citations from a fixed set of journals. For this test, we only rely on over-time variation in the visibility of citations. This allows us to abstract from potential differences in journal quality. In particular, we estimate regressions that only use visible and invisible citations from the set of journals that were included in the first edition of the SCI in 1961 (i.e., only using over-time variation in citations from type A journals in Table 2.2).¹⁸

For example, the test compares scientists who were cited in *Nature* in 1961 and therefore these citations were visible in the SCI, to scientists who were cited in *Nature* in 1962 and therefore these citations were invisible. The hypothetical scientist presented in Table 2.2 would have three visible citations: one in 1961 and two in 1967; and two

¹⁷Because the 1961 volume of the SCI was published in November 1963, we define the pre-SCI period as 1956-1963. The impact factor is calculated as the average number of citations in year t to articles published in that journal in the years t - 1 and t - 2.

¹⁸We visualize the underlying variation of this robustness check in panel (b) of Appendix Figure 2.C.2.



Figure 2.4: Quality of Journals Indexed and Not Indexed in SCI

Notes: The figure shows histograms of impact factors for two sets of journals: journals indexed in the SCI in 1961 (orange) and journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 (blue). For each journal, we average the impact factors over the pre-period (1956-1963).

invisible citations: one in 1959 and one in 1963. For this test, we do not consider citations in type B or C journals, i.e., journals not indexed in the first SCI in 1961. The results that use only citations from type A citing journals are almost identical to the main results (see Appendix Table 2.C.6), indicating that differences in the quality of citing journals do not drive our findings.

Alternative Explanation 2: Timing of Citations

The second concern stems from the differential timing of visible and invisible citations. As the SCI was introduced in 1961, visible citations, on average, occurred in later years than invisible ones. If more recent citations had more predictive power for career outcomes in 1969, the larger effect of visible citations may be spurious.

We address this concern by fixing the timing of citations and exclusively relying on across-journal variation in visibility. In particular, we estimate regressions that only use visible and invisible citations from years in which the SCI was available (i.e., 1961 and 1964-1969). This exercise compares scientists with the same publication record who were cited in similar years but in different journals, only some of which were covered in the $\rm SCI.^{19}$

For our hypothetical scientist presented in Table 2.2, this test considers six visible citations: one from journal A in 1961, two from journal A in 1967, and three from journal B in 1966. It also considers three invisible citations: one each from journal B in 1961 and 1965, and one from journal C in 1969.²⁰

The results that use only citations from years in which the SCI was published are very similar to the main results (Appendix Table 2.C.7). The point estimates are almost identical, and the p-values for the difference in coefficients remain below the 0.1%-level. These results strongly suggest that the differential timing of visible and invisible citations does not drive our findings.²¹

2.3.3 Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citations

The quality of citing journals and the timing of citations might interact to make visible citations more predictive for assortative matching. To address such concerns, we introduce a second specification, which includes a placebo test that compares the predictiveness of different types of invisible citations. For this specification, we partition the citation space into four mutually exclusive sets depending on where and when a scientist was cited (see Table 2.4):

- 1. Visible citations: citations from journals that were indexed in the SCI in years when the SCI was published (1961 and 1964-1969),
- 2. *Pseudo-visible citations*: citations from journals that were indexed in the SCI in 1961 but from years when the SCI was not published (1956-1960 and 1962-1963),
- 3. *Invisible citations (SCI years)*: citations from journals that were not indexed in the SCI in years when the SCI was published (1961 and 1964-1969),

¹⁹As outlined above, in the early years, limited funding and computing power prevented the Institute for Scientific Information from covering a large number of journals in the SCI (Garfield, 1963b, p. xvii). As a result, citations in many reputable journals remained invisible.

 $^{^{20}}$ See also panel (c) of Appendix Figure 2.C.2.

²¹As more journals were indexed in later years, even in this test, visible citations may, on average, come from later years. We address this concern by restricting the years for which we measure visible and invisible citations to even smaller windows (see Appendix Table 2.C.8).
4. *Invisible citations (non-SCI years)*: citations from journals that were not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and from years when the SCI was not published (1956-1960 and 1962-1963).

	Citations in Journal A	Citations in Journal B	Citations in Journal C
1956			
1957		1	
1958			
1959	1		1
1960			
1961	1	1	
1962			1
1963	1		
1964			
1965		1	
1966		3	
1967	2		
1968			
1969			1

 Table 2.4: Identifying Variation for Specification 2

Notes: This table reports citations to a hypothetical scientist's papers. We partition the citation space along two dimensions: (i) years covered by the SCI (blue) or not (red) and (ii) journals covered by the SCI (dark) or not (light). Dark blue cells show citations that were visible in the SCI. Dark red cells show pseudo-visible citations, i.e., citations that were invisible (because they came from years not covered by the SCI) but would have been visible had the SCI been published for those years. Light blue cells show invisible citations for years in which the SCI was published, i.e., citations that came from journals not covered by the SCI in years when the SCI was not published. Light red cells show invisible citations for years in which the SCI was not published, i.e., citations that came from journals not covered by the SCI in years when the SCI was not published.

For our hypothetical scientist, this test considers six visible citations (dark blue in Table 2.4). It also considers two pseudo-visible citations (dark red). Furthermore, it considers three invisible citations in SCI years (light blue). Finally, it considers three invisible citations in non-SCI years (light red).

For each scientist, we count the number of citations in these four sets and construct the corresponding percentile ranks. Using these measures, we estimate the following regression:

$$\begin{aligned} Dep. \ Rank_i &= \delta_1 \cdot Visible \ Citations_i \\ &+ \delta_2 \cdot Pseudo-Visible \ Citations_i \\ &+ \theta_1 \cdot Invisible \ Citations \ (SCI \ years)_i \\ &+ \theta_2 \cdot Invisible \ Citations \ (non-SCI \ years)_i \\ &+ \pi \cdot Publications_i + Subject \ FE + \epsilon_i \end{aligned}$$

As pseudo-visible citations were not visible to contemporaries, we would expect them to matter similarly to the invisible ones, i.e., we would expect $\delta_1 \gg \delta_2 \approx \theta_1 \approx \theta_2$. Note that the comparison between visible and pseudo-visible citations allows us to estimate the causal effect of citation metrics even if journals indexed in the SCI differed in quality from journals not indexed in the SCI.

We find that the coefficient on visible citations (Table 2.3, Specification 2) is almost identical to the baseline specification (Table 2.3, Specification 1). Strikingly, the coefficient on pseudo-visible citations is a lot smaller and very similar to the coefficients on invisible citations. This indicates that citations in journals that were indexed by the SCI only had a differential impact in years in which the SCI was actually available. The coefficients on invisible citations from SCI years and non-SCI years are also very similar and not distinguishable from the coefficient on pseudo-visible citations (p-value of test $\delta_2 = \theta_1 = \theta_2$: 0.972). Figure 2.5 visualizes the results of Specification 2. This confirms that citations from journals indexed by the SCI only mattered in years in which the SCI was available. In addition, in years when the SCI was not available, citations from journals indexed by the SCI (pseudo-visible citations) did not differ from other invisible citations.



Figure 2.5: Assortative Matching, Specification 2

Notes: The figure illustrates the results from Equation (2.2), see Table 2.3, Specification 2. Panels (a) to (d) report bin-scatter plots illustrating the relationship between citation ranks and the department rank. Panel (e) plots the coefficients and 95 percent confidence intervals.

2.3.4 Mechanisms

In the next subsection, we shed light on two potential mechanisms that could underlie the increased assortative matching. First, scientists with few citations may have disproportionately left academia. Second, highly cited scientists may have moved up to better departments. We investigate these explanations in turn by comparing the impact of visible and invisible citations on these individual-level career outcomes.

Effect on Leaving Academia

We start by estimating the impact of citation metrics on the probability of leaving academia. For these regressions, we study scientists who we observe in the 1956 cross-section of academics. We exclude scientists who were already full professors in 1956 to avoid picking up retirements.²² We then check whether these scientists had left academia by 1969. We estimate the following regressions:

Specification 1:

$$\mathbb{1}[Leaving Academia]_i = \delta \cdot Visible Citations_i + \theta \cdot Invisible Citations_i + \pi \cdot Publications_i + Subject FE + \epsilon_i$$
(2.3)

Specification 2:

$$1[Leaving Academia]_{i} = \delta_{1} \cdot Visible Citations_{i} + \delta_{2} \cdot Pseudo-Visible Citations_{i} + \theta_{1} \cdot Invisible Citations (SCI years)_{i} + \theta_{2} \cdot Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)_{i} + \pi \cdot Publications_{i} + Subject FE + \epsilon_{i}$$

$$(2.4)$$

where $\mathbb{1}[Leaving Academia]_i$ is an indicator variable equal to one if a scientist left academia between 1956 and 1969. The remaining variable definitions are identical to the definitions in Equations (2.1) and (2.2).

The probability of leaving academia was lower for academics with a higher visible citation count (Table 2.5, Specification 1). Scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation count were around 3.0 percentage points (or 4.3 percent relative to the mean) less likely to leave academia between 1956 and 1969. Strikingly, invisible citations did

²²The results are similar if we include full professors in this analysis.

	Dependent Variable: Leaving Academia				emia
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations					
Citations Visible	-0.0038 (0.0004)	-0.0042 (0.0004)	-0.0038 (0.0004)	-0.0030 (0.0004)	-0.0029 (0.0004)
Citations Invisible	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0004) \end{array}$	$0.0008 \\ (0.0004)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0009\\ (0.0004) \end{array}$	$0.0008 \\ (0.0004)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0009 \\ (0.0005) \end{array}$
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
R^2	0.088	0.092	0.105	0.254	0.301
Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citati	ons				
Visible Citations	-0.0037 (0.0004)	-0.0039 (0.0005)	-0.0035 (0.0005)	-0.0031 (0.0005)	-0.0031 (0.0005)
Pseudo-Visible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0006 \\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0006 \\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0009\\ (0.0006) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0009\\ (0.0006) \end{array}$
Invisible Citations (SCI years)	-0.0002 (0.0003)	-0.0000 (0.0003)	$0.0000 \\ (0.0003)$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0003)$	-0.0000 (0.0004)
Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)	-0.0000 (0.0003)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0006 \\ (0.0004) \end{array}$	$0.0008 \\ (0.0004)$
P-value (Visible = Pseudo-Visible) P-value (Visible = Invisible (SCI years)) P-value (Visible = Invisible (non-SCI years)) P-value (Pseudo-Vis. = Invis. (SCI) = Invis. (non-SCI)) R ²	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.718 0.089	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.510 0.092	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.579 0.105	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.298 0.253	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.218 0.300
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year \times Subject Publications by Journal Publications by Journal \times Subject		100	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes
Observations Dependent Variable Mean	$12,368 \\ 0.691$	$12,368 \\ 0.691$	$12,368 \\ 0.691$	$12,368 \\ 0.691$	$12,368 \\ 0.691$

Table 2.5: Mechanism 1: Leaving Academia

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.3) in the first panel and of Equation (2.4) in the second panel. The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if scientist *i* left academia, i.e., *i* was observed in 1956, but not in 1969. These regressions use the 1956 cross-section of scientists who were not full professors. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-visible citations (citations in journals indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered in the SCI, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). Invisible Citations (SCI years) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of invisible citations (non-SCI years) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of invessible citations in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and in years that were not covered, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., Nature). Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

not have a significant impact on the probability of leaving academia. The p-values for the tests that the coefficients on visible and invisible citations are equal are lower than 0.001. The estimates from Specification 2 confirm these findings (Table 2.5, Specification 2; and Figure 2.6). These results suggest that the increased assortative matching of academics was, in part, driven by scientists with fewer visible citations leaving academia.



Figure 2.6: Leaving Academia, Specification 2

Notes: The figure plots the coefficients and 95 percent confidence intervals from Equation (2.4), see Table 2.5, Specification 2.

Effect on Moving to a Higher-Ranked Department

As a second mechanism for increased assortative matching, we investigate the moves of scientists between departments. More specifically, we estimate variants of Equation (2.3) and Equation (2.4) in which we replace the dependent variable with an indicator that equals one if a scientist moved to a higher-ranked department between 1956 and 1969.

We find that scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation count were around 0.8 percentage points more likely to move to a higher-ranked department (Table 2.6, Specification 1). This relatively small point estimate nevertheless represents a 17.6 percent increase relative to the mean. Invisible citations did not affect the probability of moving to a higher-ranked department. The results are similar if we estimate Specification 2 (Table 2.6, Specification 2; and Figure 2.7).

Only 4.6 percent of academics managed to move to a higher-ranked department between 1956 and 1969. Hence, some of the differences between the coefficients on visible and (the various) invisible citations are not significant at conventional levels. However, the results suggest that assortative matching also increased because scientists with many visible citations moved to higher-ranked departments.

	Dep. Var.: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations					
Visible Citations	0.0008 (0.0003)	0.0007 (0.0003)	$0.0006 \\ (0.0003)$	$0.0008 \\ (0.0003)$	0.0007 (0.0003)
Invisible Citations	-0.0001 (0.0003)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0000\\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	-0.0004 (0.0003)	-0.0003 (0.0004)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.101	0.254	0.238	0.069	0.173
R^2	0.014	0.018	0.037	0.331	0.398
Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citati	ons				
Visible Citations	$0.0008 \\ (0.0003)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0007 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0006 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0007 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$0.0006 \\ (0.0003)$
Pseudo-Visible Citations	-0.0002 (0.0002)	-0.0001 (0.0002)	-0.0002 (0.0002)	-0.0004 (0.0003)	-0.0003 (0.0004)
Invisible Citations (SCI years)	0.0002 (0.0002)	0.0002 (0.0002)	0.0002 (0.0002)	0.0001 (0.0003)	0.0001 (0.0003)
Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)	-0.0000 (0.0002)	0.0000 (0.0002)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0002) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0002) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$
P-value (Visible = Pseudo-Visible) P-value (Visible = Invisible (SCI years)) P-value (Visible = Invisible (non-SCI years)) P-value (Pseudo-Vis. = Invis. (SCI) = Invis. (non-SCI))	$0.027 \\ 0.113 \\ 0.015 \\ 0.498$	$0.076 \\ 0.189 \\ 0.050 \\ 0.625$	$0.076 \\ 0.252 \\ 0.102 \\ 0.519$	$0.048 \\ 0.269 \\ 0.130 \\ 0.321$	$0.151 \\ 0.401 \\ 0.283 \\ 0.544$
R^2	0.014	0.018	0.037	0.331	0.398
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year × Subject Publications by Journal Publications by Journal × Subject			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes
Observations	6 179	6 179	6 170	6 170	6 179
Dependent Variable Mean	0,470 0.046	0,470 0.046	0.046	0.046	0.046

Table 2.6: Mechanism 2: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department

Notes: The table reports the estimates of variants of Equations (2.3) and (2.4) with a different dependent variable: an indicator equal to one if scientist *i* moved to a higher-ranked department between 1956 and 1969. These regressions use the sample of scientists observed in 1956 and 1969. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations*. *Pseudo-Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-visible citations (citations in journals indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered in the SCI, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). *Invisible Citations (SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations in SCI years (1961 and 1964-1969). *Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations *in journals* not indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered, *i.e.*, 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). *Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations in non-SCI years (citations in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and in years that were not covered, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. *Publications by Journal* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., *Nature*). Standard errors are clustered at the department level.



Figure 2.7: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department, Specification 2

Notes: The figure plots the coefficients and 95 percent confidence intervals from a variant of Equation (2.4) with an alternative dependent variable: an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department, see Table 2.6, Specification 2.

2.3.5 Overcoming Information Frictions Across Geographic and Intellectual Distance

The results on scientists who move up the department quality ladder also enable us to explore how citation metrics reduced information frictions. We would expect that citation metrics would matter more in situations where peers did not have good information on the quality of a potential hire.

We first investigate whether citation metrics help to overcome information frictions due to geographic distance. Specifically, we estimate two regressions with different dependent variables: (1) an indicator equal to 1 if scientist *i* moved to a higherranked department that was geographically far, and (2) an indicator equal to 1 if scientist *i* moved to a higher-ranked department that was geographically close. We define departments to be geographically far if they are more than 100km apart.²³ The results suggest that citation metrics only impacted moves to higher-ranked departments

 $^{^{23}}$ Results are similar if we define departments as geographically close using alternative cutoffs (see Figure 2.C.3).

that were geographically far but not to departments that were geographically close (Figure 2.8, panel (a); and Table 2.C.10).

Figure 2.8: Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic and Intellectual Distance



Notes: The figure plots coefficients and 95 percent confidence intervals from variants of Equation (2.3). Panel (a) reports results from two regressions with alternative dependent variables: (i) an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department that was far from scientist *i*'s department; (ii) an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department that was close to scientist *i*'s department. Panel (b) reports results from two regressions with alternative department that where scientist *i*'s papers were not cited before 1963; (ii) an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department where scientist *i*'s papers were not cited before 1963; (ii) an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department where scientist *i*'s papers were cited before 1963. For detailed results, see Appendix Tables 2.C.9 and 2.C.10.

We also investigate whether citation metrics helped to overcome information frictions due to intellectual distance. We measure intellectual distance using cross-department citations before the move of the scientist. Specifically, we measure whether scientist i's papers had been cited in the receiving department before the introduction of the SCI in 1963. We estimate two regressions with alternative dependent variables: (1) an indicator equal to 1 if scientist i moved to a higher-ranked department where i's research was not cited before the move, and (2) an indicator equal to one if scientist imoved to a higher-ranked department where i's research was cited at least once before the move.²⁴ The results suggest that citation metrics only impacted moves to higherranked departments where scientist i had not been cited before the move (Figure 2.8, Panel B; and Table 2.C.10).

 $^{^{24}\}mathrm{Around}$ a quarter of all moves to higher-ranked departments were to departments where scientists were cited before.

Overall, these findings show that citation metrics helped overcome information frictions due to geographic and intellectual distance. Reducing these frictions may have enabled departments to discover scientists in lower-ranked departments, even if they had not interacted before.

2.4 Heterogeneous Impact of Performance Metrics

As the next step of our analysis, we investigate the heterogeneous impact of the SCI depending on the scientists' citation rank and the rank of their department. Furthermore, we investigate if minorities disproportionately profited from the availability of citation metrics.

2.4.1 Heterogeneous Effects by Individual-Level Citation Rank

First, we investigate if scientists in different percentiles benefited differentially from the visibility of their citations. Specifically, we estimate a non-parametric variant of our main regression:

$$Dep. Rank_{i} = \sum_{q} \delta_{q} \cdot \mathbb{1}(Visible \ Cit \ Decile_{i} = q) + \sum_{q} \theta_{q} \cdot \mathbb{1}(Invisible \ Cit \ Decile_{i} = q) + \pi \cdot Publications_{i} + Subject \ FE + \epsilon_{i}$$

$$(2.5)$$

 $\mathbb{1}(Visible\ Cit\ Decile_i = q)$ and $\mathbb{1}(Invisible\ Cit\ Decile_i = q)$ are indicator variables for *i*'s decile in the visible and invisible citations distributions. We visualize the estimates relative to the bottom half of the visible and invisible individual-level citation distribution (Figure 2.9).²⁵

Over the upper half of the citation distribution, an increase in visible citations increases the assortativeness of the match between the rank of scientist i and the rank of her department. Furthermore, the gap between visible and invisible citations widens for higher deciles of the citation distribution. A scientist in the top decile of the visible citation distribution was, on average, placed in a department that was 22.4 percentiles

 $^{^{25}}$ To save space, we report results for the specification that controls for the number of publications by year and subject, equivalent to column (3) of Table 2.3. The results for the other specifications are almost identical. Because in some subjects, e.g., mathematics, a relatively high fraction of scientists have zero citations, we do not separately estimate effects for lower deciles.



Figure 2.9: Heterogenous Effects by Individual-Level Citation Rank

Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q$ (dark blue) and $\hat{\theta}_q$ (light blue) and 95 percent confidence intervals from Equation (2.5).

higher in the department ranking, compared to scientists in the bottom half of the visible citation distribution. This is equivalent to a physicist being placed at Harvard as opposed to Case Western Reserve University. In contrast, a scientist in the top decile of the invisible citation distribution was, on average, placed in a department that was only seven percentiles higher ranked, compared to a scientist in the bottom half of the invisible citation distribution. In Appendix Figure 2.D.1, we further split up the top decile and show that scientists in the highest percentiles of the visible citation distribution are placed in even higher-ranked departments. These results suggest that scientists at the upper end of the citation distribution had a particularly large benefit from the availability of citation metrics.

2.4.2 Heterogeneous Effects for Peripheral Scientists

Second, we analyze if scientists who were placed in lower-ranked departments (peripheral scientists) in 1956 differentially benefited from the availability of citation metrics. For this test, we restrict the sample to scientists who we observe both in 1956 and in 1969. The outcome variable is their department rank in 1969:

$$Dep. \ Rank_{i} = \sum_{q} \delta_{q}^{H} \cdot \mathbb{1}(Visible \ Cit \ Decile_{i} = q) \times High-Ranked \ (1956)_{i} \\ + \sum_{q} \delta_{q}^{L} \cdot \mathbb{1}(Visible \ Cit \ Decile_{i} = q) \times Low-Ranked \ (1956)_{i} \\ + \sum_{q} \theta_{q}^{H} \cdot \mathbb{1}(Invisible \ Cit \ Decile_{i} = q) \times High-Ranked \ (1956)_{i} \\ + \sum_{q} \theta_{q}^{L} \cdot \mathbb{1}(Invisible \ Cit \ Decile_{i} = q) \times Low-Ranked \ (1956)_{i} \\ + \omega \cdot Low-Ranked \ (1956)_{i} + \pi \cdot Publications_{i} + Subject \ FE + \epsilon_{i}$$

$$(2.6)$$

Variable definitions are identical to Equation (2.5). We add interactions between the deciles of the individual-level citation distributions with indicator variables that equal one if the scientist was working in either a high-ranked or a low-ranked department in 1956. We also control for the main effect of working in a low-ranked department in 1956. We define low-ranked departments as those below the 75th percentile of the department ranking.²⁶ In physics, for example, low-ranked departments are all departments that were ranked lower than the University of Wisconsin, Madison.

We show estimates for the deciles of the visible citation distribution for scientists in high-ranked and low-ranked departments in Figure 2.10.²⁷ Estimates for scientists in low-ranked departments are consistently larger than for scientists in high-ranked departments. The p-values for the tests that coefficients for the top two deciles are the same in low-ranked and high-ranked departments are below 0.001. This indicates that scientists who were in lower-ranked departments in 1956 benefited disproportionately from the availability of citation metrics.²⁸

In other words, citation metrics enabled the discovery of "hidden stars." This may have reduced misallocation by helping the highest-cited scientists in low-ranked departments to move to high-ranked departments. This finding is consistent with anecdotal evidence; for example, a contemporary scientist remarked that "[t]he SCI

 $^{^{26}}$ Results are qualitatively similar if we use alternative cutoffs (e.g., 60th, 70th, 80th, or 90th percentile, see Appendix Figure 2.D.2).

²⁷To improve clarity, the figure does not report the estimates for the invisible citation deciles. As in Figure 2.9, the estimates for invisible citations are consistently smaller than for visible citations. We also find no difference in the impact of invisible citations depending on the department rank.

²⁸These effects may be interpreted as mechanical because scientists in low-ranked departments in 1956 have more scope to move to a higher-ranked department. Nevertheless, it is important to quantify how "hidden stars" may benefit from the availability of performance metrics.



Figure 2.10: Heterogenous Effect of Citation Rank for Peripheral Scientists

Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q^H$ (orange) and $\hat{\delta}_q^L$ (blue) and 95 percent confidence intervals from Equation (2.6).

was especially useful to find people who would otherwise be overlooked" (as cited in Wouters, 1999b, p. 138).

One example, of such a "hidden star" is the medical scientist Hans Hecht. Swissborn, he obtained his M.D. in Germany in 1936. He escaped the Nazi regime in 1938 and emigrated to the United States.²⁹ He started his U.S. career as an "Instructor of Medicine at the Wayne University School of Medicine, following which he moved to the University of Utah, where, in 1946, he earned a second M.D. degree" (Katz, 1971) and became a professor there. Arnold Katz of the Mount Sinai School of Medicine described that his: "breadth of scientific interests [...] was always based on an extraordinarily high level of scientific excellence [...] he was never taken in by the investigator with a long list of unoriginal or superficial papers, but saw clearly the essential quality of a man's work" (Katz, 1971). In the mid-1960s, Hans Hecht was hired by the University of Chicago.

We explore whether the example of Hans Hecht indeed provides more general insights into the characteristics of "hidden stars." That is, we investigate which characteristics are correlated with being underplaced before the availability of citation

²⁹See Becker et al. (2023) for the emigration of scientists from Nazi Germany.

metrics. For this analysis, we define star scientists as scientists whose total citations (both visible and invisible) place them in the top five percent of the subject-level citation distribution in 1969. For these 450 scientists we can infer some characteristics from our data, e.g., whether they were female, but also whether they were of Asian, Hispanic, or Jewish origin. We measure these characteristics based on the names of academics (for more details, see Section 2.B.1). In addition, we collect information on where these star scientists obtained their Ph.D. through an extensive web search.³⁰

We then report the average characteristics of star scientists in high-ranked departments and of star scientists who worked in low-ranked departments in 1956 ("hidden stars"). 38% of star scientists in high-ranked departments had received a Ph.D. from a top-10 department in the United States. In contrast, only 18% of "hidden stars" had received a Ph.D. from a top-10 department (Figure 2.11). We also find that there were twice as many women among "hidden stars." Since there were very few women in academia at the time (Iaria et al., 2022), the difference is not statistically significant. Overall, this evidence suggests that "hidden stars" had, on average, obtained their Ph.D. from worse universities and that they were more likely to be female.

Figure 2.11: Characteristics of "Hidden Stars" and Other Star Scientists



Notes: The figure reports characteristics of star scientists who were in high-ranked departments (blue) and low-ranked departments ("hidden stars," orange) in 1956. As before, low-ranked departments are those below the 75th percentile of the department ranking in 1956. For this figure, we define star scientists as all scientists in the top five percent of the subject-level citation distribution.

 $^{^{30}}$ We obtain the Ph.D. university for 400 out of the 450 star scientists.

2.4.3 Heterogeneous Effects for Minority Scientists

In the last part of this section, we investigate the heterogeneous impacts of citation metrics on minority scientists. Specifically, we analyze whether women, Hispanics, Asians, and Jews disproportionately benefited from the availability of citation metrics. As outlined above, we identify these groups based on the names of academics. As the proportion of minorities among academics was low in the 1960s (e.g., Card et al. (2023), Iaria et al. (2022)), we pool all minorities to gain power. We then estimate the following regression:

$$\begin{aligned} Dep. \ Rank_i &= \sum_{q} \delta_q^M \cdot \mathbb{1}(Visible \ Cit \ Decile_i = q) \times Majority_i \\ &+ \sum_{q} \delta_q^m \cdot \mathbb{1}(Visible \ Cit \ Decile_i = q) \times Minority_i \\ &+ \sum_{q} \theta_q^M \cdot \mathbb{1}(Invisible \ Cit \ Decile_i = q) \times Majority_i \\ &+ \sum_{q} \theta_q^m \cdot \mathbb{1}(Invisible \ Cit \ Decile_i = q) \times Minority_i \\ &+ \omega \cdot Minority_i + \pi \cdot Publications_i + Subject \ FE + \epsilon_i \end{aligned}$$

Variables are defined as before, but we add interactions with indicator variables that equal one if the scientist belonged either to the majority or to the minority. We also control for an indicator that equals one if the scientists belonged to a minority.

While we do not find evidence that minority scientists, on average, benefited more from citation metrics than majority scientists (Appendix Table 2.D.2), the evidence in Figure 2.12 suggests that among star scientists (top decile) minority scientists benefit slightly more than majority scientists.³¹ The p-value for the test that the coefficients for the tenth decile are the same for minority and majority scientists is 0.051.

Taken together, these results suggest that the availability of more "objective" performance metrics helped disadvantaged high-quality scientists. In particular, highly cited scientists in lower-ranked departments ("hidden stars") and highly cited minority scientists benefited from the availability of citation metrics.

³¹The democratizing effect of citation metrics is driven by larger effects of citation metrics for women and Jews (see Figure 2.D.3). These results are robust to adding a control for the department rank of scientist i in 1956 (Appendix Figure 2.D.4).





Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q^M$ (blue) and $\hat{\delta}_q^m$ (orange) and 95 percent confidence intervals from Equation (2.7).

2.5 Impact of Performance Metrics on Careers

As shown above, citation metrics increased assortative matching between scientists and departments. In the last part of the paper, we study whether scientists with more visible citations also accrued additional benefits. We investigate such benefits by studying the impact of citation metrics on promotions and receiving NSF grants. This analysis also speaks to whether citation metrics increased recognition by peers and the wider scientific community, suggesting Matthew effects (Merton, 1968). We estimate the following regressions:

Specification 1:

$$\mathbb{1}[CareerOutcome]_i = \delta \cdot Visible\ Citations_i + \theta \cdot Invisible\ Citations_i + \pi \cdot Publications_i + Subject\ FE + \epsilon_i$$
(2.8)

Specification 2:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{1}[CareerOutcome]_{i} &= \delta_{1} \cdot Visible \ Citations_{i} \\ &+ \delta_{2} \cdot Pseudo-Visible \ Citations_{i} \\ &+ \theta_{1} \cdot Invisible \ Citations \ (SCI \ years)_{i} \\ &+ \theta_{2} \cdot Invisible \ Citations \ (non-SCI \ years)_{i} \\ &+ \pi \cdot Publications_{i} + Subject \ FE + \epsilon_{i} \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.9)$$

where $\mathbb{1}[CareerOutcome]_i$ is an indicator that equals one if the scientist was promoted or received an NSF grant. The remaining variable definitions are identical to Equations (2.1) and (2.2).

2.5.1 Effect on Promotions

We investigate if scientists who we observe as assistant or associate professors in 1956 were promoted to full professors by 1969. This allows us to directly study how the introduction of performance metrics influenced academic careers and peer recognition. We estimate Equations (2.8) and (2.9), where the dependent variable equals one if scientist i was promoted to full professor between 1956 and 1969.

We find that the visible citation rank has a significant positive impact on promotions (Table 2.7). The probability of promotion increased by 4.2 percentage points (or 6.0 percent relative to the mean) for scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation rank.³² The estimates for invisible citations are close to zero and statistically insignificant. The estimates from Specification 2 confirm these findings (Table 2.7 and Figure 2.13, panel (a)).

The results indicate that departments indeed used citation metrics in promotion decisions. As full professor positions come with many advantages such as prestige, job security, and research funds, these findings suggest that citation metrics affected individual careers and the allocation of resources in the sciences.

 $^{^{32}}$ The effect of citation metrics on promotions is estimated within the set of academics who we observe in 1956 and who have not left academia by 1969. Since the probability of leaving academia decreases with visible citations (see Section 2.3.4), we likely estimate a lower-bound of the effect of citation metrics on promotions.

	Dependent Variable: Promotion to Full Professor				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations					
Visible Citations	0.0042 (0.0006)	0.0046 (0.0007)	0.0047 (0.0007)	$0.0042 \\ (0.0010)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0041 \\ (0.0013) \end{array}$
Invisible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0009\\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	0.0003 (0.0006)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0004 \\ (0.0006) \end{array}$	-0.0004 (0.0010)	-0.0003 (0.0012)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.002	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.010	0.045
R^2	0.140	0.145	0.154	0.363	0.393
Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citati	ons				
Visible Citations	0.0043 (0.0006)	0.0048 (0.0006)	0.0048 (0.0007)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0043 \\ (0.0010) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0042\\ (0.0013) \end{array}$
Pseudo-Visible Citations	$0.0000 \\ (0.0006)$	-0.0004 (0.0006)	-0.0003 (0.0006)	-0.0004 (0.0011)	-0.0001 (0.0012)
Invisible Citations (SCI years)	$0.0006 \\ (0.0005)$	$0.0005 \\ (0.0005)$	$0.0005 \\ (0.0005)$	$0.0005 \\ (0.0009)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0006 \\ (0.0011) \end{array}$
Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0003 \\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0005) \end{array}$	-0.0008 (0.0009)	-0.0011 (0.0011)
P-value (Visible = Pseudo-Visible) P-value (Visible = Invisible (SCI years)) P-value (Visible = Invisible (non-SCI years)) P-value (Pseudo-Vis. = Invis. (SCI) = Invis. (non-SCI)) R ²	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.755 0.140	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.541 0.146	< 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.663 0.154	0.010 0.010 < 0.001 0.682 0.363	0.050 0.051 0.001 0.632 0.394
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year \times Subject Publications by Journal Publications by Journal \times Subject			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes
Observations Dependent Variable Mean	$3,364 \\ 0.707$	$3,364 \\ 0.707$	$3,364 \\ 0.707$	$3,364 \\ 0.707$	$3,364 \\ 0.707$

Table 2.7: Promotion to Full Professor

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.8) in the first panel and of Equation (2.9) in the second panel. The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if scientist *i* was promoted to full professor between 1956 and 1969. These regressions use the sample of scientists observed in 1956 and 1969, who were not full professors in 1956. The explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-Visible Citations (citations in journals indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered in the SCI i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). Invisible Citations (SCI years) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations (non-SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations* in non-SCI years (citations in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and in years that were not covered, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Publications by Journal separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., Nature). Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.5.2 Effect on Research Grants

Finally, we investigate the effect of citation metrics on receiving research grants. This analysis examines whether citation metrics affect the allocation of resources and recognition by the wider scientific community. We collect data on all National Science Foundation (NSF) grants between 1964 and 1972 and match them to the scientists in

our faculty rosters (see Section 2.B.1.3). We estimate Equations (2.8) and (2.9), where the dependent variable equals one if scientist i received at least one NSF grant.³³

	Dependent Variable: Receiving NSF Grant				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations					
Visible Citations	0.0007 (0.0001)	$0.0006 \\ (0.0001)$	$0.0005 \\ (0.0001)$	0.0004 (0.0001)	0.0004 (0.0001)
Invisible Citations	$0.0001 \\ (0.0001)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	-0.0000 (0.0001)	-0.0000 (0.0001)	-0.0000 (0.0001)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.003	0.014	0.022	0.061	0.066
R^2	0.026	0.030	0.042	0.168	0.203
Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citati	ions				
Visible Citations	0.0006 (0.0001)	0.0005 (0.0001)	0.0004 (0.0001)	0.0003 (0.0001)	0.0003 (0.0001)
Pseudo-Visible Citations	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0002 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0000 (0.0001)
Invisible Citations (SCI years)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$
Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)	0.0003 (0.0001)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$
P-value (Visible = Pseudo-Visible) P-value (Visible = Invisible (SCI)) P-value (Visible = Invisible (non-SCI)) P-value (Pseudo-Vis. = Invis. (SCI) = Invis. (non-SCI))	< 0.001 0.024 0.026 0.108	0.002 0.051 0.096 0.268	0.006 0.388 0.411 0.095 0.042	$\begin{array}{c} 0.053 \\ 0.273 \\ 0.379 \\ 0.429 \\ 0.168 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.110 \\ 0.163 \\ 0.226 \\ 0.830 \\ 0.203 \end{array}$
	0.028	0.031	0.043	0.168	0.203
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year Publications by Year × Subject Publications by Journal Publications by Journal × Subject	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes
Observations Dependent Variable Mean	$15,582 \\ 0.023$	$15,582 \\ 0.023$	$15,582 \\ 0.023$	$15,582 \\ 0.023$	$15,582 \\ 0.023$

Table 2.8: Receiving an NSF Grant

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.8) in the first panel and of Equation (2.9) in the second panel. The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if scientist *i* received an NSF grant between 1961 and 1972. These regressions use the sample of scientists observed in 1969, excluding medicine. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-Visible Citations (citations in journals indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered in the SCI, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). *Invisible Citations (SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations (non-SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations in journals in dexed* in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered *i* i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). *Invisible Citations (SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations in non-SCI years* (citations in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and in years that were not covered, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. *Publications by Journal* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

 $^{^{33}}$ We exclude medical scientists from this analysis because the NSF does not fund research in medicine. If we include medical researchers, the results are similar (see Appendix Table 2.E.1).

The visible citation rank has a significant positive impact on receiving NSF grants (Table 2.8). The probability of receiving a grant increased by 0.4 percentage points (or 18.2 percent relative to the mean) for scientists with a 10 percentile higher visible citation rank. The estimates for invisible citations are close to zero and statistically insignificant. The estimates from Specification 2 confirm these findings (Table 2.8 and Figure 2.13, panel (b)).



Figure 2.13: Effect on Career Outcomes, Specification 2

Notes: The figure plots coefficients and 95 percent confidence intervals from variants of Equation (2.9), see Tables 2.7 and 2.8, Specification 2.

These results highlight that the effects of citation metrics go beyond the allocation of talent: they affect whether scientists are promoted and whether they receive research grants. Thus, recognition through citations enables high-performing scientists to accrue additional rewards and resources, contributing to Matthew effects in the sciences (Merton, 1968).

2.6 Conclusion

The evaluation of scientists based on performance metrics, and in particular citations, has become ubiquitous in modern science. Scientists are highly aware of the number of citations their papers have received, and standard metrics like the impact factor or the h-index are not only used to evaluate scientists and papers but also influence hiring and promotion decisions. Equally, departments and scientific journals are frequently ranked based on citation measures. This widespread reliance on citation metrics has been criticized, as citations only capture one dimension of an academic's contribution to knowledge (CoARA, 2024; DORA, 2024). Despite these concerns, little is known

about the consequences of measuring citations for scientific careers, and the allocation of talent and resources.

In this paper, we use the introduction of the *Science Citation Index* to provide the first causal estimates of how citation metrics affect the organization of science. We collect new data and develop a new identification strategy to show that systematically measuring and revealing citations had a large and immediate impact on the careers of scientists. First, we show that the introduction of citation metrics increased assortative matching between scientists and departments based on citations by reducing information frictions. Second, we show that the effect was particularly pronounced for scientists in the top end of the citation distribution, and especially for "hidden stars" (highly cited scientists in lower-ranked departments), as well as for highly cited minority scientists. Finally, we show that measuring citations increased the reliance on citation metrics in promotion decisions and in allocating research grants. Overall, our findings demonstrate that citation metrics have a profound impact on the organization of modern science.

Appendix to Chapter 2

This appendix presents details on data collection and additional results:

- Section 2.A provides further background on the Science Citation Index.
- Section 2.B provides details on data collection.
- Section 2.C reports robustness checks and additional findings on the analysis of assortative matching in Section 2.3.
- Section 2.D reports additional findings on the heterogeneity analysis in Section 2.4.
- Section 2.E reports additional findings on the analysis of career outcomes in Section 2.5.

2.A Background on the Science Citation Index



Figure 2.A.1: Entry in Science Citation Index

(b) A page in the 1961 SCI



Notes: Panel (a) shows the five books of the 1961 SCI. Panel (b) shows a sample page in the 1961 volume of the SCI.

Figure 2.A.2: Example of Citing Journal List

Science Citation Index - 1961 Source Journals Arranged by Full Title

ACTA ALLERGOLOGICA	ACT ALLERG	AGRICULTURAL AND BIOLOGICAL	AGR BIOL CH
ACTA ANAESTHESIOLOGICA	ACT ANAE SC	CHEMISTRY	
SCANDINAVICA	1	AGRONOWY JOURNAL	AGRON J
ACTA ANATOMICA	ACT ANATOM	AMERICAN DOCUMENTATION	AM DOCUMENT
ACTA BIOCHINICA POLONICA	ACT BIOCH P	AMERICAN HEART JOURNAL	AN HEART J
ACTA BIOLOGICA ACADEMIAE	ACT BIOL H	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF ANATONY	AN J ANAT
SCIENTIARUM HUNGARICAE		AMERICAN JOURNAL OF BOTANY	AN J BOTANY
ACTA BIOLOGICA ET MEDICA	ACT BIO MED	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF CARDIOLOGY	AM J CARD
GERMANICA		AMERICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL	AM J CLIN N
ACTA CHEMICA SCANDINAVICA	ACT CHEN SC	NUTRITION	
ACTA CHIMICA ACADEMIAE	АСТ СНІМ Н	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF CLINICAL	AM J CLIN P
SCIENTIARUM HUNGARICAE		PATHOLOGY	
ACTA CHIRURGICA ACADENIAÉ	ACT CHIR H	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF DIGESTIVE	AN J DIG DI
SCIENTIARUM HUNGARICAE		DISEASES	
ACTA CIENTIFICA VENEZOLANA	ACT CIENT V	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF DISEASES	AN J DIS CH
ACTA CRYSTALLOGRAPHICA	ACT CRYST	OF CHILDREN	
ACTA CYTOLOGICA	ACT CYTOL	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF	AM J GASTRO
ACTA DERNATO-VENEREOLOGICA	ACT DER-VEN	GASTROENTEROLOGY	
ACTA ENDOCRINOLOGICA	ACT ENDOCR	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF HUMAN	AN J HU GEN
ACTA ENDOCRINOLOGICA SUPPLEMENTUM	ACT ENDOCR	GENETICS	
ACTA GENETICA ET STATISTICA	ACT GENET S	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF HYGIENE	AM J HYG
MEDICA		AMERICAN JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS	AM J MATH
ACTA GENETICAE MEDICAE ET	ACT GENET M	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF MEDICINE	AM J NED
GENELLOLOGIAE		AMERICAN JOURNAL OF OBSTETRICS	AN J OBST G
ACTA HAEMATOLOGICA	ACT HAEMAT	AND GYNECOLOGY	
ACTA HEPATO-SPLENOLOGICA	ACT HEP-SPL	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF OPHTHALHOLOGY	AN J OPHTH
ACTA HISTOCHENICA	ACT HISTOCH	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF ORTHODONTICS	AM J ORTHOD
ACTA MEDICA ACADEMIAE SCIENTIARUM	ACT MED H	AMERICAN JOURNAL OF PATHOLOGY	AN J PATH
HUNGARICAE		PHARMACEUTICAL EDUCATION	AR U PHA ED

Notes: This figure shows the first page of the "Source Journal List" of the 1961 SCI (Garfield, 1963b). This is a complete list of all 613 citing journals, from which citations were indexed for the 1961 SCI. We construct visible citations based on this list and the analogous lists from the 1964 to 1969 SCIs (see Section 2.2.2).

Figure 2.A.3: Internal Correspondence at Ohio State University

THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

Chemistry Library COLUMBUS 10, OHIO

LEWIS C. BRANSCOMB Director of Libraries

September 21, 1965

Professor Hyman W. Kritzer Assistant Director, Public Services Main Library, 1858 Neil Avenue Campus

Dear Professor Kritzer:

I would like to place a subscription for the <u>Science</u> <u>Citation Index</u> for Chemistry Library. In view of the scarcity of funds for periodical subscriptions, I am sending the order to you for your approval and assistance.

A poll of some of the faculty in the Chemistry Department revealed that, without exception, all the younger men would like to have SCI available for use in Chemistry Library. The senior faculty are not as emphatic but would like to have it available also.

Since SCI definitely complements the <u>Chemical Abstracts</u> approach to the literature and since placing it in <u>Chemistry</u> Library would mean fairly close access for other science departments in the area, I think special consideration should be given to our request for a subscription.

Sincerely,

Virginia E. Magello Virginia E. Magello Chemistry Librarian

VEY:kk

Enclosures: Correspondence to Chemistry faculty with comments attached.

Notes: In this letter, the chemistry librarian at Ohio State University requested a second copy of the SCI to be placed in the library of the chemistry department, in addition to the existing copy at the medical library. It shows that as early as 1965 there was large demand by chemists at Ohio State University to use the SCI. We thank archivists at Ohio State University Library for sharing this document.

2.B Further Details on Data

2.B.1 Data on Scientists

2.B.1.1 Linking Faculty Rosters with Publication and Citation Data

As described in the main text, we link scientists with their publications and citations using the linking algorithm developed in Iaria et al. (2022). The links are based on the academic's surname, first name or initials (depending on whether first names are available), country, city, and subject. The matching is based on the primary subject of each academic (e.g., physics) to reduce the number of false positives. To harmonize affiliations across the faculty rosters and the *Web of Science*, we rely on *Google Maps API*.

2.B.1.2 Coding Minority Status

In Section 2.4, we report results on the heterogeneous effect of citation metrics. In particular, in Section 2.4.3, we report differential results for women and for people with Asian, Hispanic, and Jewish names.

We use information in the faculty rosters to tag scientists as members of one of these groups. Gender coding relies on information on gender that can be directly observed in the faculty rosters (e.g., Miss in front of the first name) and the first names of scientists (see Iaria et al. (2022)).

We code Jewish names based on the approach in Benetti et al. (2023). Using their classification of Jewish names results in an overly conservative classification of Jewish scientists. We therefore lower the cut-off for classifying names as distinctively Jewish to 5 (instead of 10). However, results remain similar when using the cut-off used in Benetti et al. (2023).

The coding of Hispanic names is based on data from the U.S. Census. We draw a list of Hispanic names from Name Census (2023b). From this list, we select all surnames with a conditional probability of self-identifying as Hispanic of more than 25%. We then tag all academics who have one of these names as Hispanic.

Similarly, we use data from the U.S. Census to code Asian names. We draw a list of the most common Asian names from Name Census (2023a). From this list, we select all

surnames with a conditional probability of self-identifying as Asian or Pacific Islander of more than 50%.³⁴ We then tag all academics who have one of these names as Asian.

2.B.1.3 Data on NSF Grants

For the analysis in Section 2.5.2, we match scientists in our faculty rosters with historical records on grants by the National Science Foundation (NSF). We retrieve all NSF grants between 1964 (the first year after the SCI was introduced) and 1972 (the year before additional volumes of the SCI were published for the years 1962 and 1963, making many previously invisible citations visible to the scientific community) from the National Science Foundation (2023). To reduce false positives, we assign each grant a subject based on its title, using a multinomial logit classifier that was pre-trained on the *Web of Science* (see Iaria et al. (2022)). We then match principal investigators from the grants to the scientists in our data based on first names and last names and subject.

2.B.2 Department Rankings

The following six tables list the top 20 departments according to our self-constructed rankings (by average citations and by average publications in a department) and according to survey-based rankings from the 1960s and 1970s. Across all rankings similar departments are ranked among the top 20 departments.

³⁴The different cutoffs for Asian and Hispanic names reflect different assimilation patterns of the various immigrant groups. Results are similar if we impose the same cutoffs for both groups.

Rank	Citations Ranking	Publications Ranking	Cartter Ranking	Roose-Andersen Ranking
1	Stanford	Washington	Harvard	Harvard
2	Rockefeller	Harvard	U.C. Berkeley	Stanford ²
3	Johns Hopkins	Stanford	Stanford	U.C. Berkeley ²
4	Washington	U.C. Berkeley	Rockefeller	Rockefeller
5	Harvard	Dartmouth	Wisconsin	Wisconsin
6	Kentucky	Wisconsin	M.I.T.	Cal. Tech.
7	U.C. Berkeley	Michigan	Cal. Tech.	M.I.T.
8	Dartmouth	Kentucky	Johns Hopkins	Brandeis ⁸
9	Wisconsin	Johns Hopkins	Brandeis	Cornell ⁸
10	Michigan	Virginia Polytechnic Institute	Illinois	Johns Hopkins ⁸
11	U.C. Davis	U.C. Davis	Columbia	Duke ¹¹
12	Brandeis	Kansas ¹²	Case Western Reserve	U.C.L.A. ¹¹
13	Case Western Reserve	Saint Louis ¹²	N.Y.U.	U.C. San Diego ¹³
14	Utah	Rockefeller	Washington	Washington ¹³
15	Duke	Duke	Duke	Yeshiva University ¹³
16	U.C.L.A.	U.C.L.A.	Michigan	Chicago ¹⁶
17	Columbia	Columbia	Pennsylvania ¹⁷	Illinois ¹⁶
18	Pennsylvania	Case Western Reserve	Yeshiva University ¹⁷	Princeton ¹⁶
19	Chicago	Rice	Chicago	Case Western Reserve ¹⁹
20	Rochester	Brandeis	U.C.L.A.	N.Y.U. ¹⁹

Table 2.B.1: Top 20 Departments: Biochemistry

Notes: This table lists the top 20 biochemistry departments based on four different department rankings. The first column reports our selfconstructed ranking based on the average number of citations (between 1956 and 1969, to publications between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The third column reports the ranking from Cartter (1966). The fourth column reports the ranking from Roose and Andersen (1970). Where departments are ranked equally (in any of the four rankings), a superscript indicates their rank. In the analysis, they are given the same rank.

Rank	Citations Ranking	Publications Ranking	Cartter Ranking	Roose-Andersen Ranking
1	Rockefeller	Albion College	U.C. Berkeley	Harvard
2	Albion College	Millikin	Harvard	U.C. Berkeley
3	Harvard	Texas	Cal. Tech.	M.I.T.
4	Princeton	Georgetown College	Johns Hopkins	Cal. Tech.
5	U.C. San Diego	Rockefeller ⁵	Rockefeller	Rockefeller
6	Stanford	U.C. San Diego ⁵	Wisconsin	Wisconsin
7	Cal. Tech.	U.C. Riverside	Illinois	Stanford
8	Texas	Wisconsin	Michigan	Washington
9	U.C. Berkeley	U.C. Berkeley	Stanford	U.C. San Diego ⁹
10	Syracuse	Stanford	Minnesota	Yale ⁹
11	Brandeis	U.C. Davis	Indiana ¹¹	Chicago
12	Yale	Brandeis	Princeton ¹¹	Illinois
13	Chicago	Princeton	Cornell	Cornell
14	M.I.T.	Notre Dame	Yale	U.C. Davis
15	U.C. Santa Barbara	Whitman College	Purdue ¹⁵	Michigan
16	Notre Dame	Mount Holyoke College	U.C.L.A. ¹⁵	Duke
17	Johns Hopkins	Alma College	Case Western Reserve	U.C.L.A.
18	Whitman College	U.C. Santa Barbara	Washington	Johns Hopkins
19	Washington	Central College Pella ¹⁹	Chicago	Brandeis
20	U.C. Davis	Harvard ¹⁹	Pennsylvania	Indiana

Table 2.B.2: Top 20 Departments: Biology

Notes: This table lists the top 20 biology departments based on four different department rankings. The first column reports our selfconstructed ranking based on the average number of citations (between 1956 and 1969, to publications between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The third column reports the ranking from Cartter (1966). While the Cartter ranking does not report rankings for biology overall, it does report rankings for five subfields of biology (Bacteriology/Microbiology, Botany, Entomology, Physiology, and Zoology). Based on these rankings, we construct an overall score for biology by taking the average rank of a department in the five reported subfields of biology. The fourth column reports the ranking from Roose and Andersen (1970). While the Roose-Andersen ranking does not report results for biology overall, it does report rankings for eight subfields of biology (Botany, Developmental Biology, Entomology, Microbiology, Molecular Biology, Physiology, Population Biology, and Zoology). Based on these rankings, we construct an overall score for biology by taking the average rank of a department in the eight reported subfields of biology. Where departments are ranked equally (in any of the four rankings), a superscript indicates their rank. In the analysis, they are given the same rank.

Rank	Citations Ranking	Publications Ranking	Cartter Ranking	Roose-Andersen Ranking
1	U.C. Irvine	U.C. Santa Barbara	Harvard	Harvard
2	Stanford	Thiel College	Cal. Tech.	Cal. Tech.
3	Harvard	Stanford	U.C. Berkeley	Stanford ³
4	U.C. Santa Barbara	U.C. Riverside	M.I.T.	U.C. Berkeley ³
5	U.C.L.A.	U.C. Irvine	Stanford	M.I.T.
6	U.C. Riverside	Southern California	Illinois	Illinois
7	Cal. Tech.	College of Forestry at Syracuse	Columbia ⁷	U.C.L.A.
8	Northwestern	Iowa State	Wisconsin ⁷	Chicago ⁸
9	Southern California	Utah	U.C.L.A.	Columbia ⁸
10	College of Forestry at Syracuse	U.C. Davis	Chicago	Cornell ⁸
11	Thiel College	Northwestern	Cornell	Wisconsin ⁸
12	U.C. Berkeley	Texas	Yale	Yale
13	Iowa State	U.C.L.A.	Princeton	Princeton
14	Rice	Case Western Reserve	Northwestern	Northwestern
15	Illinois	Pennsylvania	Minnesota	Iowa State ¹⁵
16	Utah	Illinois	Iowa State	Purdue ¹⁵
17	Notre Dame	Johns Hopkins	Ohio State ¹⁷	Ohio State ¹⁷
18	U.C. Santa Cruz	Iowa State	Purdue ¹⁷	Texas ¹⁷
19	Columbia	Michigan	Michigan	U.C. San Diego ¹⁷
20	Texas	Harvard	Indiana	Indiana

Table 2.B.3: Top 20 Departments: Chemistry

Notes: This table lists the top 20 chemistry departments based on four different department rankings. The first column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of citations (between 1956 and 1969, to publications between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The third column reports the ranking from Cartter (1966). The fourth column reports the ranking from Rose and Andersen (1970). Where departments are ranked equally (in any of the four rankings), a superscript indicates their rank. In the analysis, they are given the same rank.

Table 2.B.4: Top 20 Departments: Mathematics

Rank	Citations Ranking	Publications Ranking	Cartter Ranking	Roose-Andersen Ranking
1	Princeton	U.C. Santa Barbara	Harvard	Harvard ¹
2	Chicago	U.C. Riverside	U.C. Berkeley	U.C. Berkeley ¹
3	Stanford	Harvard	Princeton	Princeton
4	Institute for Advanced Study	Princeton	Chicago	Chicago
5	Harvard	Carnegie-Mellon	M.I.T.	M.I.T.
6	Columbia	Washington	Stanford	Stanford
7	Johns Hopkins	Chicago	Yale	Yale
8	Brandeis	Johns Hopkins	N.Y.U.	N.Y.U.
9	U.C. Berkeley	Rockefeller	Columbia	Wisconsin
10	Virginia Polytechnic Institute	Stanford	Wisconsin	Columbia ¹⁰
11	Rockefeller	Washington Saint Louis	Michigan	Michigan ¹⁰
12	U.C. San Diego	Columbia	Illinois	Cornell ¹²
13	Washington	Virginia	Cornell	Illinois ¹²
14	Carnegie-Mellon	U.C. San Diego	Cal. Tech.	U.C.L.A.
15	Wisconsin	Wisconsin	Minnesota	Brandeis ¹⁵
16	Yale	Brandeis	U.C.L.A.	Brown ¹⁵
17	Washington Saint Louis	Yale	Washington	Cal. Tech. ¹⁵
18	Case Institute of Technology	Institute for Advanced Study	Brown	Minnesota ¹⁸
19	Brown	Minnesota	Brandeis	Pennsylvania ¹⁸
20	Cornell	Michigan	Johns Hopkins	Washington ¹⁸

Notes: This table lists the top 20 mathematics departments based on four different department rankings. The first column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of citations (between 1956 and 1969, to publications between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The third column reports the ranking from Cartter (1966). The fourth column reports the ranking from Roose and Andersen (1970). Where departments are ranked equally (in any of the four rankings), a superscript indicates their rank. In the analysis, they are given the same rank.

Rank	Citations Ranking	Publications Ranking	Cole-Lipton Ranking
1	Rockefeller	New Mexico	Harvard
2	Harvard	Minnesota Rochester	Johns Hopkins ²
3	Utah	Rutgers	Stanford ²
4	U.C. San Diego	U.C. San Diego	U.C. San Francisco
5	Minnesota Rochester	Harvard	Yale
6	Rutgers	Amherst College	Columbia
7	Washington	Loretto Heights College	Duke
8	M.I.T.	Medical College of Virginia	Michigan
9	Texas	M.I.T.	Cornell
10	U.C. San Francisco	Washington	Washington Saint Luis
11	Johns Hopkins	U.C.L.A.	Pennsylvania
12	Minnesota	Johns Hopkins	Minnesota
13	U.C.L.A.	Utah	U.C.L.A.
14	Florida	Minnesota	Albert Einstein College
15	New Mexico	Florida ¹⁵	Chicago Pritzker ¹⁵
16	Kansas	Rockefeller ¹⁵	Washington ¹⁵
17	Medical College of Virginia	U.C. San Francisco	Case Western Reserve
18	Washington Saint Louis	Southern California	Rochester
19	Stanford	Mississippi	Colorado
20	Columbia	Wagner College	U.C. San Diego

Table 2.B.5: Top 20 Departments: Medicine

Notes: This table lists the top 20 biochemistry departments based on four different department rankings. The first column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of citations (between 1956 and 1969, to publications between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The third column reports the ranking from Cole and Lipton (1977). Since Cartter (1966) and Roose and Andersen (1970) do not report rankings for medical schools, we use the ranking by Cole and Lipton (1977) for medicine. Where departments are ranked equally (in any of the three rankings), a superscript indicates their rank. In the analysis, they are given the same rank.

Table 2.B.6: Top 20 Departments: Physics

Rank	Citations Ranking	Publications Ranking	Cartter Ranking	Roose-Andersen Ranking
1	U.C. San Diego	U.C. Riverside	U.C. Berkeley	Cal. Tech. ¹
2	U.C. Riverside	U.C. San Diego	Cal. Tech.	Harvard ¹
3	U.C. Berkeley	Lycoming College	Harvard	U.C. Berkeley ¹
4	Chicago	U.C. Santa Barbara	Princeton	Princeton
5	Rockefeller	Kentucky Wesleyan College	Stanford	M.I.T. ⁵
6	Stanford	Goshen College	M.I.T.	Stanford ⁵
7	Princeton	Chicago	Columbia	Columbia ⁷
8	Columbia	Harvard	Illinois	Illinois ⁷
9	U.C. Santa Barbara	Rockefeller	Cornell	Chicago ⁹
10	Harvard	U.C. Irvine	Chicago	Cornell ⁹
11	Pennsylvania	Columbia	Yale	U.C. San Diego ¹¹
12	U.C. Irvine	Stanford	Wisconsin	Yale ¹¹
13	Brown	Princeton	Michigan ¹³	Wisconsin
14	Carnegie-Mellon	Pennsylvania	Rochester ¹³	Michigan ¹⁴
15	Cal. Tech.	Pittsburgh	Pennsylvania	Pennsylvania ¹⁴
16	Pittsburgh	Brown	Maryland	Maryland ¹⁶
17	State University of New York	U.C. Berkeley	Minnesota	Rockefeller ¹⁶
18	Washington	Iowa State	Washington	Rochester
19	Illinois	Washington	Johns Hopkins ¹⁹	U.C.L.A.
20	Johns Hopkins	Notre Dame	U.C.L.A. ¹⁹	Minnesota

Notes: This table lists the top 20 physics departments based on four different department rankings. The first column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of citations (between 1956 and 1969, to publications between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The second column reports our self-constructed ranking based on the average number of publications (between 1956 and 1969) of all scientists employed at 1969) of all scientists employed at the department in 1969. The third column reports the ranking from Cartter (1966). The fourth column reports the ranking from Roose and Andersen (1970). Where departments are ranked equally (in any of the four rankings), a superscript indicates their rank. In the analysis, they are given the same rank.

2.C Additional Findings: Assortative Matching

2.C.1 Graphical Representation of Specification 1

Figure 2.C.1: Illustration of Results, Specification 1



Individual Citation Rank

Notes: The figure illustrates the results from Equation (2.1), see Table 2.3, Specification 1. Panel (a) shows a bin-scatter plot with the visible citation percentile rank on the horizontal axis and the department rank on the vertical axis, conditional on invisible citations and publication controls. Panel (b) shows a binned scatter plot with the invisible citation percentile rank on the horizontal axis and the department rank on the vertical axis, conditional on visible citations and publication controls. Panel (b) shows a binned scatter plot with the invisible citation percentile rank on the horizontal axis and the department rank on the vertical axis, conditional on visible citations and publication controls. The slopes are significantly different from each other; the p-value from a t-test of no difference is < 0.001.

2.C.2 Robustness Checks

In this section, we show that the main results are robust to various changes to the analysis. First, in Section 2.C.2.1, we show that results are similar for alternative measures of the department rank. Second, in Section 2.C.2.2, we show results are similar for alternative performance measures of individual scientists. Third, in Section 2.C.2.3, we show that the results are robust to different ways of assigning percentile ranks to scientists and departments. Last, in Section 2.C.2.4, we show that the results hold in different subsamples. To reduce the number of tables, we report all robustness checks using the specification equivalent to column (3) in Table 2.3, Specification 1. The results are similar across specifications using alternative control variables, corresponding to columns (1), (2), (4), and (5) in Table 2.3.

2.C.2.1 Alternative Department Rankings

First, we consider alternative department rankings. The main results (Table 2.3) are estimated with department ranks based on the leave-out mean of citations as the dependent variable. The results are robust to using rankings based on the mean of citations, i.e., including citations of the focal scientist (Table 2.C.1, Panel A, column (2)). Instead of using department rankings based on citations, we can use scientists' publication counts to construct department rankings. This leaves the results almost unchanged (Table 2.C.1, Panel A, columns (3) and (4)).

Our results also hold if we construct department rankings based on the scientific output of departments in the 1956 cross-section (Table 2.C.1, Panel B). While 1956 rankings have the advantage that they are determined before the introduction of the SCI, they are not available for universities that only enter the data after 1956. Moreover, the 1956 rankings may suffer from higher measurement error, because we measure department composition before hiring and moving decisions were actually made. Ranking departments on the basis of 1956 rankings results in a 25 percent smaller sample. Nevertheless, the results remain qualitatively unchanged.

Our results are also robust to using external department rankings, which do not rely on citation or publication data. We draw on subject-specific reputational rankings from Roose and Andersen (1970) and Cartter (1966) to construct analogous department percentile ranks. To avoid unnecessary sample selection for this robustness check, departments that are not listed in these rankings are assigned the percentile rank

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank							
Department Ranking Based on:	(1) Leave-Out Mean of Citations	(2) Mean of Citations	(3) Leave-Out Mean of Publications	(4) Mean of Publications				
Panel A: Department Rankings From 1969								
Visible Citations	$0.280 \\ (0.035)$	$0.320 \\ (0.030)$	$0.286 \\ (0.034)$	$0.318 \\ (0.028)$				
Invisible Citations	$0.062 \\ (0.021)$	$0.078 \\ (0.020)$	$0.047 \\ (0.020)$	$0.053 \\ (0.019)$				
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$27,315 \\ 0.153 \\ 50.40$	$27,315 \\ 0.207 \\ 50.20$	$27,315 \\ 0.150 \\ 50.37$	$27,315 \\ 0.210 \\ 50.16$				
Panel B: Department Rankings From 1956								
Visible Citations	$0.169 \\ (0.038)$	$0.178 \\ (0.039)$	$0.158 \\ (0.037)$	$0.175 \\ (0.039)$				
Invisible Citations	0.027 (0.026)	$0.028 \\ (0.027)$	$0.006 \\ (0.026)$	$0.009 \\ (0.027)$				
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001				
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$21,269 \\ 0.066 \\ 50.29$	$21,269 \\ 0.066 \\ 55.59$	$21,269 \\ 0.061 \\ 50.26$	$21,269 \\ 0.063 \\ 56.27$				
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year × Subject	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes				

 Table 2.C.1: Robustness Check: Alternative Measures of Department Quality

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1) with alternative department rankings as dependent variables. In Panel A, department rankings are based on the 1969 cross-section of scientists; in Panel B, they are based on the 1956 cross-section. For departments that did not exist in 1956, the 1956 ranking cannot be computed. This results in a smaller sample size in Panel B. In column (1), the dependent variable is the department rank, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i* (as in Table 2.3). In column (2), the department rank is based on the near of publications in the department. In column (3), the department rank is based on the near of publications in the department. In column (4), the department rank is based on the mean of publications in the department. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations*. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

between 1 and the lowest-ranked department.³⁵ As these rankings do not cover medical schools, we supplement these rankings with the first comprehensive ranking of medical schools by Cole and Lipton (1977). We report the results of these tests in Table 2.C.2, column (4). The estimates show that our results are similar if we use independently compiled reputation-based rankings.

Instead of percentile ranks, we can also use the reputational rankings from Cartter (1966) and Roose and Andersen (1970) to construct indicators for being in a topranked department. According to both rankings, we assign each scientist an indicator for whether they worked in a top-five, top-ten, or top-twenty department. In line with our main results, a scientist with a higher visible citation rank was more likely to work in a top department in 1969. For example, a ten-percentile increase in visible citations increased the probability of being affiliated with a top-twenty department by 2.94 percentage points (i.e., a 13.5 percent increase). In contrast, invisible citations had a much smaller effect on the assortativeness of the match to a top department (Table 2.C.2, columns (1)-(3)).

³⁵This is necessary because these external rankings cover fewer departments than our data. Furthermore, Roose and Andersen (1970) and Cartter (1966) do not contain rankings for biology as a whole but for specific subfields of biology (Botany, Developmental Biology, Entomology, Microbiology, Molecular Biology, Physiology, Population Biology, and Zoology in the Roose-Andersen ranking; Botany, Entomology, Microbiology, Physiology, and Zoology in the Cartter ranking). For both the Roose-Andersen ranking and the Cartter ranking, we construct an overall ranking for biology by calculating the average rank of a department in the subfields of biology.

	Dependen	Dep. Rank		
	(1) Top 5	(2) Top 10	(3) Top 20	(4)
Panel A: Cartter Ranking				
Visible Citations	0.00077 (0.00037)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00156 \\ (0.00039) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00294 \\ (0.00044) \end{array}$	0.224 (0.031)
Invisible Citations	0.00023 (0.00018)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00059 \\ (0.00025) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00083 \\ (0.00032) \end{array}$	$0.046 \\ (0.022)$
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.282	0.066	0.001	< 0.001
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$27,315 \\ 0.050 \\ 0.04$	$27,315 \\ 0.061 \\ 0.12$	$27,315 \\ 0.097 \\ 0.22$	$27,315 \\ 0.104 \\ 50.15$
Panel B: Roose-Andersen Ranking				
Visible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00084 \\ (0.00037) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00166 \\ (0.00040) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00282 \\ (0.00043) \end{array}$	0.249 (0.032)
	0.0002	0 0000	0 00000	

Table 2.C.2: Robustness Check: External Department Ranking

Visible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00084 \\ (0.00037) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00166 \\ (0.00040) \end{array}$	0.00282 (0.00043)	$0.249 \\ (0.032)$
Invisible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00025 \\ (0.00019) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00067 \\ (0.00025) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00096 \\ (0.00032) \end{array}$	$0.039 \\ (0.022)$
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.234	0.061	0.004	< 0.001
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$27,315 \\ 0.053 \\ 0.05$	$27,315 \\ 0.065 \\ 0.12$	$27,315 \\ 0.099 \\ 0.22$	$27,315 \\ 0.116 \\ 50.15$
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year × Subject	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1), where the dependent variable is based on the reputation-based department rankings by Cartter (1966) and Roose and Andersen (1970). Since these rankings do not cover medical schools, for medicine we supplement them with the ranking of medical schools by Cole and Lipton (1977). In columns (1)-(3), the dependent variable is an indicator for whether scientist *i* was employed at a top-5, top-10, or top-20 department. In column (4), the dependent variable is the rank of scientist *i*'s department. To avoid unnecessary sample selection, we assign departments that are not listed in these rankings to the average rank between 1 and the lowest-ranked department. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.C.2.2 Alternative Transformations of Individual Citation Counts

We also show that results are robust to using alternative ways of measuring the performance of individual scientists.

For the main results, we count citations independently of the number of co-authors on the cited papers. In Table 2.C.3, column (2), we report results of Specification 1, where citations to each paper are divided by the number of authors of the paper. The results are very similar.

Another concern could be that the results are driven by differences in the distributions of visible and invisible citations. Larger measurement error for invisible citations could potentially explain the smaller and insignificant coefficient for invisible citations. We address this concern with a robustness check in which we only use citations from 1956 to 1965 to construct visible and invisible citation ranks. This leads to similar distributions of visible and invisible citations.³⁶ For these alternative variables, measurement error concerns would, if anything, disproportionately downward bias the coefficient on visible citations. Using these alternative individual citation ranks leaves our results qualitatively unchanged (Table 2.C.3, column (3)).

A further concern is that one "superstar" paper may place a scientist at the top of the citation distribution. However, having many moderately cited papers might be a better signal of quality than having very few highly cited papers. To account for both the number of cited papers and for the citations they receive, we use the h-index (e.g., Hirsch, 2005; Ellison, 2013) as an alternative performance metric. A scientist has an h-index of h if h of their papers have at least h citations each. We calculate the h-index of visible and invisible citations for each scientist. We then transform the h-index into the percentile rank for two reasons: first, this makes the coefficient directly comparable to the main results. Second, different scientific subjects have different publication and citation patterns. An h-index of three (i.e., having at least three publications with at least three citations) therefore indicates very different quality percentiles in each subject. For example, in medicine, a subject where scientists publish many papers and receive many citations, an h-index of three indicates poorer performance than in mathematics, a subject where scientists publish relatively few papers and receive a lot fewer citations. When we use percentiles of the visible and invisible h-indices as the explanatory variable, we confirm our main results (Table 2.C.3, column (4)).

 $^{^{36}}$ For citations measured in 1956-1965 the summary statistics are as follows. Visible citations: mean 14.3, standard deviation 41.4; invisible citations: mean 17.3, standard deviation 52.1.
We also show that the results are similar if we standardize visible and invisible citations at the subject level (Table 2.C.3, column (5)). As standardized citations contain large outliers, we show that the results are also robust to winsorizing citation counts at the 99th percentile and then standardizing citation counts (Table 2.C.3, column (6)). Further, the results are also similar if we use the inverse hyperbolic sine transformation of citations (Table 2.C.3, column (7)).

		Dependent Variable: Department Rank							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)		
Variable Transformation:	Main Specification	Weighted Citations	1956-65 Citations	H-Index	Standard- ized	Winsorized & Std.	Inverse Hyperbolic Sine		
Visible Citations	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.280 \\ (0.035) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 0.288\\ (0.034) \end{array}$	$0.208 \\ (0.029)$	$0.278 \\ (0.033)$	2.484 (0.693)	4.631 (0.543)	3.294 (0.567)		
Invisible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.062\\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.062\\ (0.022) \end{array}$	$0.117 \\ (0.025)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.074 \\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.367 \\ (0.545) \end{array}$	1.461 (0.416)	$1.268 \\ (0.309)$		
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year \times Subject	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes		
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.007	< 0.001	0.063	< 0.001	0.002		
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	27,315 0.153 50.40	27,315 0.157 50.40	27,315 0.143 50.40	27,315 0.150 50.40	27,315 0.105 50.40	27,315 0.116 50.40	27,315 0.149 50.40		

 Table 2.C.3: Robustness Check: Alternative Transformations of Citation

 Counts

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1) for alternative transformations of visible and invisible citations. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. In column (1), the explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of unvisible citations. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. In column (2), citation counts are divided by the number of authors of a paper and then transformed as in column (1). In column (3), citation counts are based only on citations from 1956-1965 (instead of 1956-1969), and then transformed as in column (1). In column (4), the explanatory variables are scientist *i*'s h-index values based on visible and invisible citations, which are then transformed into the percentile rank. In column (5), we standardize citations by subject. In column (6), we standardize citations by subject, but to reduce the weight of outliers, we winsorize citation counts at the 99th percentile before standardizing them. In column (7), we transform citations using the inverse hyperbolic sine. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.C.2.3 Scientists and Departments with Zero Citations

When more than one percent of scientists have zero citations, a unique percentile rank cannot be assigned to these scientists. For example, in physics, 30.37% of observations have zero citations. For these scientists, there is no unique percentile in the distribution of citations. In our main analysis, we assign the mid-point between the 1st and the 31st percentile, i.e., a percentile rank of 15.5, to each of these observations. Alternatively, we can assign all of these observations to the 1st percentile (Min.-Point in Table 2.C.4) or to the 31st percentile (Max.-Point). Reassuringly, the exact construction of percentile ranks of scientists with zero citations has no qualitative impact on the findings (Table 2.C.4, columns (2) and (3)). A similar issue can occur for scientists with very low citation counts, e.g., one citation. We treat them accordingly.

Another way of assigning the percentile rank to scientists with zero citations is to spread the specific percentile rank randomly within the group of scientists with zero citations. In the above example of physicists with zero citations, this means that each of these scientists' percentile rank is independently drawn from a uniform distribution from 1 to 31. The results using this alternative transformation are similar to the main results column (4).

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
Variable Transformation:	Mid-Point (Main Spec.)	MinPoint	MaxPoint	Random For 0 Cit.			
Visible Citations	0.280	0.211	0.361	0.238			
	(0.035)	(0.022)	(0.059)	(0.028)			
Invisible Citations	0.062	0.048	0.107	0.069			
	(0.021)	(0.014)	(0.036)	(0.015)			
Subject Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes			
Publications by Year \times Subject	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes			
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001			
Observations	27,315	27,315	27,315	27,315			
R^2	0.153	0.155	0.148	0.148			
Dependent Variable Mean	50.40	50.03	50.76	50.40			

Table 2.C.4: Robustness Check: Alternative Percentile Rank Definititions

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1) for alternative constructions of the percentile rank transformation. In all columns, the dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. The explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. The columns differ in how percentile ranks are assigned to brackets that consist of multiple percentiles. In column (1), departments and individuals without citations are assigned a percentile according to the midpoint between 1 and the lowest percentile with positive citations. In column (2), departments and individuals without citations are assigned to the first percentile. In column (3), departments and individuals without citations are assigned to the lowest percentile rank within the bracket of zero citations. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.C.2.4 Alternative Sample Restrictions

We also show that the results are robust to restricting the sample in various ways. In particular, the findings are robust to excluding scientists with zero citations (Table 2.C.5, column (2)). This test shows that our findings are not driven by scientists without citations. We also show that the results are robust to excluding scientists in small departments because department ranks may be less precisely calculated in small departments. For this test, we restrict the sample to all scientists in departments with more than 10 scientists (Table 2.C.5, column (3)).

Dep. Var.: Department Rank				
(1) Full Sample	$\begin{array}{c} (2)\\ \text{Num. of}\\ \text{Cit.} > 0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} (3)\\ \text{Size of}\\ \text{Dept.} > 10 \end{array}$		
0.280 (0.035)	0.314 (0.039)	$0.212 \\ (0.035)$		
$0.062 \\ (0.021)$	$0.085 \\ (0.020)$	$0.060 \\ (0.021)$		
Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes		
< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001		
$27,315 \\ 0.153 \\ 50.40$	$17,066 \\ 0.136 \\ 56,56$	22,753 0.135 54.97		
	$\begin{array}{c} Dep. \ V\\ \hline (1)\\ Full\\ Sample\\ \hline 0.280\\ (0.035)\\ 0.062\\ (0.021)\\ \hline Ves\\ Yes\\ \hline < 0.001\\ \hline 27,315\\ 0.153\\ 50.40\\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		

 Table 2.C.5: Robustness Check: Alternative Sample Restrictions

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1) for alternative subsamples. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations*. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. In column (1), we use the full sample, i.e., it is equivalent to column (3) in of Table 2.3, Specification 1. Column (2) reports results for the subsample of scientists who have more than zero citations. Column (3) reports results for the subsample of scientists who are employed at departments with at least ten scientists. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.C.3 Ruling out Alternative Explanations

In this section, we show that neither differences in the quality of citing journals nor differential timing of citations biases our findings (Tables 2.C.6 and 2.C.7). Figure 2.C.2 illustrates the variation used in these tests.

Figure 2.C.2: Illustration of Variation Used in Additional Tests

1968 1969

(a) Specification 1

(b) Alternative Explanation 1

Citations in Journal B Citations in Journal C

Citations in Journal A

1

1

2

	Citations in Journal A	Citations in Journal B	Citations in Journal C
1956			
1957		1	
1958			
1959	1		1
1960			
1961	1	1	
1962			1
1963	1		
1964			
1965		1	
1966		3	
1967	2		
1968			
1969			1

(c) Alternative Explanation 2

	Citations in Journal A	Citations in Journal B	Citations in Journal C
1956			
1957		1	
1958			
1959	1		1
1960			
1961	1	1	
1962			1
1963	1		
1964			
1965		1	
1966		3	
1967	2		
1968			
1969			1

(d) Specification 2



Notes: The four panels illustrate the sets of citations used for testing the alternative explanations in Section 2.C.3 and for Specification 2 in Section 2.3.3. As in Table 2.2, these tables illustrate citations for a hypothetical scientist. Panel (a) illustrates the variation used in Specification 1, see Table 2.3). Numbers in dark blue cells indicate citations that were visible in the SCI because the citation occurred in a journal and year (1961, or 1964-69) that was indexed by the SCI. Numbers in light blue cells indicate citations that were invisible, but are observable today. Panel (b) illustrates the variation used in testing Alternative Explanation 1, i.e., where citations are counted from a consistent set of journals (see Table 2.C.6). We disregard citations in journals that were not indexed by the first SCI in 1961 (here: journals B and C), and focus only on citations in journals that were indexed by the 1961 SCI (here: journal A). Numbers in dark blue cells indicate citations that were visible in the SCI, i.e., citations from 1961, or 1964-69. Numbers in light blue cells indicate citations that were invisible because they came from years not covered by the SCI. Panel (c) illustrates the variation used in testing Alternative Explanation 2, i.e., where citation are counted in years in which the SCI was published (see Table 2.C.7). We disregard citations from years in which the SCI was not published, and focus only on citations in years that were covered by the SCI, i.e., citations from 1961, or 1964-69. Numbers in dark blue cells indicate citations that were visible in the SCI, because they came from journals indexed by the SCI. Numbers in light blue cells indicate citations that were invisible because they came from journals not indexed by the SCI. Panel (d) illustrates the variation used in Specification 2, equivalent to Table 2.4 in the main paper.

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
Visible Citations	0.289 (0.034)	0.299 (0.030)	0.260 (0.033)	$0.232 \\ (0.034)$	0.223 (0.035)	
Invisible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.109 \\ (0.022) \end{array}$	$0.075 \\ (0.020)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.067 \\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$0.065 \\ (0.023)$	$0.065 \\ (0.023)$	
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Publications by Year × Subject Publications by Journal			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	
Publications by Journal \times Subject					Yes	
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Observations R^2	27,315 0.129	27,315 0.131	27,315 0.147	27,315 0.225	$27,315 \\ 0.252$	
Dependent Variable Mean	50.40	50.40	50.40	50.40	50.40	

 Table 2.C.6: Alternative Explanation 1: Citations From Consistent Set of Journals

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1), where individual citation counts are based only on the restricted set of citing journals that were indexed in the 1961 edition of the SCI. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations in the restricted set of citing journals. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations in the restricted set of citing journals. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. *Publications by Journal* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., *Nature*). Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
Visible Citations	$0.342 \\ (0.039)$	$0.347 \\ (0.035)$	$0.302 \\ (0.040)$	0.277 (0.041)	0.267 (0.042)	
Invisible Citations	$0.066 \\ (0.017)$	$0.047 \\ (0.014)$	$0.046 \\ (0.014)$	$0.034 \\ (0.015)$	$0.035 \\ (0.015)$	
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Publications by Year × Subject Publications by Journal			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	
Publications by Journal \times Subject					Yes	
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Observations R^2	27,315 0.137	27,315 0.140	27,315 0.153	27,315 0.229	27,315 0.255	
Dependent Variable Mean	50.40	50.40	50.40	50.40	50.40	

 Table 2.C.7: Alternative Explanation 2: Citations Only From Years With

 SCI

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1), where individual citation counts are based only the restricted set of citations from years when the SCI was available, i.e., 1961 and 1964-1969. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations in the restricted citation years. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations* in the restricted citation years. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. *Publications by Journal* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., *Nature*). Standard errors are clustered at the department level. While the test for Alternative Explanation 2 in Table 2.C.7 considers only citations in years in which the SCI was published, one might still be concerned that even in this subset of citations, visible citations, on average, come from later years. If later citations are more important for career outcomes in 1969, this might still bias the results.

We address this concern by repeating the robustness test for smaller time windows within the years covered by the SCI. In Table 2.C.8, we present the results for five different regressions in which we only count visible and invisible citations within five three-year windows (1961 and 1964-1965, 1964-1966, 1965-1968, 1966-1968, and 1967-1969). This enables us to abstract from the timing of citations and consider almost exclusively across-journal variation in visibility. We show that the difference between visible and invisible citations remains unchanged. Furthermore, the actual time window of measuring visible and invisible citations only has a small impact on the estimates. This corroborates the finding in Table 2.C.7, that the timing of visible and invisible citations does not drive our results.

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	
Citation Years:	1961, 1964-65	1964-66	1965-67	1966-68	1967-69	
Visible Citations	0.278	0.293	0.302	0.305	0.302	
	(0.038)	(0.039)	(0.039)	(0.039)	(0.039)	
Invisible Citations	0.050	0.040	0.054	0.072	0.085	
	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.016)	
Subject Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Publications by Year \times Subject	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	
Observations	27,315	$27,\!315$	27,315	27,315	27,315	
R^2	0.141	0.145	0.147	0.149	0.150	
Dependent Variable Mean	50.40	50.40	50.40	50.40	50.40	

 Table 2.C.8: Alternative Explanation 2: Restricted Time Windows

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.1), where individual citation counts are based on restricted sets of citations from years when the SCI was available. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist *i*. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations in the restricted citation years. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations in the restricted citation years. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. In column (1), visible and invisible citation counts are based on the years 1961 and 1964-65; in column (2) 1964-66; in column (3) 1965-67; in column (4) 1966-68; and in column (5) 1967-69. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.C.4 Additional Findings

Table 2.C.9: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department by Geographic Distance

Dependent Variable: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department by Geographic Distance					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Panel A: New Department Far					
Visible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0007 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0006 \\ (0.0003) \end{array}$	$0.0006 \\ (0.0003)$	$0.0008 \\ (0.0003)$	$0.0006 \\ (0.0003)$
Invisible Citations	-0.0001 (0.0003)	$0.0000 \\ (0.0003)$	-0.0000 (0.0003)	-0.0004 (0.0003)	-0.0003 (0.0003)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.097	0.227	0.220	0.066	0.172
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$6,478 \\ 0.013 \\ 0.042$	$6,478 \\ 0.017 \\ 0.042$	$6,478 \\ 0.036 \\ 0.042$	$6,478 \\ 0.328 \\ 0.042$	$6,478 \\ 0.390 \\ 0.042$
Panel A: New Department Near					
Visible Citations	0.0000 (0.0000)	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$
Invisible Citations	$0.0000 \\ (0.0000)$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$	-0.0000 (0.0001)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.952	0.797	0.873	0.871	0.778
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$6,478 \\ 0.001 \\ 0.004$	$6,478 \\ 0.003 \\ 0.004$	$6,478 \\ 0.021 \\ 0.004$	$6,478 \\ 0.311 \\ 0.004$	$6,478 \\ 0.445 \\ 0.004$
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year \times Subject Publications by Journal			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes
Publications by Journal \times Subject					Yes

Notes: The table reports the estimates from variants of Equation (2.3) with different dependent variables: in Panel A, an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department that was far from scientist *i*'s department; in Panel B, an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department that was close to scientist *i*'s department. The cut-off between near and far departments is 100km. These regressions use the sample of scientists observed in 1956 and 1969. The explanatory variable *Visible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. *Invisible Citations* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations*. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. *Publications by Year* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. *Publications by Journal* separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. *Standard errors are clustered at the department level*.

(a) Cut-off: 100km (b) Cut-off: 200km 0.0010 0.0010 0.0005 0.0005 Prob.(Moving to Higher-Ranked Department) 0 0 -0.0005 -0.0005 Visible Invisible Visible Invisible Visible Invisible Visible Invisible Far Near Far Near (c) Cut-off: 500km (d) Cut-off: Median 0.0010 0.0010 0.0005 0.0005 0 0 -0.0005 -0.0005 Visible Invisible Visible Invisible Visible Invisible Visible Invisible Far Near Far Near

Figure 2.C.3: Moving to Higher-Ranked Departments by Geographic Distance - Alternative Cutoffs

Notes: The figure plots coefficients and 95 percent confidence intervals from variants of Equation (2.3). Each panel reports results from two regressions with alternative dependent variables: (i) an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department that was far from scientist *i*'s department; (ii) an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department that was close to scientist *i*'s department. In panel (a) the cut-off between near and far departments is 100km; in panel (b) 200km; in panel (c) 300km; and in panel (d) 837km, which is the median distance of moves.

Dependent Variable: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department by Citation Distance							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		
Panel A: Not Cited In New Department Before SCI							
Visible Citations	0.0007 (0.0002)	0.0007 (0.0003)	0.0006 (0.0003)	0.0008 (0.0003)	0.0007 (0.0003)		
Invisible Citations	-0.0004 (0.0002)	-0.0002 (0.0003)	-0.0002 (0.0002)	-0.0005 (0.0003)	-0.0005 (0.0003)		
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.027	0.082	0.110	0.030	0.058		
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$6,478 \\ 0.008 \\ 0.035$	$6,478 \\ 0.012 \\ 0.035$	$6,478 \\ 0.026 \\ 0.035$	$6,478 \\ 0.290 \\ 0.035$	$6,478 \\ 0.354 \\ 0.035$		
Panel B: Cited In New Department Before SCI							

Table 2.C.10: Moving to Higher-Ranked Department by Citation Distance

Visible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	-0.0000 (0.0001)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0000\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	-0.0000 (0.0001)	-0.0000 (0.0001)
Invisible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0004 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0003 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0002\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	0.019	0.051	0.209	0.357	0.194
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean		$6,478 \\ 0.030 \\ 0.011$	$6,478 \\ 0.060 \\ 0.011$		
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year \times Subject Publications by Journal			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes
Publications by Journal \times Subject					Yes

Notes: The table reports the estimates from variants of Equation (2.3) with different dependent variables: in Panel A, an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department where scientist *i*'s papers were not cited before 1963; in Panel B, an indicator for moving to a higher-ranked department where scientist *i*'s papers were cited before 1963. These regressions use the sample of scientists observed in 1956 and 1969. The explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible* citations. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Publications by Journal separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each journal (e.g., Nature). Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.D Additional Findings: Heterogeneity Analysis

2.D.1 Heterogeneous Effect in Non-Parametric Analysis

Figure 2.D.1: Heterogeneous Effects by Percentile Rank



Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q$ (dark blue) and $\hat{\theta}_q$ (light blue) and 95 percent confidence intervals from a variant of Equation (2.5). It differs from Figure 2.9 in that it splits up the 10th decile into smaller percentile bins.

Figure 2.D.2: Heterogeneous Effects for Peripheral Scientists



Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q^H$ (orange) and $\hat{\delta}_q^L$ (blue) and 95 percent confidence intervals from Equation (2.6) for alternative cutoffs of high and low-ranked departments. In panel (a) we define low-ranked departments as those below the 60th percentile of the department ranking in 1956. In panel (b) we define low-ranked departments as those below the 70th percentile of the department ranking in 1956. In panel (c) we define low-ranked departments as those below the 80th percentile of the department ranking in 1956. In panel (d) we define low-ranked departments as those below the 90th percentile of the department ranking in 1956.

Figure 2.D.3: Heterogenous Effects for Minority Scientists



Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q^M$ (blue) and $\hat{\delta}_q^m$ (orange) and 95 percent confidence intervals from Equation (2.7). Panel (a) plots separate sets of coefficients for women (orange) and men (blue). Panel (b) plots separate sets of coefficients for Hispanics (orange) and Non-Hispanics (blue). Panel (c) plots separate sets of coefficients for Asians (orange) and Non-Asians (blue). Panel (d) plots separate sets of coefficients for Jewish (orange) and Non-Jewish scientists (blue).

Figure 2.D.4: Heterogenous Effects for Minority and Majority Scientists (Controlling For Department Rank in 1956)



Notes: The figure plots coefficients $\hat{\delta}_q^M$ (blue) and $\hat{\delta}_q^m$ (orange) and 95 percent confidence intervals from a variant of Equation (2.7), while controlling for the department rank of scientist in 1956. As a result, the sample is restricted to scientists who appear in both 1956 and 1969. The p-value for the test that the coefficients for the tenth decile are the same among minority and majority scientists is 0.034.

2.D.2 Heterogeneous Effect on Assortative Matching

In Sections 2.4.2 and 2.4.3, we perform heterogeneity analyses for scientists at lowranked departments and for minority scientists. These are based on a non-parametric regression as outlined in Equations (2.6) and (2.7). Below, we report additional results on the heterogeneous effect of citation metrics on assortative matching based on a variant of the main specification (Equation (2.1)):

$$Dep. Rank_{i} = \delta \cdot Visible Citations_{i} + \delta^{I} \cdot Visible Citations_{i} \times Indicator_{i} + \theta \cdot Invisible Citations_{i} + \theta^{I} \cdot Invisible Citations_{i} \times Indicator_{i} + \omega \cdot Indicator_{i} + \pi \cdot Publications_{i} + Subject FE + \epsilon_{i}$$

$$(2.10)$$

Indicator_i takes value 1 if scientist *i* is a member of a specific subgroup of scientists. In Table 2.D.1, we report results for peripheral scientists, i.e., where the indicator captures whether a scientist was working at a low-ranked department in 1956. In Table 2.D.2, we report results for minority scientists, i.e., where the indicator captures whether the scientist was part of a minority group.

Table 2.D.1: Heterogeneous Effect on Assortative Matching for PeripheralScientists

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank				
Definition of Low-Ranked Department:	(1)Below 60	(2) Below 70	(3) Below 75	(4) Below 80	(5) Below 90
Visible Citations	0.168 (0.043)	0.112 (0.038)	0.088 (0.040)	0.119 (0.047)	$0.176 \\ (0.070)$
Invisible Citations	-0.001 (0.035)	-0.011 (0.035)	-0.008 (0.036)	-0.025 (0.042)	-0.074 (0.058)
Visible Citations \times Indicator	$0.075 \\ (0.059)$	$0.138 \\ (0.050)$	$0.169 \\ (0.052)$	$0.151 \\ (0.057)$	$0.100 \\ (0.076)$
Invisible Citations \times Indicator	$\begin{array}{c} 0.071 \\ (0.054) \end{array}$	$0.097 \\ (0.052)$	$0.099 \\ (0.051)$	$0.121 \\ (0.053)$	$0.191 \\ (0.064)$
Indicator	-36.700 (3.488)	-41.744 (3.273)	-43.410 (3.368)	-42.901 (3.688)	-40.917 (5.275)
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year \times Subject	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	$6,374 \\ 0.394 \\ 59.47$	$6,374 \\ 0.367 \\ 59.47$	$6,374 \\ 0.351 \\ 59.47$	$6,374 \\ 0.319 \\ 59.47$	$6,374 \\ 0.240 \\ 59.47$

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.10), where the indicator captures whether scientist i was working at a low-ranked department in 1956. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist i. The explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist i's individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist i's individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist i's individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. Indicator is equal to one if scientist i worked at a low-ranked department in 1956. Thus, the sample used in this analysis is all scientists who appear in our data in both 1956 and 1969. We define low-ranked departments as those below a specific percentile in the 1956 department ranking. The different columns report estimates using different definitions of low-ranked department: 60th percentile in column (1), 70th percentile in (2), 75th percentile in column (3), 80th percentile in column (4), and 90th percentile in column (5). Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist i's publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

 Table 2.D.2: Heterogeneous Effect on Assortative Matching for Minority

 Scientists

	Dependent Variable: Department Rank					
Group Indicator:	(1) Main	(2) Female	(3) Asian	(4) Hispanic	(5) Jewish	(6) Any Minority
Visible Citations	$0.280 \\ (0.035)$	$0.285 \\ (0.040)$	0.281 (0.035)	$0.280 \\ (0.035)$	0.279 (0.035)	0.270 (0.033)
Invisible Citations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.062\\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.049 \\ (0.022) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.063 \\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.062 \\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.063 \\ (0.021) \end{array}$	$0.064 \\ (0.021)$
Visible Citations \times Indicator		-0.053 (0.050)	-0.050 (0.076)	$0.068 \\ (0.181)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.049 \\ (0.088) \end{array}$	$0.020 \\ (0.044)$
Invisible Citations \times Indicator		-0.050 (0.055)	-0.043 (0.084)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.035 \\ (0.179) \end{array}$	-0.050 (0.087)	-0.039 (0.043)
Indicator		-2.871 (2.472)	2.452 (3.262)	-5.042 (5.556)	5.754 (3.352)	-5.772 (2.632)
Subject Fixed Effects	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year \times Subject	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations R^2 Dependent Variable Mean	27,315 0.153 50.40	$24,529 \\ 0.162 \\ 48.08$	27,315 0.153 50.40	$ 27,315 \\ 0.153 \\ 50.40 $	27,315 0.154 50.40	$27,315 \\ 0.159 \\ 50.40$

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.10), where the indicator captures whether scientist i is part of a minority group. The dependent variable is the department rank in 1969, based on the leave-out mean of citations in the department of scientist i. The explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist i's individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist i's individual rank in the distribution of invisible citations. We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst department/scientist. Indicator is equal to one if scientist i is part of a minority group. Column (1) reports estimates of the main specification for reference (see column (3) in Table 2.3, Specification 1). Columns (2)-(5) report estimates from regressions where the indicator captures if scientist i is part of a minority group: female in column (2), Asian in column (3), Hispanic in column (4), and Jewish in column (5). Column (6) reports the estimates from a regression where the indicator equals one if scientist i is part of any one of these subgroups. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist i's publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

2.E Additional Findings: Career Outcomes

	Dependent Variable: Receiving NSF Grant				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Specification 1: Visible vs. Invisible Citations					
Visible Citations	$0.0005 \\ (0.0001)$	$0.0005 \\ (0.0001)$	0.0003 (0.0001)	0.0003 (0.0001)	0.0003 (0.0001)
Invisible Citations	-0.0000 (0.0001)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0000\\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)
P-value (Visible = Invisible)	< 0.001	0.001	0.012	0.033	0.041
R^2	0.026	0.026	0.049	0.160	0.210
Specification 2: Visible vs. Pseudo-Visible vs. Invisible Citati	ions				
Visible Citations	0.0004 (0.0001)	0.0004 (0.0001)	0.0002 (0.0001)	0.0002 (0.0001)	0.0002 (0.0001)
Pseudo-Visible Citations	-0.0002 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)	-0.0001 (0.0001)
Invisible Citations (SCI years)	0.0001 (0.0001)	0.0001 (0.0001)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$	$0.0000 \\ (0.0001)$
Invisible Citations (non-SCI years)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0001 \\ (0.0001) \end{array}$				
P-value (Visible = Pseudo-Visible) P-value (Visible = Invisible (SCI)) P-value (Visible = Invisible (non-SCI)) P-value (Pseudo-Vis. = Invis. (SCI) = Invis. (non-SCI))	< 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.032	< 0.001 0.003 0.003 0.058	$0.003 \\ 0.184 \\ 0.202 \\ 0.044$	0.027 0.125 0.235 0.226	$0.067 \\ 0.092 \\ 0.138 \\ 0.630$
R^2	0.026	0.027	0.049	0.160	0.210
Subject Fixed Effects Publications by Year	Yes	Yes Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Publications by Year × Subject Publications by Journal			Yes	Yes Yes	Yes
Publications by Journal \times Subject					Yes
Observations Dependent Variable Mean	$15,582 \\ 0.013$	$15,582 \\ 0.013$	$15,582 \\ 0.013$	$15,582 \\ 0.013$	$15,582 \\ 0.013$

Table 2.E.1: Receiving an NSF Grant

Notes: The table reports the estimates of Equation (2.8) in the first panel and of Equation (2.9) in the second panel. The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if scientist *i* received an NSF grant between 1964 and 1972. These regressions use the sample of scientists observed in 1969, including medicine. The explanatory variable Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of visible citations. Invisible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-Visible Citations measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of pseudo-Visible Citations (citations in journals indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years not covered in the SCI, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). Invisible Citations (SCI years) measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations (non-SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible Citations (non-SCI years)* measures scientist *i*'s individual rank in the distribution of *invisible citations* in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961, but for years in the distribution of *invisible citations* in non-SCI years (citations in journals not indexed in the SCI in 1961 and in years that were not covered, i.e., 1956-1960 and 1962-1963). We transform ranks into percentiles, where 100 is the best and 1 the worst scientist. Publications by Year separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year between 1956 and 1969. Publications by Journal separately measure the number of scientist *i*'s publications in each year. Standard errors are clustered at the department level.

Chapter 3

Identity Under Attack: How War Grievances Impact Behavior Under Oppressive Post-War Policy

This chapter is based on co-authored work with Emilio Esguerra (see Esguerra, 2023). I am grateful for financial support from the Nationalökonomische Gesellschaft.

3.1 Introduction

War and conquest can cast a long shadow over societies. Beyond the immediate loss of life, post-war societies can suffer from support for authoritarian politics (Acemoglu et al., 2022; Cagé et al., 2023; Koenig, 2023; De Juan et al., 2024), weakened trust in the state (Conzo and Salustri, 2019; Vlachos, 2022), and the discrimination of minorities (Fouka, 2019; Ferrara and Fishback, 2022). While post-war policy often centers on stability and reconciliation (e.g., Blouin and Mukand, 2019), ethnic minorities can be left vulnerable to oppression and assimilation policies (e.g., Dehdari and Gehring, 2022). Individuals faced with post-conquest policy might behave differently depending on their experiences with the former enemy. Yet, there is little evidence on the role of war grievances, i.e., violent experiences of war in an individual's family, on behavior under oppressive post-conquest policy.

In this article, we study how war grievances that individuals associate with their former enemy—and current ruler—affect whether individuals comply with assimilation policy. We focus on the German-speaking region of South Tyrol, which after World War I (WWI) was annexed by Italy. During WWI, many South Tyroleans fought against Italy. After the war, South Tyroleans became a German-speaking minority in Italy, which faced severe assimilation policy. Using self-digitized archival data, we study whether individual-level war grievances directed at Italy made South Tyroleans more likely to refuse assimilation.

After its annexation, South Tyrol was subjected to a so-called Italianization campaign. For example, Italian became the sole language in schools, and villages and streets were given Italian names. These efforts at assimilation culminated in the South Tyrol Option Agreement of 1939: all South Tyroleans were forced to choose between being either German or Italian citizens. If they chose German citizenship, they had to emigrate to Germany; if they chose Italian citizenship, they were able to remain in their homeland but had to assimilate into Italian culture. While most individuals would have preferred to stay in South Tyrol and keep their culture and language, this was no longer possible after the Option Agreement. In essence, the *Option* forced South Tyroleans to make a momentous choice: either emigrate and avoid assimilation, or stay and be subjected to Italianization.

We study whether war grievances directed at Italy—the former enemy—made individuals more strongly resist Italian assimilation efforts. Social identity theory suggests that negative experiences with an out-group may lead to in-group cohesion and a strengthening of identity (e.g., Tajfel and Turner, 2004; Bisin et al., 2011). War experiences, in particular, have been shown to affect individuals' engagement with their community but also their attitudes towards out-groups (e.g., Bellows and Miguel, 2009; Grossman et al., 2015). Building on these insights, we hypothesize that war grievances that South Tyroleans associate with Italy may intensify individuals' identity and thereby make them resist Italian assimilation efforts. We study the effects of such Italy-specific war grievances on two behaviors that seek to avoid assimilation: emigrating to Germany and giving children more Germanic names.

To measure individuals' war grievances, we combine novel individual-level data from two main sources. First, we collect war records on all casualties of South Tyrolean soldiers during WWI. From these casualty lists, we can infer soldiers' place of origin, which army unit they served in, and, crucially, on which front they were fighting. Second, we digitize individual-level archival data on South Tyroleans' behavior around the time of the *Option*. We observe who applied for emigration and who eventually migrated to Germany. We obtain detailed socio-economic and biographic information on these individuals and their children. Based on these data, we match option files to the casualty lists and thereby measure individuals' war grievances.

We use information on the enemy associated with a war grievance to investigate the hypothesis that Italy-specific war grievances made individuals less willing to assimilate. For causal identification, we exploit Italy's unexpected declaration of war on Austria-Hungary in the summer of 1915 as a natural experiment. While nearly all South Tyrolean soldiers initially fought on the Eastern front, they were suddenly redeployed to fight on the Italian front. This historical event led to exogenous variation in the front to which soldiers were deployed, even though they continued to fight in the same army units. This empirical strategy identifies an effect within the set of individuals who experienced any form of war grievance. This strategy holds fixed the effects of overall war grievances, which in many ways might influence individual behavior. Thus, we disentangle the *enemy-specific* component of war grievances from the more general effects of war experiences on an individual's response to assimilation policy.

Causal identification of the effect of enemy-specific war grievances rests on the assumption that holding an Italy-specific war grievance (e.g., one's father was killed by an Italian in WWI) is not systematically related to unobserved factors affecting individuals' response to assimilation policy two decades later. Thus, the main concern with this strategy would be that soldiers were non-randomly selected to fight on specific fronts. For example, our strategy would be invalid, if pre-existing anti-Italian attitudes made individuals self-select into fighting on the Italian front and if, simultaneously, these attitudes affected individuals' refusal to assimilate. However, such selection is unlikely because fighting on the Italian front was determined by an exogenous factor: the sudden redeployment of South Tyrolean soldiers after Italy' declared war in the summer of 1915. Nevertheless, we test for (self-)selection into front exposure in a series of tests. We show that South Tyrolean soldiers who were killed on the Italian front are not systematically different in their pre-war characteristics from soldiers who were killed on another front. Furthermore, in our analysis, we hold constant potential channels of selection based on an individual's place of origin or army unit by including fixed effects for municipalities and army units.

In the first set of findings, we investigate the effects of individuals' enemy-specific grievances on behavior that avoids assimilation. The first outcome we study is whether individuals emigrated to Germany. We find that South Tyroleans whose grievances were directed at Italy were not more likely to emigrate than those whose grievances were directed at another enemy. Across specifications and subsamples, the estimated effect of Italy-specific war grievances on emigration behavior remains near zero and statistically insignificant.

Since moving to another country is a high cost to pay to avoid assimilation, focusing solely on emigration might miss other effects of enemy-specific grievances on individuals' behavior. Thus, we investigate the effects of Italy-specific grievances on a relatively less costly display of identity: how people name their children. We study whether individuals with Italy-specific grievances were more likely to give their children a Germanic name (e.g., Adolf, Helga, Hermann). We again find that war grievances directed at Italy did not make individuals switch towards more Germanic naming patterns. Overall, we find no evidence for our hypothesis that enemy-specific grievances at the individual level increased assimilation avoidance.

In the second set of findings, we study whether grievances at the *community level* drive individuals' behavior, rather than grievances at the *individual level*. This is a similar, albeit theoretically distinct, hypothesis: since cultural identity is a community-based concept, it might be that factors at the community level are more salient and, thus, more relevant for identity-revealing behavior. We estimate individual-level regressions of our two outcomes—emigration and naming patterns—on the share of the male population in an individual's municipality who experienced a casualty in WWI on the Italian front. While we find evidence that such community-level Italy-specific grievances predict emigration behavior, we do not find that they predict individuals' choice of their children's names.

Our paper makes contributions to four strands of research. First, our findings relate to the literature on the effects of violence and war grievances. A consistent finding in this literature is that experiences of war can make individuals more pro-social and politically engaged (e.g., Bellows and Miguel, 2009; Gilligan et al., 2014).¹ At the same time, war experience and victimization can affect attitudes toward out-groups (Grossman et al., 2015; Dinas et al., 2021; Fouka and Voth, 2023) and mobilize violent movements (Dell and Querubin, 2018; Marchais et al., 2022). Many papers compare individuals or communities with varying degrees of war exposure to identify the effects of war grievances. We contribute to this literature by disentangling the effects of enemy-specific war grievances from overall war grievances.

Second, we contribute to a literature on the effects of post-conflict policy. One set of papers focuses on reconciliation policy and when it might be effective in healing societal divisions and grievances (e.g., Bauer et al., 2018; Blouin and Mukand, 2019, 2022). Another set of papers studies the effects of occupation and annexation on the conquered population (e.g., Dehdari and Gehring, 2022; Martinez et al., 2023). Our study complements this literature by studying individuals' reactions to oppressive post-conflict policy.

Third, we build on literature on the economics of identity.² One set of papers in this literature studies how social identity influences behavior (e.g., Akerlof and Kranton, 2000; Oh, 2023), while another set of papers investigates how individuals come to adopt a social identity (e.g., Shayo, 2009; Bisin et al., 2011). Since identity is not directly observable, the empirical literature on identity choices focuses on revealed preference measures (e.g., Atkin et al., 2021; Jia and Persson, 2021). Identity-revealing behavior has been used to investigate under which circumstances minorities assimilate into the majority culture (Fouka, 2019, 2020; Fouka et al., 2022). Similarly, recent research has studied the effects of nation-building policies (Kersting and Wolf, 2024), education (Cantoni et al., 2017; Alesina et al., 2021), and shared collective experiences such as sporting victories (Depetris-Chauvin et al., 2020) on individuals' sense of national identity. We add to this literature by identifying the effects of enemy-specific grievances on identity-revealing behavior and, in particular, on individuals' refusal to assimilate.

Last, this paper makes thematic contributions to the literature on forced relocation and selective emigration.³ Many papers in this field focus on the long-run consequences of forced relocation on socio-economic outcomes (e.g., Becker et al., 2020; Sarvimäki et al., 2022). Recently, more attention has been paid to the factors influencing individual emigration behavior: for example, cultural traits such as individualism (Knudsen,

¹For reviews of the literature on the behavioral and political effects of violence see Bauer et al. (2016) and Walden and Zhukov (2020).

²For reviews of the economics of identity see Charness and Chen (2020) and Shayo (2020).

³For reviews of the literature on forced relocation see Becker and Ferrara (2019) and Becker (2022).

2022), the role of networks (Becker et al., 2023), or the experience or threat of violence in the location of origin (Clemens, 2021; Buggle et al., 2023). We contribute by investigating whether war grievances can drive individuals into emigration in a setting lying on "the spectrum between perfectly voluntary migration and forced migration" (Becker and Ferrara, 2019, p. 14).

3.2 Historical Background

How Südtirol became Alto Adige

Until World War I, modern-day South Tyrol had for centuries been a German-speaking region in the Austro-Hungarian Empire's County of Tyrol.⁴ Like millions of others across Europe, Tyrolean men were called to arms in the summer of 1914 after Austria-Hungary declared war against the Kingdom of Serbia. Initially, Austria-Hungary's war effort was focused on two fronts, against Serbia and Russia. The Kingdom of Italy, Austria-Hungary's neighbor to the South, remained neutral, yet formally was part of an alliance with Austria-Hungary. This changed when Italy unexpectedly declared war on Austria-Hungary on 23 May 1915. This "breach of faith, the like of which history has never seen," as proclaimed by Emperor Franz Joseph (Europeana, 2019), was met with surprise and outrage by many citizens of Austria-Hungary (Di Michele, 2020). Anti-Italian sentiment and propaganda were widespread (see Figure 3.1).

The Austro-Hungarian military command redeployed many army units from the Eastern front to the newly emerging front on the border with Italy. Among these army units were all Tyrolean regiments (Glaise-Horstenau, 1932). Three years of fighting followed, often at altitudes well above 2,000 meters (Thompson, 2008).

After an armistice was signed on 3 November 1918, some regions of Austria were occupied by Italy, including the Southern part of Tyrol (Thompson, 2008). The annexation of South Tyrol was codified in the Treaty of Saint-Germain-en-Laye in 1919 (see panel (b) of Figure 3.2 for post-WWI borders). As a result, the German-speaking population of South Tyrol suddenly found itself a minority under the rule of their former enemy Italy.

After the Italian Fascists under Benito Mussolini came to power in 1922, the German-speaking population in South Tyrol was systematically oppressed and con-

⁴In 1910, the population of South Tyrol included 89.0% German speakers and 2.9% Italian speakers (Landesinstitut für Statistik, 2020, p. 19). See panel (a) of Figure 3.2 for pre-WWI borders, and Appendix Figure 3.B.1 for a map of the historical borders of the County of Tyrol.



Figure 3.1: Anti-Italian WWI Postcard

Notes: The figure shows an Austro-Hungarian postcard from World War I with a German, a Bosnian, an Austrian, and a Hungarian soldier (from left to right). The text reads "May God punish treacherous Italy!" Source: Europeana (2023).

fronted with assimilation policies. These so-called Italianization policies were implemented in South Tyrol to weaken German culture among the local population (Steininger, 1997b, 2003; Di Michele, 2008). Specific measures included the introduction of Italian as the only official language, the establishment of an exclusively Italian-speaking school system, and the dismissal of German-speaking officials from public service. Villages, streets, and mountains were given newly created Italian names. The name of the region itself was changed to *Alto Adige*.⁵ In addition to these assimilation policies, the settlement of Italians in South Tyrol further aggravated tensions (Steininger, 1997b).

These efforts to marginalize the German-speaking population in South Tyrol were met with backlash and resistance (Di Michele, 2008). A well-known example was the establishment of clandestine *Katakombenschulen* (catacomb schools), where dismissed school teachers secretly provided education to children in German. Other developments included the establishment of the *Völkischer Kampfring Südtirols*, a political group that embraced National Socialist ideology and emphasized South Tyrol's German identity (Steininger, 1997b).

⁵The name *Alto Adige*, "Upper Adige," refers to Italy's second-longest river and thereby emphasizes the region's geographic connection to Italy, whereas *Südtirol*, "South Tyrol," highlights the cultural connection to the Austrian region of Tyrol (Grote, 2012, p. 3).



Figure 3.2: Political Maps of South Tyrol 1914-1939

(b) 1920: After World War I



(c) 1939: South Tyrol Option Agreement



Notes: The maps show political borders in 1914, 1920, and 1939. The area of South Tyrol is hatched. Shapefiles are provided by Census Mosaic Project (2022).

The South Tyrol Option

After the Nazi Party under Adolf Hitler came to power in Germany in 1933, its racist and nationalist ideology sought to unify all German speakers in an ethnically homogeneous nation-state (Hobsbawm, 1992, p. 133). Many South Tyroleans saw Germany as a protector of their culture against the oppression faced in Italy (Steininger, 1997b; Grote, 2012).⁶ These expectations were fueled by Germany's annexations of Austria and the Sudetenland in 1938. However, the strategic importance of a German-Italian alliance made a German annexation of South Tyrol politically infeasible.

On 23 June 1939, Hitler and Mussolini reached the South Tyrol Option Agreement, concluding that "if the South Tyrolean issue was not going to go away, so the people must" (Grote, 2012, p. 67). The *Option* presented South Tyrolean German speakers with a difficult choice: they could either emigrate to Germany and retain their cultural identity, or alternatively remain in South Tyrol and be subjected to assimilation into Italian culture.

South Tyrolean heads of household had to declare their intent to opt for Germany until the end of 1939 at their local Italian municipality. The remainder of the process was handled by the *Amtliche Deutsche Ein- und Rückwanderungsstelle* (ADERSt, "Official German Immigration and Repatriation Office"), an administrative authority established for facilitating the mass emigration of South Tyroleans. The *Optanten* ("opters") had to report to the local ADERSt office to formally initiate the emigration procedure by renouncing Italian citizenship and requesting German citizenship. Each opter was assigned a unique identification number, and a file was prepared for further documentation and correspondence. After the emigration request was processed and a value assessment of property for compensation was completed, households received details on their departure. Emigrants were first brought to Innsbruck in Austria, then part of Germany, where they were centrally registered and temporarily housed, before traveling on to their final destination on their own (Alexander et al., 1993).

Many South Tyroleans considered emigration to Germany as an expression of their German identity. Nazi propaganda framed emigration as a part of the *Heim ins Reich* ideology (literally: "Back to the Empire"), which sought to unify all ethnic Germans in a "Greater Germany" (see Figure 3.3 for a propaganda poster). For example, one pamphlet in favor of emigration proclaimed that those who emigrate "sacrifice the

⁶This was not necessarily because they were sympathetic to Nazi ideology. Hannah Arendt pointed out that it would be a mistake to see the behavior of South Tyroleans as an example of mere "fanatic nationalist sentiment;" rather "these people no longer felt sure of their elementary rights if these were not protected by a government to which they belonged by birth" (Arendt, 1973, pp. 254–255).

land for the great goal, the great, holy German Empire" (Steininger, 1997a, 402–404, own translation). Those who stayed in South Tyrol, the *Dableiber* ("stayers"), were ostracized as unpatriotic (see Grote, 2012, pp. 67–71).

Figure 3.3: Nazi Propaganda Poster



Notes: The figure shows a Nazi propaganda poster promoting the mass relocation of South Tyroleans to Nazi Germany. The German texts read "Greater Germany is calling!" and "Back to the Empire!" Source: Obermair (2021, p. 55).

An overwhelming majority of South Tyroleans, around 85% of eligible households, opted in favor of emigrating to Germany (Steininger, 1997b; Wedekind, 2003; Grote, 2012). Ultimately, slightly fewer than half of those who opted for emigration actually left for Germany in the belief of never returning (Wedekind, 2003, p. 15, see also Table 3.1). The mass emigration came to a premature end in September 1943, when Nazi Germany occupied Northern Italy after Italy's armistice with the Allies (Wedekind, 2003, pp. 15–16). After the end of World War II, South Tyrol remained a part of Italy and those who had opted for Germany were allowed to regain Italian citizenship. After three further decades of political conflict and terrorist attacks, South Tyrol was granted extensive autonomy rights.⁷

⁷An overview of the history of post-WWII South Tyrol is found in Steininger (1997a).

3.3 Data

3.3.1 Data Sources

World War I Casualty Lists

We collect WWI casualty data on South Tyrolean soldiers from two sources. We obtain records of all 23,756 Tyrolean soldiers who died in WWI from the *Tiroler Ehrenbücher* ("Tyrolean Honor Books," henceforth *Ehrenbücher*; Tiroler Landesmuseen, 2014). They were compiled after the end of WWI and were published in 1930. Based on soldiers' municipality of residence, we extract the set of 8,620 South Tyrolean dead soldiers. Data on these soldiers contain detailed individual-level information: date and place of birth, municipality of residence, occupation, family status, the soldiers' military unit (regiment and company), as well as the date, place, and cause of death (see Appendix Figure 3.A.1 for an example).

We complement these records with the Verlustlisten Österreich-Ungarns ("Casualty Lists of Austria-Hungary," henceforth Verlustlisten; Verein für Computergenealogie, 2023). These lists were published almost daily throughout WWI by the Austro-Hungarian Ministry of War. They recorded all recent casualties of the armed forces, i.e., soldiers who had died, were wounded, or were captured by the enemy. All entries contain information on the date and place of birth, military unit (regiment and company) as well as the date and place of the casualty (see Appendix Figure 3.A.2 for an example). Based on soldiers' municipalities we extract the set of 9,673 South Tyrolean soldiers in the Verlustlisten. While these contemporaneous casualty lists underreport the number of dead soldiers relative to the more comprehensive Ehrenbücher, they include information on soldiers who were wounded or captured, i.e., on soldiers who survived the war.

Measuring Enemy-Specific War Experience

We locate each entry in these casualty lists to a specific battlefront. Using data on the recorded place of the casualty, we construct a binary variable that captures whether a soldier was killed, wounded, or captured on the Italian front or on one of the other fronts of WWI. For entries lacking geographic information, we infer the front to which a soldier's military unit was deployed at the time of the entry based on historical accounts by Glaise-Horstenau (1932). The distribution of front-specific casualties over

time is in line with the historical evidence that South Tyrolean soldiers were abruptly moved to the Italian Front after May 1915 (see Figure 3.4).⁸

Figure 3.4: WWI Deaths of South Tyroleans by Front Over Time



Notes: The figure shows the number of South Tyrolean deaths per month in the *Ehrenbücher* by the front on which they were recorded. The dashed vertical line indicates the Italian war entry in May 1915.

Emigration Requests

We digitize a random sample of 5,757 individual-level ADERSt emigration requests at the State Archive Bolzano.⁹ This means we observe a random sample of those 85% of South Tyroleans who "opted," i.e., declared their intent to emigrate. All option files include the *Abwanderungsantrag* ("emigration request"), a three-page form that lists detailed personal information on the head of household and other family members (for an example, see Appendix Figures 3.A.3-3.A.6).¹⁰

⁸The analogous graph using data from the *Verlustlisten* is shown in Appendix Figure 3.B.2.

⁹In previous work (see Esguerra, 2023), we analyzed a smaller sample of 2,388 emigration requests, which was generously shared by Alexia Lochmann (see Lochmann, 2020). This sample is based on a random draw of 25 boxes of emigration requests, which on average contain 93.5 files. We then collected another representative sample of 3,369 emigration requests. After this further round of data collection, the results in the main analysis have changed. We will continue data collection and investigate these results further.

 $^{^{10}}$ While most of the heads of household were men, some women (e.g., widows or unmarried women of full age) were entitled to declare their decision during the Option. In our sample of option files, we observe 33.3% (1,915) female opters.

These emigration requests contain information on the head of household's place and date of birth, residential address, family status, religion, citizenship, ethnicity, all former places of residence, occupation,¹¹ property ownership, as well as military, criminal, and health records. Furthermore, the form lists information on the head of household's wife (first name, maiden name, date and place of birth), all children (first names, date and place of birth, occupation), and parents (full name and place of residence). Crucially, the emigration requests allow us to infer whether the household eventually emigrated: a stamp on the first page of the request with the letter A for *abgewandert* ("emigrated") indicates that the file has been closed and the individuals have emigrated to Germany (Lutt, 2016, p. 81).

Naming Patterns

We hand-code whether the names of South Tyrolean children listed in the emigration requests are of Germanic origin (e.g., Adolf, Helga, Hermann) based on data from Kohlheim and Kohlheim (2021) and an extensive web search.¹² In our dataset, 41.6% of children born between 1919 and 1942 were given a Germanic name, and 69.6% of parents who had any children between 1919 and 1942 gave at least one child a Germanic name.

We plot the share of newborn children in South Tyrol with a Germanic name over time in panel (a) of Figure 3.5. Four facts emerge from this plot: first, Germanic names became more popular throughout the 1920s and 1930s. Second, there was a strong increase after 1922, the year the Fascists came to power in Italy, marking the beginning of Italianization. Third, there was a further spike in the popularity of Germanic names in 1933, the year the Nazis came to power in Germany. And fourth, there was a final increase around the time of the Option (1939-1942). Especially, the first name Adolf became popular around the time of the Option (see the spike around 1939-1940 in panel (b) of Figure 3.5).¹³

 $^{^{11}\}mathrm{We}$ manually classify all entries into four categories: skilled, semi-skilled, and unskilled workers, and farmers.

 $^{^{12}}$ This approach is similar to Lochmann (2020) and Kersting and Wolf (2024).

¹³While the general increase in Germanic names in South Tyrol in the 1920s and 1930s is similar to the trend in Germany, the peak in the use of the name Adolf around 1939 and 1940 is unique to South Tyrol (see Wolffsohn and Brechenmacher, 2001).



Figure 3.5: Naming Patterns of Children in South Tyrol

(a) Share of Children with a Germanic First Name



Notes: Panel (a) plots the share of newborn children with a Germanic name for each year between 1919 and 1942. Panel (b) plots the share of new-born children with the name Adolf for each year between 1923 and 1942. The graph starts only in 1923, because no children in our sample were given the name Adolf until 1922.

Historical Census Data

We complement our individual-level data with information on South Tyrolean municipalities. We digitize the pre-WWI census for Tyrol (k. k. Statistische Zentralkommission, 1907), which contains data on municipalities' population by gender and ethnicity, and on their local economic structure (e.g., number of factories, share of taxable land). As our data sources report municipality information in different years, we harmonize these records to their corresponding municipality in 1940.¹⁴ This allows us to link casualty records, emigration requests, and census data.

3.3.2 Final Dataset

In our main analysis, we relate individual-level behavior to individual-level war grievances and, in particular, to the enemy associated with these grievances. We develop a cascading algorithm to link opters, i.e., individuals in the emigration requests, with entries in the WWI casualty lists. We match the father of an opter, first, to the *Ehrenbücher*, which exclusively contain dead soldiers, and, second, to the *Verlustlisten*, which contain data on killed, wounded, and captured soldiers. In a further step, we link male opters themselves to the *Verlustlisten*, where they might be recorded as wounded or captured. We match records only if an individual's full name, hometown, and, if available, year of birth align in both data sources (see Appendix Section 3.A.2 for more details).

Our final dataset consists of 5,757 opters, to whom we matched individual-level data from the casualty lists and municipal-level data from the census. Of these individuals, 490 (8.5 percent) hold a war grievance, i.e., they or their father were matched to the casualty lists.¹⁵¹⁶ 252 of these opters' war grievances are associated with the Italian front (e.g., the father was killed on the Italian front). Summary statistics on the final dataset are shown in Table 3.1. Overall, 44% of opters in our dataset eventually emigrated to Germany.¹⁷

¹⁴To track changes in administrative borders over time, we rely on historical information compiled by *Storia dei Comuni* (2022). Historical shapefiles are drawn from *Geoportal Südtirol* (Autonome Provinz Bozen, 2020).

¹⁵384 of these matches are based on fathers and 112 on the opting individuals themselves. These numbers do not add up to 490 because there are six cases where both the opter himself and his father were matched. See Appendix Table 3.A.1 for a summary of cases.

¹⁶Our matching rate is in line with historical evidence. Among the 5,049 emigration requests that include full information on fathers, we link 246 (4.9%) dead fathers to the casualty lists. This rate is similar to the death rate of 2.7% among the entire Tyrolean population (i.e., including women) reported in Winkler (1919, p. 23).

¹⁷While emigrating to Germany was for many South Tyroleans a question of identity, it was also driven by socio-economic factors. To explore these factors descriptively, we estimate regressions of ob-

	Mean	Std. Dev.	Median	Min.	Max.	Obs.		
Panel A: Individual-Level Variables								
Emigrated to Germany	0.44	0.50	0	0	1	5,757		
War Grievance	0.09	0.28	0	0	1	5,757		
Female	0.33	0.47	0	0	1	5,753		
Military Service	0.47	0.50	0	0	1	5,737		
Illness	0.16	0.37	0	0	1	5,734		
Police Record	0.05	0.22	0	0	1	5,734		
Previously Germany	0.09	0.29	0	0	1	5,757		
Children	0.29	0.45	0	0	1	5,756		
Married	0.30	0.46	0	0	1	5,751		
Owns Property	0.31	0.46	0	0	1	$5,\!590$		
Out of Labor Market	0.08	0.28	0	0	1	5,665		
Farmer	0.45	0.50	0	0	1	5,757		
Skilled Occupation	0.25	0.43	0	0	1	5,757		
Birthyear	1898.28	17.06	1903	1845	1937	5,712		
Panel B: Municipal-Level Variables								
Total Population	4,718.02	5,680.54	2,410	152	23,513	5,681		
Population Density (per ha)	8.10	45.33	0.96	0.03	408.88	$5,\!681$		
Share Male (%)	49.52	2.35	49.80	45.58	57.11	$5,\!681$		
Share Italian (%)	1.83	2.89	0.79	0	24.59	$5,\!681$		
Share German (%)	92.74	13.98	97.81	0.12	100	$5,\!681$		

Table 3.1: Summary Statistics

Notes: This table reports summary statistics of the variables used in our analysis. Panel A reports summary statistics on the individual-level variables drawn from the option files. Panel B reports summary statistics on the municipalities of the individuals in the option files, where the municipality-level data is drawn from the 1900 census.

3.4 Effects of Enemy-Specific War Grievances

3.4.1 Conceptual Framework

To study the behavior of individuals who are faced with pressure to assimilate, we rely on theories of social identity from both psychology (e.g., Tajfel and Turner, 2004) and economics (e.g., Shayo, 2009; Bénabou and Tirole, 2011; Charness and Chen, 2020; Shayo, 2020). Social identity theory holds that individuals want to belong to an identity group (Tajfel and Turner, 2004), which makes them behave in ways that signal their belonging (Shayo, 2009; Bénabou and Tirole, 2011). Identifying with a social group depends on the costs and benefits associated with such identity-revealing behaviors. These costs can be shaped my the broader context of society (e.g., in opposition to a majority group (Bisin et al., 2011)), but also by individuals' negative experiences with an out-group. Experiences of war can shift these psychological costs and thereby affect

served emigration behavior on a set of 11 individual-level characteristics obtained from the emigration requests. We visualize these results in Appendix Figure 3.B.5.
identity and behavior (e.g., Bauer et al., 2016; Henrich, 2020, pp. 328–340; Walden and Zhukov, 2020).

We hypothesize that enemy-specific war grievances can intensify one's own identity and increase identity-revealing behaviors. In the specific context of post-WWI South Tyrol, where ethnic identity is salient and under attack, this hypothesis implies that individuals with war grievances directed at Italy would more strongly resist Italian assimilation policy. Thus, we expect these individuals to behave in ways reflecting their non-Italian, i.e., German, identity. We study two identity-revealing behaviors that differ in their costs: first, the effects on whether an individual emigrated to avoid assimilation. In this sense, emigration to Germany was the cost one had to pay to retain one's German identity. Second, we study the effects on naming patterns of children—a less costly way of signaling identity.¹⁸ Of course, other Italy-specific grievances were also present in post-WWI South Tyrol as a result of widespread oppression and discrimination. The effect we hypothesize is an additional effect of personal war grievances over and above any other grievances directed at Italy.

The formulated hypothesis is on the effect of *individual-level* war grievances on individuals' identity and behavior. Since national and cultural identities are inherently communal phenomena, their drivers might be more adequately captured at the *community level*. Studies on the effects of victimization (e.g., Gilligan et al., 2014; Bauer et al., 2016; Fouka and Voth, 2023) and on cultural transmission (e.g., Bisin and Verdier, 2011; Charnysh and Peisakhin, 2022) emphasize the importance of communities. That is, even if an individual was not directly affected by violence, their community's overall level of victimization can matter for their behavior after the war. We will, therefore, also test the alternative hypothesis that Italy-specific war grievances at the community level affect individuals' identity and behavior.

3.4.2 Empirical Strategy

We first test the hypothesis that individual-level Italy-specific war grievances made South Tyroleans more likely to refuse assimilation. Within the set of individuals who hold war grievances, we compare the behavior of those with Italy-specific grievances to those with grievances associated with another enemy. Italy's unexpected entry into World War I serves as a natural experiment that led to exogenous variation in the enemy that is associated with a specific war grievance. This variation allows us to identify the causal effect of Italy-specific war grievances on individual-level behavior.

 $^{^{18}}$ For other papers using naming patterns to study assimilation see, for example, Fouka (2019), Fouka (2020), and Fouka et al. (2022).

We estimate the regression:

$$Outcome_i = \gamma_1 \cdot WarGrievance_i + \gamma_2 \cdot WarGrievance_i \times ItalianFront_i + X'_i \cdot \beta + BirthyearFE + MunicipalityFE + \epsilon_i$$
(3.1)

where $Outcome_i$ measures individual *i*'s identity-revealing behavior: in the first analysis, it is an indicator equal to one if household *i* accepted German citizenship and emigrated to Germany; in the second analysis, it is the share of *i*'s children born between 1919 and 1942 who have a Germanic name (measured from 0 to 1). $WarGrievance_i$ is an indicator that equals one if opter *i* holds a war grievance. The interaction term $WarGrievance_i \times ItalianFront_i$ is equal to one if the grievance is associated with the Italian enemy. X_i is a vector of individual-level controls. Finally, we include fixed effects for the birth year of individual *i* and their municipality of residence.¹⁹

The estimate of γ_1 is interpreted as the percentage point change in emigration probability (or in the second analysis: the share of children with a Germanic name) associated with holding any war grievance. This reduced-form effect is not straightforward to interpret as it captures numerous financial, emotional, and other factors at once.²⁰ By controlling for $WarGrievance_i$, we can hold these effects fixed and isolate the effect of Italy-specific war grievances. Our main coefficient of interest γ_2 captures the differential effect of war grievances being associated with the Italian enemy. We hypothesize that this effect is positive, i.e., that Italy-specific war grievances make individuals avoid assimilation (see Section 3.4.1).

3.4.3 Validity of the Identifying Assumption

Causal identification of the Italy-specific component of war grievances relies on the assumption that a casualty happening on the Italian front is not systematically related to unobserved factors affecting individuals' emigration behavior two decades later (or, in the second analysis, their choice of names for their children). In the absence of randomized assignment of soldiers to a front, it is possible, for example, that soldiers selected themselves or were systematically selected into specific fronts or army units. This would invalidate our identification strategy. However, such selection is nearly impossible: before May 1915, all South Tyrolean casualties occurred on other fronts. With the sudden opening of the Italian front in 1915, the seven main regiments in which

 $^{^{19}}$ This specification corresponds to column (4) in Tables 3.4 and 3.5; in other columns we alter the set of controls.

 $^{^{20}}$ For example, Dupraz and Ferrara (2023) show that losing a father in war has long-lasting effects on individuals' socio-economic outcomes.

South Tyrolean soldiers were fighting were quickly redeployed to the border with Italy. Soon afterward, nearly all South Tyrolean casualties were recorded on the Italian front (see Figure 3.4). Thus, the sudden redeployment of soldiers to the Italian front led to exogenous variation in front exposure.

Nevertheless, we test whether South Tyrolean soldiers who died on different fronts were systematically different from each other. Since we have data on all dead South Tyrolean soldiers (and not just on those who we matched to the opters), we can test for balance in pre-WWI characteristics in the full set of fallen South Tyrolean soldiers (see Table 3.2). Soldiers who died on the Italian front did not differ from those who died on other fronts with respect to their socio-economic background and came from towns of similar population size and ethnic composition. Two variables (being part of the reserve force and being married) appear to predict dying on the Italian front. This is likely a mechanical result of the development of the war: with the outbreak of the war against Italy soldiers from reserve units were drafted to ensure the defense of Austrian territory in the South.²¹ These reserve soldiers were, on average, older and more likely to be married. When omitting soldiers from reserve units from the balancing test (see Appendix Table 3.A.3), we find that individual characteristics are balanced; except for those soldiers who died on the Italian front being born slightly later (which is unsurprising since in the later years of the war younger cohorts were drafted). These results reaffirm the validity of our identifying assumption, that the front where a soldier experienced a casualty is exogenous to other individual-level characteristics.

In another validity check, we test whether Italy-specific war grievances predict other individual-level outcomes within the set of opters whom we matched to the casualty records. We report averages of our main control variables, conditional on treatment status, in Table 3.3. We find few systematic differences between those opters with Italy-specific war grievances and those whose grievances are associated with another enemy. This analysis does not directly test for selection into front exposure because the information on opters in the emigration requests are post-WWI characteristics. However, it does show that Italy-specific war grievances have no meaningful effect on other characteristics of opters.

Last, we show that there is no obvious regional pattern of casualties happening on the Italian front (see Appendix Figure 3.B.3).²² Even though the Austro-Hungarian

 $^{^{21}}$ Reserve soldiers fought in separate units (Glaise-Horstenau, 1932). This allows us to account for them directly in our analysis by including army unit fixed effects.

²²In Appendix Figure 3.B.4, we additionally show the geographic distribution of opters with war grievances by the enemy the war grievance is associated with.

	Other Front	Italian Front	Diff.	P-val.	Obs.	
Panel A: Individual Characteristics						
Birthyear	1885.69	1886.05	-0.36*	(0.07)	6718	
Farmer	0.46	0.46	-0.00	(0.86)	6489	
Skilled Occupation	0.30	0.32	-0.01	(0.24)	6489	
Married	0.24	0.28	-0.04***	(0.00)	6202	
Reserve Force	0.06	0.26	-0.20***	(0.00)	6145	
Panel B: Municipal Characteristics						
Total Population	4452.31	4662.04	-209.73	(0.14)	7210	
Population Density (per ha)	8.37	7.99	0.39	(0.73)	7210	
Share Male $(\%)$	50.09	49.99	0.10^{**}	(0.03)	7210	
Share Italian (%)	3.51	3.52	-0.00	(0.98)	7210	
Share German (%)	88.52	89.08	-0.56	(0.28)	7210	

Table 3.2: Balancing of Dead Soldiers by Front

Notes: This table reports means of variables on dead South Tyrolean soldiers by treatment status, i.e., whether the death happened on the Italian or another front. The sample includes all dead South Tyrolean soldiers from the *Ehrenbücher* for whom we were able to locate their deaths on a specific front. The columns report group means, the difference between means, p-values for mean equality, and the number of observations. Significance levels: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

Table 3.3: Descriptive Statistics of Opters With War Grievances by Front

	Other Front	Italian Front	Diff.	P-val.	Obs.
Birthyear	1905.22	1904.28	0.94	(0.34)	484
Female	0.21	0.26	-0.05	(0.16)	484
Military Service	0.62	0.60	0.02	(0.65)	484
Illness	0.10	0.16	-0.06*	(0.07)	484
Police Record	0.04	0.02	0.03^{*}	(0.07)	484
Previously Germany	0.04	0.05	-0.02	(0.42)	484
Children	0.40	0.41	-0.01	(0.89)	484
Married	0.38	0.36	0.02	(0.60)	484
Owns Property	0.38	0.36	0.02	(0.67)	469
Out of Labor Market	0.02	0.04	-0.02	(0.23)	480
Farmer	0.64	0.54	0.10^{**}	(0.02)	484
Skilled Occupation	0.24	0.23	0.00	(0.91)	484

Notes: This table reports averages of the control variables used in the main analysis for all opters with a war grievance, i.e., all opters whom we could link to the casualty lists (and locate the casualty to a front), conditional on the enemy associated with their grievance. While we matched 490 opters to WWI casualty records, for 6 individuals we could not assign their casualty to a battlefront. The columns report group means, the difference between means, p-values for mean equality, and the number of observations.

army drafted soldiers into army units based on their municipality of origin, soldiers were not systematically drafted to different fronts based on municipality.

3.5 Findings

3.5.1 Effects of Individual-Level Grievances

Emigration

We report estimates of Equation (3.1) in Table 3.4. Column (1) reports the estimates from a regression without any controls. The first estimate of -0.068 captures the association between holding any war grievance and emigrating. This is not a causal estimate (see Section 3.4.2). The second estimate captures the differential effect of Italy-specific war grievances. This effect is estimated from within those individuals who hold any war grievance. This enables us to identify the effects of the enemy associated with a war grievance. Under our identifying assumption—that a casualty happening on the Italian front is not systematically related to unobserved factors affecting emigration—we interpret this coefficient causally. While this specification indicates that individuals who hold Italy-specific war grievances were 1.9 percentage points more likely to emigrate to Germany, this effect is not statistically significant.

This null result remains stable with the inclusion of control variables and fixed effects. In column (2), we control for individual-level characteristics and birth year fixed effects. In column (3) we report estimates from a regression where we include municipality-level controls (e.g., population size and share of Italian speakers). In column (4), we instead include fixed effects for i's municipality of residence to control for any unobservable local aspects that might correlate with individual-level war grievances and emigration behavior. The result remains stable across specifications.

Last, in column (5), we report estimates from a regression that includes army unit fixed effects, thereby controlling for potential selection into units (see also Section 3.4.3) and any army unit-specific experiences, e.g., participating in particularly intense battles or experiencing specific leaders. In this specification, and in any specification that controls for army unit fixed effects, the baseline effect of holding any war grievance cannot be estimated. This is because individuals with war grievances are associated with one specific army unit and, hence, the sum of the army unit fixed effects is collinear with the indicator variable $WarGrievance_i$. However, this does not affect the identification of the coefficient of interest γ_2 : within all army units, there is variation in front exposure, i.e., whether the grievance is associated with the Italian enemy. Again, the estimated coefficient is near zero and statistically insignificant.²³

Across specifications, we find that the differential effect of Italy-specific war grievances is near zero and statistically insignificant. Relative to other individuals who hold war grievances, those individuals whose war grievances are directed at Italy are not more likely to emigrate to Germany.

	Dependent Variable: Emigrated to Germany				ermany
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
War Grievance	-0.068^{**} (0.032)	-0.035 (0.030)	-0.031 (0.030)	-0.029 (0.029)	
War Grievance \times Italian Front	(0.032) (0.019) (0.044)	(0.000) (0.017) (0.042)	(0.033) (0.024) (0.042)	(0.020) (0.007) (0.041)	-0.009 (0.041)
Birthyear Fixed Effects		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual Controls		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Municipality Controls			Yes		
Municipality Fixed Effects				Yes	Yes
Army Unit Fixed Effects					Yes
Observations	5,757	5,452	5,412	5,412	5,412
Adjusted R^2	0.001	0.200	0.222	0.250	0.251
Dependent Variable Mean	0.437	0.430	0.430	0.430	0.430

Table 3.4: Effect of Enemy-Specific Grievances on Emigrating

Notes: This table reports estimates of Equation (3.1). The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual i emigrated. The explanatory variable War Grievance is an indicator equal to one if individual i holds any war grievance, i.e., whether i or i's father experienced a casualty in WWI. The explanatory variable $War Grievance \times Italian Front$ is an indicator equal to one if individual *i*'s war grievance is associated with the Italian front. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression only on the two grievance indicator variables. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression which additionally controls for birth year dummies and individual-level characteristics (i.e., sex, military experience, having illnesses, having a police record, having previously lived in Germany, having children, being married, owning property, being out of the labor market, being a farmer, and working in a skilled or semi-skilled occupation). Column (3) additionally controls for characteristics of i's municipality of residence (i.e., population size, squared population size, and Italian population share). Column (4) instead controls for indicator variables for the municipality individual i lives in; consequently the municipal-level controls from column (3) are omitted. Column (5) additionally controls for indicator variables for the regiment to which the soldier, i.e., opting individual i or i's father, was assigned. Heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors are reported. Significance levels: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

 $^{^{23}}$ We further show that these findings are stable when using alternative fixed effects, imposing additional sample restrictions, and controlling for fine-grained information on the specific war grievance (see Appendix Section 3.C.1).

Naming Patterns

Moving to another country is a high cost to pay to avoid assimilation whereas other, more private, behaviors can be less costly. Hence, focusing only on emigration might miss other effects of enemy-specific grievances on individuals' behavior. We now investigate whether Italy-specific war grievances made individuals behave in less costly ways to signal their German identity. In particular, we study whether they gave their children more Germanic names, which was a common trend in German nationalism in the 19th and early 20th centuries (Kersting and Wolf, 2024).²⁴ This was amplified in the 1930s, when the Nazi government encouraged citizens to give their children Germanic names (e.g., Wolffsohn and Brechenmacher, 1999; Casquete, 2016). Also in South Tyrol, Germanic names increased in popularity during the interwar period (see Figure 3.5).

We estimate variants of Equation (3.1), in which we replace the dependent variable with the share of *i*'s children born between 1919 and 1942 who have a Germanic first name (measured from 0 to 1). The remaining variable definitions are identical. These regressions are estimated from the sample of individuals who had any children between 1919 and 1942. We report the results of these regressions in Table 3.5. Across specifications, we find that the estimated coefficient on the Italy-specific grievance indicator is near zero and statistically insignificant. We conclude that grievances directed at Italy did not make South Tyroleans switch towards more Germanic names.²⁵

While South Tyroleans overall have shited to more Germanic names under Fascist oppression (see Figure 3.5), we find that Italy-specific war grievances did not have a differential effect on naming patterns. Overall, we find no evidence for the hypothesis outlined in Section 3.4.1, that individual-level Italy-specific war grievances made South Tyroleans avoid assimilation.

²⁴For other papers using naming patterns as a proxy for identity, see, for example, Fryer and Levitt (2004), Bazzi et al. (2020), Fouka (2020), Kersting and Wolf (2024), and Knudsen (2022). Another way of measuring identity-based behavior is interethnic marriage, i.e., in our setting, whether German-speaking South Tyroleans marry an Italian spouse. However, in our data there are too few spouses with Italian names to identify such behavior.

²⁵We also investigate whether an effect might be present only during the Nazi period. In Appendix Table 3.C.3, we show that results are similar when restricting the analysis to individuals who had children after 1933, i.e., after the Nazis came to power in Germany.

	Dep. Ve	ar.: Share	e Children	German	ic Name
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
War Grievance	-0.006	-0.023	-0.028	-0.023	
	(0.035)	(0.037)	(0.037)	(0.038)	
War Grievance \times Italian Front	-0.036	-0.015	-0.004	-0.009	-0.033
	(0.048)	(0.051)	(0.051)	(0.052)	(0.056)
Birthyear Fixed Effects		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual Controls		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Municipality Controls			Yes		
Municipality Fixed Effects				Yes	Yes
Army Unit Fixed Effects					Yes
Observations	1,619	1,562	1,552	1,552	1,552
Adjusted R^2	0.000	0.058	0.067	0.088	0.087
Dependent Variable Mean	0.432	0.427	0.427	0.427	0.427

Table 3.5: Effect of Enemy-Specific Grievances on Naming Patterns

Notes: This table reports estimates of a variant of Equation (3.1). The dependent variable is the share of i's children who have a Germanic name (measured between 0 and 1). These regressions use the sample of individuals who had any children between 1919 and 1942. The explanatory variable War Grievance is an indicator equal to one if individual i holds any war grievance, i.e., whether i or i's father experienced a casualty in WWI. The explanatory variable War Grievance \times Italian Front is an indicator equal to one if individual i's war grievance is associated with the Italian front. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression only on the two grievance indicator variables. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression which additionally controls for birth year dummies and individual-level characteristics (i.e., sex, military experience, having illnesses, having a police record, having previously lived in Germany, having children, being married, owning property, being out of the labor market, being a farmer, and working in a skilled or semi-skilled occupation). Column (3) additionally controls for characteristics of i's municipality of residence (i.e., population size, squared population size, and Italian population share). Column (4) instead controls for indicator variables for the municipality individual i lives in; consequently, the municipal-level controls from column (3) are omitted. Column (5) additionally controls for indicator variables for the regiment to which the soldier, i.e., opting individual i or i's father, was assigned. Heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors are reported. Significance levels: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

3.5.2 Effects of Community-Level Grievances

National and cultural identities are inherently communal phenomena. Hence, their drivers might be more adequately captured at the level of the community. In this second set of findings, we study a similar, but theoretically distinct, hypothesis: whether grievances at the level of the community make individuals more likely to avoid assimilation. We analyze whether the share of people in a municipality who experienced a casualty on the Italian front affects individual behaviors of assimilation avoidance.

We test this hypothesis by estimating the regression:

$$Outcome_{i} = \kappa_{1} \cdot CasualtyShare_{m(i)} + \kappa_{2} \cdot CasualtyShareItalianFront_{m(i)} + X'_{i} \cdot \beta + M'_{m(i)} \cdot \theta + BirthyearFE + \epsilon_{i}$$

$$(3.2)$$

where $Outcome_i$ is the specific behavior measuring assimilation avoidance; i.e., in the first analysis, an indicator that equals one if household *i* emigrated to Germany; in the second analysis, the share of *i*'s children born between 1919 and 1942 who have a Germanic name. $CasualtyShare_{m(i)}$ is the percentage of the male population in municipality *m* of individual *i* who experienced a casualty in WWI. $CasualtyShareItalianFront_{m(i)}$ is the percentage of the male population in municipality *m* of individual *i* who experienced a casualty in WWI at the Italian front. X_i is a set of individual level controls and $M_{m(i)}$ is a set of municipal level controls. To account for potential correlations of regression residuals in a municipality, we cluster standard errors at the municipality level.

This approach has two advantages: first, it captures the wider effects of community victimization and not only those at the individual or family level. Second, the effect is now identified in the entire sample and not only in the subset of individuals for whom we measure individual-level grievances. The identifying assumption of this specification is that the municipal-level share of casualties at the Italian front is not systematically related to other factors affecting individuals' emigration behavior two decades later (or in the second analysis, the choice of names for their children).²⁶

We report results on emigration in columns (1)-(3) of Table 3.6. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression only on the two casualty shares. While the overall casualty share negatively predicts emigration behavior, the estimate on the casualty share on the Italian front is positive and statistically significant at the 1%-level. In column (2), we control for individual-level characteristics and birth year fixed effects, and, in column (3), we additionally control for municipal-level characteristics. The estimates are slightly lower but remain qualitatively unchanged: an increase in the municipallevel share of the male population who experienced a casualty on the Italian front is associated with a 4.8 percentage point increase in the probability of emigrating.²⁷

We repeat the analysis for the alternative outcome, the share of i's children with a Germanic name. We report the estimates of these regressions in columns (4)-(6)

 $^{^{26}\}mathrm{See}$ Appendix Figure 3.B.3 for evidence that there is no regional pattern of casualties happening on the Italian front.

 $^{^{27}}$ In Appendix Table 3.C.4, we show that the results on emigration, i.e., columns (1)-(3), are stable to using only the subsample of individuals who had children between 1919 and 1942, i.e., the subsample used in columns (4)-(6).

Dependent Variable:	Emigrated to Germany			Children Germanic Name		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Casualty Share	-0.062^{***} (0.016)	-0.041^{***} (0.013)	-0.024^{*} (0.013)	-0.011 (0.010)	-0.001 (0.009)	$0.008 \\ (0.010)$
Casualty Share Italian Front	$\begin{array}{c} 0.083^{***} \\ (0.023) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.059^{***} \\ (0.019) \end{array}$	0.048^{**} (0.020)	-0.008 (0.016)	-0.017 (0.015)	-0.027^{*} (0.016)
Birthyear Fixed Effects Individual Controls Municipal Controls		Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes		Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes
Observations Adj. R^2	5,681 0.034 0.427	5,412 0.214 0.420	5,412 0.223	1,606 0.023 0.422	1,552 0.066 0.427	1,552 0.068 0.427

Notes: This table reports estimates of a variant of Equation (3.2). In columns(1)-(3), the dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual *i* emigrated. In columns (4)-(6), the dependent variable is the share of *i*'s children born between 1919 and 1942 who have a Germanic name (measured between 0 and 1). Regressions in columns (4)-(6) use the sample of individuals who had any children between 1919 and 1942. The explanatory variable *CasualtyShare* is the municipal-level share of the male population who experienced a casualty in WWI. The explanatory variable *CasualtyShareItalianFront* is the municipal-level share of the male population who experienced a casualty at the Italian front. Columns (1) and (4) report estimates from regressions only on the two casualty shares. Columns (2) and (5) report estimates from regressions which additionally control for birth year dummies and individual-level characteristics (i.e., sex, military experience, having illnesses, having a police record, having previously lived in Germany, having children, being married, owning property, being out of the labor market, being a farmer, and working in a skilled or semi-skilled occupation). Columns (3) and (6) additionally control for characteristics of *i*'s municipality of residence (i.e., population size, squared population size, and Italian population share). Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, and * p<0.1.

of Table 3.6. Coefficients are consistently near zero or even slightly negative. In column (6), i.e., when including municipal- and individual-level characteristics, the estimate is -0.27 and significant at the 10%-level. As such, we find no evidence for the hypothesis that community-level Italy-specific grievances affected South Tyroleans' naming patterns for their children. Overall, we find mixed evidence for the hypothesis that community-level grievances affect assimilation avoidance.

3.6 Conclusion

In this paper, we test the hypothesis that enemy-specific war grievances cause individuals to resist assimilation after they were conquered. We focus on a unique historic setting: the German-speaking region of South Tyrol, whose population was targeted by intense assimilation policies after it was annexed by Italy. Using exogenous variation in soldiers' front experience during World War I, we isolate the effect of war grievances directed at Italy, thereby abstracting from other financial or emotional effects of war grievances. We then measure whether these soldiers or their children were more likely to refuse assimilation. While we find no effects of individual-level grievances on emigration or on naming patterns, we do find some evidence that community-level grievances matter for emigration.

Overall, we find little evidence that enemy-specific grievances make individuals behave in ways that avoid assimilation. This indicates that enemy-specific grievances have no differential effects beyond the effects of war grievances. An alternative interpretation is that the salience of such enemy-specific grievances in the specific context we study was relatively low. The political climate of interwar South Tyrol was marked by ethnic tensions. Other grievances directed at Italy—resulting, for example, from language prohibition in schools and discrimination in public life—might have been more salient than war grievances.

Appendix to Chapter 3

This appendix presents details on data collection and additional results:

- Section 3.A provides further details on data.
- Section 3.B provides additional figures.
- Section 3.C reports additional findings.

3.A Further Details on Data

3.A.1 Data Sources

Figure 3.A.1: Entry in Ehrenbücher

Tiroler Ehrenbuch	Oerichisbesith: Meran Oemeinde: Meran Einfender: <i>Haddmagirlrab</i>
Geden	nkblatt
	jūr: $ u$
Abar	1 Franz
	aus:
dl	eran
Ocburtejahr: 20. Mai 1880 i	in alleran
Name der Eltern:	and the second
Beruf: Vapezierenneiner	Lange and the second
Stand: werkeinauer	The Painers' Rel
Cruppenkörper: Eugsg. un 4.	Monte hella (Bustales)
Octallen: 10. Vun 1916 M	nov: Ticensa
begraden: un vero storen v	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A

Notes: The picture shows the entry in *Ehrenbücher* for Franz Abart. The entry lists his date and place of birth (20 May 1880 in Meran); his occupation (upholsterer); marital status (married); rank and army unit (sergeant in the 4th *Tiroler Kaiserjäger* regiment); date, place and cause of death (10 June 1916 at the Monte Arlta (Italian front), shot in the chest); and burial place (Kastana, Province Vicenza). Source: Tiroler Landesmuseen (2014).

Figure 3.A.2: Entry in Verlustlisten

Rußland.
Ennemoser Alois, ResJäg., TJR. Nr. 3, 5. Komp., Tirol, Meran, Platt, 1881; kriegsgef., Volterra, Italien.
Erben Josef, ResFahrkan., FHR. Nr. 10, ehem. Nr. 9, Haub-MunK. Nr. 6, Böhmen, Hohenelbe, Ochsengraben, 1886; kriegsgef. Tscherkassy. Gouvernement Kiew. Vereinsspital

Notes: Entry for Alois Ennemoser, in the *Verlustliste* No. 397 from 22 May 1916. He was from the municipality of Platt in the district of Meran and was born in 1881. He served as *Reservejäger* (reserve rifleman) in the 5th company of the 3rd *Tiroler Kaiserjäger* regiment. He was held in captivity in Volterra, Italy. Source: Verein für Computergenealogie (2023).



Figure 3.A.3: Emigration Request: Cover Sheet

Notes: This scan shows the cover sheet of an emigration request folder with the opter's unique case number (blurred). It also includes a sign indicating their emigration status (here: in the upper-right corner the A for *abgewandert* (emigrated); this superseded the Z for *zurückgestellt* (shelved), which all files received while being processed).

ZA y ZA Ubu	vanderungsantr	ag 2(3a) #
Ich beantrage für mi gemäß der Deutsch-Italienijc Abwanderung ins Deutsche K	ch und meine umftehend-angeführt hen Bereinbarung vom 23. Juni 19: Reich.	en Familienangehörigen 39 die Genehmigung zur
Gleichzeitig habe ich fi dem Italienijchen Staatsvert Deutjchen Reich beantragt.	ür mich und meine Familienangehö band und Wehrpflichtsverhältnis jov	rigen die Entlassung aus vie die Einbürgerung im
Ich erfläre für mich un zahlung unjerer vermögensrev Ein= und Rückwandererstelle Eidesstatt, sämtliche Angaber entsprechend gemacht zu hab Tatjachen bekannt sind, die ei arischen Abstammung begründ	ind meine Familienangehörigen, na chtlichen Anfprüche zu dem uns von gefehten Termin abwandern zu u 1 über mich und meine Familienar en und erfläre insbefondere eidesft einen Zweifel an meiner und mein den.	uch Festischung und Aus- der Amtlichen Deutschen vollen. Ich versichere an 1gehörigen der Wahrheit attlich, daß mir keinerlei 1er Fomilienangehörigen
Es ift mir ausdrüdlich flärt und meine Einbürgeru unrichtige oder unwollständige hängige Strafverfahren gema) eröffnet worden, daß meine Einb 1ngsurtunde wieder zurüctgezogen e Angaben über meine Person, etw 1.cht haben sollte.	ürgerung für nichtig er= werden tann, falls ich 1aige Borftrafen und an=
An Urtunden füge ich	bei:	
determine determine	und	
	1 Taufschein von	Second Second
	1 Taufschein von	, danagonit. A succession
in the second se	l Taufschein von l Taufschein von	
Bruneck	, den 12. März	
	00 Deutliche U	nterjdyrijt.
Re		
Gegenzeichnung des Aufnahn	nebeamten	
Minkle	2	in a set of the set of the
	- Semanti	and a second sec
		ac. 653 .38
001 / 11, 39 / 50.000 / Kifabrud Junibrud		

Figure 3.A.4: Emigration Request: Page 1

Notes: This scan shows the first page of the *Abwanderungsantrag* (emigration request) of an individual who applied for German citizenship and emigration to Germany. The municipality of the office, the date, and the signatures of the officer and the opter are visible. The stamps indicating the emigration status (here: A for *abgewandert* (emigrated)) are included again on this page.

A. Antragiteller:	Renn=Nummer:	
Buttame :-	geb. am:	10. L. 1884
Bornamen :	geb. in:	n. house
Wohnhaft in:	San 75 - Antonichier	
Familienstand / 1914 verb., getil / partiel	Glaubensbekenntnis:	Pim. 1
Beruf oder Gewerbe (erlernt): Landw	Irtschaft	
Beruf oder Gewerbe (zulekt ausgeübt):		
Staatsangehörigfeit:	Rolfszugehöriafeit.	Lakie Agro
Militärnerhältnis im Gaimetitaat.	Sonsjägehörigten.	deutso
bei Kaiser	jägern	November 1
B. Einzubürgernde Familienangehörige a) Ehefra	u b) Minderjährige Rin	der
a) Vornamen:	Mädchenname:	
geb. am:	Volkszugehörigkeit:	leutsche
Beruf: Hausfrau	Glaubensbekenntnis:	röm. kath.
b) Vornamen geb. an	n: in:	Bernif.
1		Lando ph
2.		Landarb
3.		Randarbeilen
4. 5		Schüler
6		
C. Eltern des Untragitellers (Bor= und Juname, b. b.	Mutter and Masterney	
Bater:	Mutter.	
Wohnort:	Wohnort:	
Staatsangabäristeile	Glaubensbekenntnis:	mile beach
Bolfszugehörigfeit: dentsche	Staatsangehörigkeit:	telients
CARPENT	Volkszugehörigkeit:	deutsche
D. Strafen und anhängige Strafverfahren (polit. und 1	iicht polit.):	
keine		
E Douant at		
- Quartinge torperliche Leiden und anstedende Krankh	eiten:	
keine		
". Aufenthaltsorte des Antragstellers feit feiner Geburg	in the second	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
St. George		

Figure 3.A.5: Emigration Request: Page 2

Notes: This scan shows the second page of the emigration request. Biographic details of the individual are recorded in six sections: (A) details on the applicant, (B) family members (spouse and children), (C) parents of the applicant, (D) criminal records, (E) health records, (F) all places of residence since birth.

eorgen bei	Star	mbogan	San Glorgio
eck		undogen	ur bruntoo
	sum abwanderung	jsantrag fir.	E F
) Name:	A ANDAL A	etma früherer	
) Vornamen		cibu prinjeter analasi	
) geb. am	in St. Ge	orgen	San Giorgio
Bater:		(Seutsch)	(ltalienifc)
Mutter:		geborene	The learners
) Staatsangeh.:	italienische	etwa frühere	österreichische
) Glaubensbekenntnis	röm. kath.	etwa früheres	röm. kath.
) Familienstand:/190%	y — verh. — perpote 14 1919)/ +/ gept/ Jepend./ /	
Zum Hau	Shalt gehörige Kinder:	1	1
	n 14-21 9	1	1
) 99		(Rnaben)	(Mäbchen)
) Bendingter 2009nrat	um: keiner, wins	ont sion im delon an	zukauten
) Eigenes Geschäft?	ja — iegy/////////////	//////////////////////////////////////	
.) Erwünschter Zeitpu	ntt der Abwanderung:	nach erfolgte:	Besitzablösung
	18 minune in ollene a		
.) Größeres Umzugsgr Wohnung Baren, W Hanstiere: Kunstgeger Fahrzeuge	ut: Seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rafchinen ufw.: ja 464/ : 161/7 nein nftände: ja/7 nein ufw.: ¥5433, 6649	und 1 Küchen- 1 Nähmaschine	Tinrichtung
.) Größeres Umzugsgt Bohnung Waren, V Haustiere: Kunitgege Fahrzeuge) Erwünfchter Zielort	ut: seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rachtinen ufw.: ja — yehy : ja/+ nein nltände: ja/+ nein e ufw.: PSPN, Seph t, bzw. Gegend:	ner und 1 Küchen- ۱ Nähmaschine ۱۹۹۹ ۱ Fahrrad Südtiroler- Sie	Winrichtung dlungsgebiet
.) Größeres Umgugsgi Bohnung Baren, V Haustier: Kunftgegei Fahrzeuge) Erwünfchter Zielort Gründe:	ut: Seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rafchinen ufw.: ja — yehy, : ja/+ nein nftände: ja/+ nein : ufw.: 15932 , Chyl t, bzw. Gegend:	ner und l Küchen- ا الظhmaschine //۱۹۹۶/ l Fahrrad Südtiroler- Sie persönliche	Winrichtung dlungsgebiet
.) Größeres Umgugsgi Bohnung Baren, D Haustiere: Kunftgeget Fahrzeuge .) Erwünfchter Zielort Gründe: .) Erwünfchte Tätigfe	ut: seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rafchinen ufw.: ja — yehy : 10/4 nein nftände: je/4 nein it am Gegend: it am Zielort:	ner und 1 Küchen- 1 Nähmaschine /////// 1 Fahrrad Südtiroler- Sie persönliche Bauer	Winrichtung dlungsgebiet
.) Gröheres Umgugsgi Bohnung Waren, V Haustiere: Kunitgegei Fahrzeuge .) Erwünschter Zielort Gründe: .) Grwünschte Tätigfei .) Sit am Zielort Wo	ut: seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rafchinen ufw.: ja — yehy, : ja / ein nltänbe: ja / nein nltänbe: ja / nein i ufw.: 4500 , 2600 t, bzw. Gegend: it am Zielort: ihnung vorhanden? nein —	ner und l Küchen- l Nähmaschine //۱۹۴۶/ l Fahrrad Südtiroler- Sie persönliche Bauer	Winrichtung Blungsgebiet
.) Größeres Umgugsgi Bohnung Waren, W Haustiere: Kunftgeget Fahrzeuge .) Erwünfchter Zielort Gründe: .) Erwünfchte Tätigfe .) Ift am Zielort Wo	ut: seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rafchinen ufw.: ja — yehy, : 10/4 nein nftände: in/4 nein nftände: in/4 nein t ofw.: USAN, Segend: it am Zielort: ihnung vorhanden? nein —	ner und 1 Küchen- 1 Nähmaschine ////////////////////////////////////	Winrichtung dlungsgebiet
) Gröheres Umgugsgi Bohnung Baren, V Haustiere Runitgegei Fahrzeuge) Grwünfchter Zielort Gründe:) Grwünfchte Tätigfei) Jit am Zielort Wo runeck, den 1 (Ort 	ut: seinrichtung: 3 3imi Rafchinen ufw.: ja — yehy, : ja / + nein nltände: ja / + nein nltände: ja / + nein e ufw.: Fryn, 2009 t, bzw. Gegend: it am Zielort: hnung vorhanden? nein — 1.2. METZ 1940 und Tag)	ner und l Küchen- l Nähmaschine // ۱۴۹۲ Südtiroler- Sie persönliche Bauer	Winrichtung dlungsgebiet
) Größeres Umgugsgt Bohnung Baren, W Haustiere Kunftgegei Fahrzeuge) Erwünschter Zielort Gründe:) Erwünschte Zätigfe) Ift am Zielort Wo runeck, den 1 (Ort 	ut: seinrichtung: 3 3imi Machinen ufw.: ja — yehy, : h/ + nein nftände: ja + nein nftände: ja + nein : ufw.: 45033, CFB t, bzw. Gegend: it am Zielort: hhnung vorhanden? nein — 12. MATZ 1940 who Lag) Yinklu	ner und l Küchen- l Nähmaschine //۹۳۹۶/ l Fahrrad Südtiroler- Sie persönliche Bauer	Winrichtung dlungsgebiet

Figure 3.A.6: Emigration Request: Page 3

Notes: This scan shows the third and final page of the emigration request. It includes information on the applicant's financial situation, family status, employment status, and further details.

3.A.2 Linking Option Files and Casualty Records

There are three types of potential match between individual opters in our emigration requests and soldiers in the WWI casualty lists:

- 1. Option Files (Father) \leftrightarrow Ehrenbücher (Father): the father of an individual opter might be linked with his entry in the Ehrenbücher (all dead).
- 2. Option Files (Father) \leftrightarrow Verlustlisten (Father): the father of an individual opter might be linked with his entry in the Verlustlisten (dead, wounded, or captured).
- 3. Option Files (Opter) \leftrightarrow Verlustlisten (Opter): the opter himself might be linked with his entry in the Verlustlisten (wounded or captured).

For each of these potential links, we proceed in the following steps:

- (1) We perform a fuzzy string match by first name and last name using the reclink command in Stata (Blasnik, 2010) to identify potential misspellings of names (using a minimum similarity score of 0.9). We manually correct these mistakes.
- (2) We perform a perfect string match using the last name, first name, home town, and, in a type (3) match (i.e., Option Files (Opter) \leftrightarrow Verlustlisten (Opter)), the birth year of an individual. We exclude all observations from the option files that have at least one missing entry in one of these variables. The home town (*Heimatort*) in the casualty lists can be linked to either of three potential municipality entries listed in the option files: the birthplace of the opter, the place of residence of the opter, and the (last) place of residence of the father. We, thus, perform three rounds of perfect string matches and remove the already matched opters after each round. In the case of linking opters' fathers to the casualty lists (cases (1) and (2) above), the hierarchy is as follows: (i) place of residence of the father, (ii) birthplace of the opter, (iii) place of residence of the opter. In the case of linking opters themselves (case (3) above) to the casualty list, the hierarchy is: (i) birthplace of opter, (ii) place of residence of opter, (iii) place of residence of the father. To account for administrative changes in municipalities between World War I (when the casualty lists were compiled) and the Option (when the option files were compiled), we manually link all municipalities in our datasets to their corresponding municipality as of 1940 using information from Storia dei Comuni (2022; see Section 3.3.1).

- (3) After each match, we perform several checks: in case of matches to fathers (cases (1) and (2)), where we do not have information on the birth year in the option file, we perform a sanity check in terms of the age difference and only keep matched pairs where the difference in age between the opter's father and the opter is at least 16 years. After each match, we hand-check duplicates of matching pairs. In the end, only unique combinations of opter and entry in the casualty list remain. We save these matching pairs in a separate file for each of the nine potential links (i.e., three types of municipality links for each of the three types of match listed above).
- (4) We combine the resulting files into one final file containing all matched opters and their matched counterparts in the casualty lists (i.e., opters themselves or their fathers). Finally, we add the information for each of the 490 matched casualty list entries to the main database of opters from the emigration requests.

We report the numbers of matched fathers and matched opters in Table 3.A.1 and the numbers for each type of match in Table 3.A.2.

Option Requests father known	5,757 <i>5,049</i>
Matched Father	384
dead	246
wounded	78
captured	56
status unclear	4
Matched Opter	112
wounded	69
captured	43
Total Matches	490

Table 3.A.1: Summary of Matches

Notes: This table reports the number of matches by source and type of casualty. The number of total matches is six fewer than the sum of matched fathers and matched opters because six individuals were matched both themselves and via their father.

Source	Cases
Opt (Father) \leftrightarrow VL (Father)	173
Opt (Father) \leftrightarrow EB (Father)	137
Opt (Opter) \leftrightarrow VL (Opter)	106
Opt (Father) \leftrightarrow EB (Father) + VL (Father)	68
Opt (Opter) \leftrightarrow EB (Father) + VL (Opter)	6
Total	490

 Table 3.A.2: Source of Matches

Notes: This table reports the number of matches by data source of the match and by whether the opter himself or their father was matched. Abbreviations for data sources: Opt = Option files (emigration requests), EB = Ehrenbücher, VL = Verlustlisten.

3.A.3 Descriptive Statistics

Table 3.A.3: Balancing of Soldiers by Front (Excluding Reserve Force)

	Other Front	Italian Front	Diff.	P-val.	Obs.			
Panel A: Individual Characteristics								
Birthyear	1886.55	1888.38	-1.83***	(0.00)	4819			
Farmer	0.48	0.48	-0.00	(0.98)	4672			
Skilled Occupation	0.28	0.28	-0.00	(0.72)	4672			
Married	0.21	0.20	0.01	(0.38)	4484			
Panel B: Municipal Characteristics								
Total Population	4135.48	4545.72	-410.24**	(0.01)	5148			
Population Density (per ha)	8.93	7.83	1.09	(0.43)	5148			
Share Male (%)	50.15	50.04	0.12^{**}	(0.02)	5148			
Share Italian (%)	3.40	3.78	-0.37*	(0.09)	5148			
Share German (%)	88.52	89.55	-1.03	(0.10)	5148			

Notes: This table reports results from two-group mean-comparison tests by treatment status, i.e., whether the death happened on the Italian front. The sample includes all dead soldiers in *Ehrenbücher* from municipalities in South Tyrol for whom we were able to locate their death to a specific front, excluding soldiers who served in reserve force regiments (*Landsturm* and *Standschützen*). Columns report group averages, the difference between these averages, p-values from a test of equality of means, and the number of observations. Significance levels: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

3.B Additional Figures



Figure 3.B.1: Political Map of the County of Tyrol 1914

Notes: The map shows political borders in 1914 of the County of Tyrol, a part of Austria-Hungary, shaded in dark grey. The area of South Tyrol is hatched. Shapefiles are provided by Census Mosaic Project (2022).





Notes: This figure shows the total number of South Tyrolean casualties per month in the *Verlustlisten* by the front on which they were recorded. The dashed vertical line indicates the Italian war entry in May 1915.



Figure 3.B.3: Share of Deaths on Italian Front by Municipality

Notes: This figure shows a municipality-level map of South Tyrol as of 1940. Municipalities are colored according to the share of all dead soldiers in a municipality (as recorded in *Ehrenbücher*) who died on the Italian Front.

Figure 3.B.4: Geographic Distribution of Italy-Specific Grievances



Notes: This figure shows a municipality-level map of South Tyrol as of 1940. Every individual in our final dataset with war grievances (n=490), i.e., every opter who was matched to an entry in the casualty lists, is plotted within their municipality of residence. Green triangles indicate that the individual holds an Italy-specific war grievance; grey dots indicate that the individual's war grievance is directed at another enemy.



Figure 3.B.5: Determinants of Emigration to Germany

Notes: This figure plots coefficients from a regression of individual *i*'s emigration behavior on the full set of individual-level controls. Two sets of coefficients are reported: the first set (blue markers) reports coefficients from a regression on these individual-level characteristics, and the second set (red markers) reports coefficients from a regression additionally controlling for birth year fixed effects and municipality fixed effects. 95% confidence intervals are reported.

3.C Additional Findings

3.C.1 Robustness: Effect on Emigration

Subsamples

In Table 3.C.1, we investigate whether the results on emigration hold across subgroups. One might be concerned that individuals with a higher exposure to Italians (or to Austrians) affect our results. In column (2), we drop all individuals from municipalities with an above-median pre-WWI share of Italian speakers and results remain stable. In column (3), we report estimates from a regression where we drop individuals from municipalities bordering Austria (then part of Germany). The results remain nearly unchanged. Analogously, dropping individuals from municipalities on the border to the rest of Italy, who might potentially have closer ties to Italy, does not affect our estimates (column (4)). In column (5), we drop all individuals from border regions, which again leaves our results unchanged. Finally, in column (6) we report estimates from a regression in which we drop all individuals linked to soldiers from the reserve force (see also Section 3.4.3). The estimated coefficient is again near zero.

	Dependent Variable: Emigrated to Germany					
	(1) Full Sample	$\begin{array}{c} (2) \\ \leq M dn \\ \text{Italian} \end{array}$	(3) No AT Border	(4) No IT Border	(5) No Border	(6) No Reserve
War Grievance \times Italian Front	-0.009	-0.019	-0.024	-0.015	-0.006	0.010
	(0.041)	(0.049)	(0.050)	(0.045)	(0.053)	(0.043)
Individual Controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Birthyear FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Army Unit FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Municipality FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations	5,412	$3,\!186$	4,364	4,742	3,839	$5,\!350$
Adjusted R^2	0.251	0.218	0.264	0.258	0.272	0.253
Dependent Variable Mean	0.430	0.363	0.425	0.440	0.438	0.430

Table 3.C.1: Robustness – Subsamples

Notes: The table reports estimates of a variant of Equation (3.1) for various subsamples of the data. The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual *i* emigrated. The explanatory variable *War Grievance* × *Italian Front* is an indicator equal to one if individual *i*'s war grievance is associated with the Italian front. Column (1) reports estimated coefficients from our preferred specification, i.e., including individual-level controls, birth year fixed effects, municipality fixed effects, and army unit fixed effects (see column (5) in Table 3.4), and is included for reference. The further columns report estimates from the same specification but using different samples. In column (2), we drop individuals from municipalities with an above-median pre-WWI share of Italian speakers. In column (3), we drop individuals from municipalities with a border to Austria (then: Germany). In column (5) we drop individuals from all border municipalities. In column (6) we drop individuals whose casualty was reported as part of the reserve force. We report heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, and * p<0.1.

Specifics of War Grievance

We have argued that our results isolate the effect of the direction of a grievance while holding any other effects of war grievances fixed. However, war grievances might have different effects depending on the specific casualty, i.e., who was affected in WWI and how. We show in Table 3.C.2 that the results remain qualitatively unchanged when controlling for the specifics of the casualty. Column (2) controls for an indicator variable for the source of *i*'s war grievance, i.e., whether the casualty occurred to *i* themselves or *i*'s father. Column (3) includes indicator variables for the type of *i*'s war grievance, i.e., whether the soldier died, was wounded, or was captured. Column (4) includes indicator variables for the year from which *i*'s war grievance stems. This allows us to compare individuals whose casualties occurred in the same year but on different fronts, thereby addressing the concern that Italy-specific war grievances might capture the effect of casualties happening later in the war. Column (5) includes all of these controls. Across specifications, the estimated effect remains near zero.

	Dependent Variable: Emigrated to Germany				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
War Grievance \times Italian Front	-0.009 (0.041)	-0.010 (0.042)	-0.012 (0.043)	-0.011 (0.052)	-0.005 (0.057)
Individual Controls	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Birthyear FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Army Unit FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Municipality FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Casualty Source Control		Yes			Yes
Casualty Type Controls			Yes		Yes
Casualty Year Controls				Yes	Yes
Observations	5,400	$5,\!400$	$5,\!400$	$5,\!400$	5,400
Adjusted R^2	0.250	0.250	0.250	0.250	0.250
Dependent Variable Mean	0.430	0.430	0.430	0.430	0.430

Table 3.C.2: Robustness – Specifics of War Grievance

Notes: The table reports estimates of variants of Equation (3.1) using different controls for characteristics of *i*'s war grievance. The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual *i* emigrated. The explanatory variable *War Grievance* × *Italian Front* is an indicator equal to one if individual *i*'s war grievance is associated with the Italian front. Column (1) reports estimated coefficients from our preferred specification, i.e., including individual-level controls, birth year fixed effects, municipality fixed effects, and army unit fixed effects (see column (5) in Table 3.4), and is included for reference. Column (2) controls for an indicator variable for the source of *i*'s war grievance, i.e., whether the casualty occurred to *i* themselves or *i*'s father. Column (3) includes indicator variables for the type of *i*'s war grievance, i.e., whether the soldier died, was wounded, or was captured. Column (4) includes indicator variables for the year in which *i*'s war grievance occurred. Column (5) includes all of these controls. We report heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, and * p<0.1.

3.C.2 Additional Findings: Naming Patterns

	Dep. Var.: Share Children Germanic Name				ic Name
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
War Grievance	-0.037	-0.044	-0.048	-0.044	
	(0.045)	(0.048)	(0.047)	(0.048)	
War Grievance \times Italian Front	-0.041	-0.016	-0.001	-0.006	0.022
	(0.061)	(0.068)	(0.068)	(0.069)	(0.075)
Birthyear Fixed Effects		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual Controls		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Municipality Controls			Yes		
Municipality Fixed Effects				Yes	Yes
Army Unit Fixed Effects					Yes
Observations	1,072	1,025	1,020	1,020	1,020
Adjusted R^2	0.001	0.044	0.058	0.089	0.092
Dependent Variable Mean	0.465	0.461	0.460	0.460	0.460

Table 3.C.3: Effect on Giving Children Germanic Name After 1933

Notes: This table reports estimates of a variant of Equation (3.1). The dependent variable is the share of i's children born between 1933 and 1942 who have a Germanic name (measured between 0 and 1). These regressions use the sample of individuals who had children between 1933 and 1942. The explanatory variable War Grievance is an indicator equal to one if individual i holds any war grievance, i.e., whether i or i's father experienced a casualty in WWI. The explanatory variable War Grievance \times Italian Front is an indicator equal to one if individual i's war grievance is associated with the Italian front. Column (1) reports estimates from a regression only on the two grievance indicator variables. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression which additionally controls for birth year dummies and individual-level characteristics (i.e., sex, military experience, having illnesses, having a police record, having previously lived in Germany, having children, being married, owning property, being out of the labor market, being a farmer, and working in a skilled or semi-skilled occupation). Column (3) additionally controls for characteristics of *i*'s municipality of residence (i.e., population size, squared population size, and Italian population share). Column (4) instead controls for indicator variables for the municipality individual i lives in; consequently, the municipal-level controls from column (3) are omitted. Column (5) additionally controls for indicator variables for the regiment to which the soldier, i.e., opting individual i or i's father, was assigned. Heteroskedasticityrobust standard errors are reported. Significance levels: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

3.C.3 Additional Findings: Community-Level Grievances

Dependent Variable:	Emigrated to Germany			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	
Casualty Share	-0.074^{***} (0.020)	-0.051^{***} (0.014)	-0.033^{**} (0.014)	
Casualty Share Italian Front	$\begin{array}{c} 0.103^{***} \\ (0.027) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.081^{***} \\ (0.022) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.065^{***} \\ (0.022) \end{array}$	
Birthyear Fixed Effects Individual Controls Municipal Controls		Yes Yes	Yes Yes Yes	
Observations Adj. R^2 Dep. Var. Mean	$1,606 \\ 0.046 \\ 0.374$	$1,552 \\ 0.152 \\ 0.371$	$1,552 \\ 0.159 \\ 0.371$	

Table 3.C.4: Robustness: Community-Level Grievances

Notes: This table reports estimates of a variant of Equation (3.2). The dependent variable is an indicator equal to one if individual i emigrated. The regressions use the subsample of individuals who had any children between 1919 and 1942. The explanatory variable CasualtyShare is the municipallevel share of the male population who experienced a casualty in WWI. The explanatory variable *CasualtyShareItalianFront* is the municipallevel share of the male population who experienced a casualty at the Italian front. Column (1) reports estimates from regressions only on these two casualty shares. Column (2) reports estimates from a regression which additionally controls for birth year indicators and individual-level characteristics (i.e., sex, military experience, having illnesses, having a police record, having previously lived in Germany, having children, being married, owning property, being out of the labor market, being a farmer, and working in a skilled or semi-skilled occupation). Column (3) additionally controls for characteristics of *i*'s municipality of residence (i.e., population size, squared population size, and Italian population share). Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level. Significance levels: *** p<0.01, ** p < 0.05, and * p < 0.1.

Bibliography

- ABOWD, JOHN M, FRANCIS KRAMARZ, AND DAVID N. MARGOLIS (1999). "High Wage Workers and High Wage Firms". *Econometrica* 67(2), 251–333.
- ACEMOGLU, DARON, GIUSEPPE DE FEO, GIACOMO DE LUCA, AND GIANLUCA RUSSO (2022). "War, Socialism, and the Rise of Fascism: an Empirical Exploration". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 137(2), 1233–1296.
- AKERLOF, GEORGE A. AND RACHEL E. KRANTON (2000). "Economics and Identity". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 115(3), 715–753.
- ALESINA, ALBERTO, PAOLA GIULIANO, AND BRYONY REICH (2021). "Nation-Building and Education". *The Economic Journal* 131(638), 2273–2303.
- ALEXANDER, HELMUT, STEFAN LECHNER, AND ADOLF LEIDLMAIR (1993). Heimatlos: Die Umsiedlung der Südtiroler. Wien: Deuticke.
- ANDREWS, MARTYN J., LEN GILL, THORSTEN SCHANK, AND RICHARD UPWARD (2008). "High Wage Workers and Low Wage Firms: Negative Assortative Matching or Limited Mobility Bias?" Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society) 171(3), 673–697.
- ANEJA, ABHAY AND GUO XU (2022). "The Costs of Employment Segregation: Evidence from the Federal Government Under Woodrow Wilson". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 137(2), 911–958.
- ARENDT, HANNAH (1973). The Origins of Totalitarianism. Wilmington: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- ASH, ELLIOTT, DANIEL L. CHEN, AND ARIANNA ORNAGHI (2024). "Gender Attitudes in the Judiciary: Evidence from US Circuit Courts". American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 16(1), 314–350.

- ATKIN, DAVID, EVE COLSON-SIHRA, AND MOSES SHAYO (2021). "How Do We Choose Our Identity? A Revealed Preference Approach Using Food Consumption". Journal of Political Economy 129(4), 1193–1251.
- AUTONOME PROVINZ BOZEN, (2020). Administrative Grenzen. URL: http://geokat alog.buergernetz.bz.it/ (visited on 03/02/2024).
- AZOULAY, PIERRE, CHRISTIAN FONS-ROSEN, AND JOSHUA S GRAFF ZIVIN (2019). "Does Science Advance one Funeral at a Time?" *American Economic Review* 109(8), 2889–2920.
- AZOULAY, PIERRE, JOSHUA S. GRAFF ZIVIN, AND JIALAN WANG (2010). "Superstar Extinction". Quarterly Journal of Economics 125(2), 549–589.
- AZOULAY, PIERRE, TOBY STUART, AND YANBO WANG (2014). "Matthew: Effect or Fable?" Management Science 60(1), 92–109.
- BAUER, MICHAL, CHRISTOPHER BLATTMAN, JULIE CHYTILOVÁ, JOSEPH HENRICH, EDWARD MIGUEL, AND TAMAR MITTS (2016). "Can War Foster Cooperation?" Journal of Economic Perspectives 30(3), 249–274.
- BAUER, MICHAL, NATHAN FIALA, AND IAN LEVELY (2018). "Trusting Former Rebels: An Experimental Approach to Understanding Reintegration After Civil War". The Economic Journal 128(613), 1786–1819.
- BAZZI, SAMUEL, MARTIN FISZBEIN, AND MESAY GEBRESILASSE (2020). "Frontier Culture: The Roots and Persistence of "Rugged Individualism" in the United States". *Econometrica* 88(6), 2329–2368.
- BECKER, GARY S. (1957). *The Economics of Discrimination*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- BECKER, SASCHA O. (2022). "Forced displacement in history: Some recent research". Australian Economic History Review 62(1), 2–25.
- BECKER, SASCHA O. AND ANDREAS FERRARA (2019). "Consequences of forced migration: A survey of recent findings". *Labour Economics* 59, 1–16.
- BECKER, SASCHA O., IRENA GROSFELD, PAULINE GROSJEAN, NICO VOIGTLÄNDER, AND EKATERINA ZHURAVSKAYA (2020). "Forced Migration and Human Capital: Evidence from Post-WWII Population Transfers". American Economic Review 110(5), 1430–1463.
- BECKER, SASCHA O., VOLKER LINDENTHAL, SHARUN MUKAND, AND FABIAN WALD-INGER (2023). "Persecution and Escape: Professional Networks and High-Skilled

Emigration from Nazi Germany". American Economic Journal: Applied Economics (forthcoming).

- BELLOWS, JOHN AND EDWARD MIGUEL (2009). "War and local collective action in Sierra Leone". Journal of Public Economics 93(11), 1144–1157.
- BÉNABOU, ROLAND AND JEAN TIROLE (2011). "Identity, Morals, and Taboos: Beliefs as Assets". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 126(2), 805–855.
- BENETTI, SARA, ELIJAH LOCKE, AND ROSS MATTHEIS (2023). "Our Crowd: Discrimination and Identity in Jewish Migration to the US". [Unpublished Manuscript].
- BERNSTEIN, ASAF, CAROLA FRYDMAN, AND ERIC HILT (2023). "The Value of Ratings: Evidence from their Introduction in Securities Markets". *NBER Working Paper* 31064.
- BERSIN, JOSH (2013). "Big Data in Human Resources: Talent Analytics (People Analytics) Comes of Age". Forbes. (February 17, 2013) URL: https://www.forbes. com/sites/joshbersin/2013/02/17/bigdata-in-human-resources-talentanalytics-comes-of-age/?sh=7ae9b80a4cd0 (visited on 03/01/2024).
- BERTRAND, MARIANNE (2018). "Coase Lecture The Glass Ceiling". *Economica* 85(338), 205–231.
- BERTRAND, MARIANNE, SANDRA E. BLACK, SISSEL JENSEN, AND ADRIANA LLERAS-MUNEY (2019). "Breaking the Glass Ceiling? The Effect of Board Quotas on Female Labour Market Outcomes in Norway". *Review of Economic Studies* 86(1), 191–239.
- BERTRAND, MARIANNE AND SENDHIL MULLAINATHAN (2004). "Are Emily and Greg More Employable Than Lakisha and Jamal? A Field Experiment on Labor Market Discrimination". American Economic Review 94(4), 991–1013.
- BIAGIOLI, MARIO AND ALEXANDRA LIPPMAN (2020). Gaming the Metrics: Misconduct and Manipulation in Academic Research. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- BIRKLE, CAROLINE, DAVID A. PENDLEBURY, JOSHUA SCHNELL, AND JONATHAN ADAMS (2020). "Web of Science as a Data Source for Research on Scientific and Scholarly Activity". *Quantitative Science Studies* 1(1), 363–376.
- BISIN, ALBERTO, ELEONORA PATACCHINI, THIERRY VERDIER, AND YVES ZENOU (2011). "Formation and persistence of oppositional identities". *European Economic Review* 55(8), 1046–1071.

- BISIN, ALBERTO AND THIERRY VERDIER (2011). "The Economics of Cultural Transmission and Socialization". In: *Handbook of Social Economics*. Ed. by Jess Benhabib, Alberto Bisin, and Matthew O. Jackson. Vol. 1. North-Holland, 339–416.
- BLASNIK, MICHAEL (2010). RECLINK: Stata module to probabilistically match records. URL: https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:boc:bocode:s456876 (visited on 03/02/2024).
- BLOUIN, ARTHUR AND SHARUN MUKAND (2019). "Erasing Ethnicity? Propaganda, Nation Building, and Identity in Rwanda". Journal of Political Economy 127(3), 1008–1062.
- (2022). "Mistaking noise for bias: Victimhood and Hutu–Tutsi reconciliation in East Africa". Journal of Development Economics 158(102943).
- BMFSFJ, (2024). Organigramm. URL: https://www.bmfsfj.de/bmfsfj/ministeri um/ministerin-hausleitung/organigramm (visited on 03/07/2024).
- BORJAS, GEORGE J. AND KIRK B. DORAN (2012). "The Collapse of the Soviet Union and the Productivity of American Mathematicians". *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 127(3), 1143–1203.
- BUGGLE, JOHANNES, THIERRY MAYER, SEYHUN ORCAN SAKALLI, AND MATHIAS THOENIG (2023). "The Refugee's Dilemma: Evidence from Jewish Migration out of Nazi Germany". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 138(2).
- BUNDESREGIERUNG, (2020). Regierungserklärung von Bundeskanzlerin Merkel. URL: https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-de/service/archiv/alt-inhalt e/regierungserklaerung-von-bundeskanzlerin-merkel-1807160 (visited on 03/07/2024).
- CAGÉ, JULIA, ANNA DAGORRET, PAULINE GROSJEAN, AND SAUMITRA JHA (2023). "Heroes and Villains: The Effects of Heroism on Autocratic Values and Nazi Collaboration in France". American Economic Review 113(7), 1888–1932.
- CANTONI, DAVIDE, YUYU CHEN, DAVID Y. YANG, NOAM YUCHTMAN, AND Y. JANE ZHANG (2017). "Curriculum and Ideology". *Journal of Political Economy* 125(2), 338–392.
- CARD, DAVID AND STEFANO DELLAVIGNA (2020). "What do Editors Maximize? Evidence from Four Economics Journals". *Review of Economics and Statistics* 102(1), 195–217.

- CARD, DAVID, STEFANO DELLAVIGNA, PATRICIA FUNK, AND NAGORE IRIBERRI (2020). "Are Referees and Editors in Economics Gender Neutral?" The Quarterly Journal of Economics 135(1), 269–327.
- (2022). "Gender Differences in Peer Recognition by Economists". Econometrica 90(5), 1937–1971.
- (2023). "Gender Gaps at the Academies". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 120(4).
- CARD, DAVID, JÖRG HEINING, AND PATRICK KLINE (2013). "Workplace Heterogeneity and the Rise of West German Wage Inequality". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 128(3), 967–1015.
- CARLANA, MICHELA (2019). "Implicit Stereotypes: Evidence from Teachers' Gender Bias". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 134(3), 1163–1224.
- CARTTER, ALLAN MURRAY (1966). An Assessment of Quality in Graduate Education. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.
- CASQUETE, JESÚS (2016). "The importance of being Horst: popular support and given names in Nazi Germany". European Journal of Cultural and Political Sociology 3(1), 97–118.
- CENSUS MOSAIC PROJECT, (2022). *Historical GIS datafiles*. URL: https://censusmos aic.demog.berkeley.edu/data/historical-gis-files (visited on 03/04/2024).
- CHARLES, KERWIN KOFI AND JONATHAN GURYAN (2008). "Prejudice and Wages: An Empirical Assessment of Becker's The Economics of Discrimination". *Journal* of Political Economy 116(5), 773–809.
- CHARLTON, LINDA (1981). "An Index To Getting Ahead." The New York Times. (April 26, 1981) URL: https://www.nytimes.com/1981/04/26/archives/anindex-to-getting-ahead.html (visited on 02/26/2024).
- CHARNESS, GARY AND YAN CHEN (2020). "Social Identity, Group Behavior, and Teams". Annual Review of Economics 12(1), 691–713.
- CHARNYSH, VOLHA AND LEONID PEISAKHIN (2022). "The Role of Communities in the Transmission of Political Values: Evidence from Forced Population Transfers". *British Journal of Political Science* 52(1), 238–258.
- CLEMENS, MICHAEL A. (2021). "Violence, development, and migration waves: Evidence from Central American child migrant apprehensions". *Journal of Urban Economics* 124(103355).

- COARA, (2024). Coalition for Advancing Research Assessment. URL: https://coara. eu/ (visited on 03/02/2024).
- COLE, JONATHAN R. AND JAMES A. LIPTON (1977). "The Reputations of American Medical Schools". *Social Forces* 55(3), 662–684.
- CONZO, PIERLUIGI AND FRANCESCO SALUSTRI (2019). "A war is forever: The longrun effects of early exposure to World War II on trust". *European Economic Review* 120(103313).
- CSISZAR, ALEX (2017). "The catalogue that made metrics, and changed science". Nature 551, 163–165.
- CULLEN, ZOË AND RICARDO PEREZ-TRUGLIA (2023). "The Old Boys' Club: Schmoozing and the Gender Gap". American Economic Review 113(7), 1703–1740.
- DAWKINS, RICHARD (2016). The Selfish Gene. 40th anniversary edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- DE JUAN, ALEXANDER, FELIX HAASS, CARLO KOOS, SASCHA RIAZ, AND THOMAS TICHELBAECKER (2024). "War and Nationalism: How WW1 Battle Deaths Fueled Civilians' Support for the Nazi Party". American Political Science Review 118(1), 144–162.
- DEHDARI, SIRUS H. AND KAI GEHRING (2022). "The Origins of Common Identity: Evidence from Alsace-Lorraine". American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 14(1), 261–292.
- DELL, MELISSA AND PABLO QUERUBIN (2018). "Nation Building Through Foreign Intervention: Evidence from Discontinuities in Military Strategies". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 133(2), 701–764.
- DEPETRIS-CHAUVIN, EMILIO, RUBEN DURANTE, AND FILIPE CAMPANTE (2020). "Building Nations through Shared Experiences: Evidence from African Football". *American Economic Review* 110(5), 1572–1602.
- DESTATIS, (2024). *Gleichstellungsindex 2023*. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/T hemen/Staat/Oeffentlicher-Dienst/Publikationen/_publikationen-innengleichstellungsindex.html (visited on 02/22/2024).
- DEUTSCHER BUNDESTAG, (1997). Stenographischer Bericht, 175. Sitzung, Donnerstag, den 15. Mai 1997. URL: https://dserver.bundestag.de/btp/13/13175.pdf (visited on 03/07/2024).

- DI MICHELE, ANDREA (2008). Die unvollkommene Italianisierung: Politik und Verwaltung in Südtirol 1918 - 1943. Vol. 28. Veröffentlichungen des Südtiroler Landesarchivs. Innsbruck: Wagner.
- (2020). Soldaten zwischen zwei Uniformen. Österreichische Italiener im Ersten Weltkrieg. Vol. 4. Schriftenreihe des Österreichischen Historischen Instituts in Rom. Wien: Böhlau Verlag.
- DINAS, ELIAS, VASILIKI FOUKA, AND ALAIN SCHLÄPFER (2021). "Family History and Attitudes toward Out-Groups: Evidence from the European Refugee Crisis". *The Journal of Politics* 83(2), 647–661.
- DORA, (2024). San Francisco Declaration on Research Assessment. URL: https:// sfdora.org/ (visited on 03/02/2024).
- DUPRAZ, YANNICK AND ANDREAS FERRARA (2023). "Fatherless: The Long-Term Effects of Losing a Father in the U.S. Civil War". *Journal of Human Resources* (forthcoming).
- ELLISON, GLENN (2013). "How does the Market use Citation Data? The Hirsch Index in Economics". American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 5(3), 63–90.
- ERNST AND YOUNG, (2024). Neuer Rekordwert: Vorstände deutscher Top-Konzerne so weiblich wie noch nie. URL: https://www.ey.com/de_de/news/2024/01/eymixed-leadership-barometer-januar-24 (visited on 02/22/2024).
- ESGUERRA, EMILIO (2023). "Essays on the Economics of Social Norms and Identity". [Doctoral Dissertation, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München].
- EUROPEANA, (2019). An Meine Völker! Der König von Italien hat mir den Krieg erklärt - Schreiben von Kaiser Franz Joseph am 23. Mai 1915. URL: https://www. europeana.eu/de/item/9200290/bildarchivaustria_at_Preview_14300756 (visited on 03/07/2024).
- (2023). "Viel Feind, viel Ehr ... und Gott mit Euch." Postkarte an die Front von Therese Holub, 1915. URL: https://www.europeana.eu/item/2020601/https___ 1914_1918_europeana_eu_contributions_1227 (visited on 02/03/2023).
- FELTHAM, GERALD A AND JIM XIE (1994). "Performance Measure Congruity and Diversity in Multi-Task Principal/Agent Relations". The Accounting Review 69(3), 429–453.

- FERRARA, ANDREAS AND PRICE FISHBACK (2022). "Discrimination, Migration, and Economic Outcomes: Evidence from World War I". Review of Economics and Statistics (forthcoming).
- FLOYD, ERIC, SORABH TOMAR, AND DANIEL J LEE (2023). "Making the Grade (But Not Disclosing It): How Withholding Grades Affects Student Behavior and Employment". *Management Science*. (forthcoming).
- FOUKA, VASILIKI (2019). "How Do Immigrants Respond to Discrimination? The Case of Germans in the US During World War I". *American Political Science Review* 113(2), 405–422.
- (2020). "Backlash: The Unintended Effects of Language Prohibition in U.S. Schools after World War I". *The Review of Economic Studies* 87(1), 204–239.
- FOUKA, VASILIKI, SOUMYAJIT MAZUMDER, AND MARCO TABELLINI (2022). "From Immigrants to Americans: Race and Assimilation during the Great Migration". *The Review of Economic Studies* 89(2), 811–842.
- FOUKA, VASILIKI AND HANS-JOACHIM VOTH (2023). "Collective Remembrance and Private Choice: German–Greek Conflict and Behavior in Times of Crisis". American Political Science Review 117(3), 1–20.
- FRYER, JR. AND STEVEN D. LEVITT (2004). "The Causes and Consequences of Distinctively Black Names". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 119(3), 767–805.
- GARFIELD, EUGENE (1963a). "Citation Indexes in Sociological and Historical Research". American Documentation 14(4), 289–291.
- (1963b). *Science Citation Index 1961*. Vol. 1. Philadelphia: Institute for Scientific Information, Inc.
- (1965). *Science Citation Index 1964.* Vol. 1. Philadelphia: Institute for Scientific Information, Inc.
- (1966). "ISI Services in the Design of Small-User Systems". Journal of Chemical Documentation 6(3), 164–168.
- —— (1971). Science Citation Index Five-Year Cumulation 1965-1969. Vol. 1. Philadelphia: Institute for Scientific Information, Inc.
- (1972). Science Citation Index 1963. Vol. 1. Philadelphia: Institute for Scientific Information, Inc.
- (1979). Citation Indexing–Its Theory and Application in Science, Technology, and Humanities. New York: Wiley.
- GARFIELD, EUGENE (2007). "The evolution of the Science Citation Index". International Microbiology 10(1), 65–69.
- GAWRONSKI, BERTRAM, MIKE MORRISON, CURTIS E. PHILLS, AND SILVIA GALDI (2017). "Temporal Stability of Implicit and Explicit Measures: A Longitudinal Analysis". *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 43(3), 300–312.
- GILLIGAN, MICHAEL J., BENJAMIN J. PASQUALE, AND CYRUS SAMII (2014). "Civil War and Social Cohesion: Lab-in-the-Field Evidence from Nepal". American Journal of Political Science 58(3), 604–619.
- GIULIANO, PAOLA AND NATHAN NUNN (2020). "Understanding Cultural Persistence and Change". *The Review of Economic Studies* 88(4), 1541–1581.
- GLAISE-HORSTENAU, EDMUND, ed. (1932). Österreich-Ungarns letzter Krieg 1914-1918. Wien: Verlag der Militärwissenschaftlichen Mitteilungen.
- GLOVER, DYLAN, AMANDA PALLAIS, AND WILLIAM PARIENTE (2017). "Discrimination as a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy: Evidence from French Grocery Stores". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 132(3), 1219–1260.
- GOETZ, KLAUS (2007). "German Officials and the Federal Policy Process: The Decline of Sectional Leadership". In: From the Active to the Enabling State: The Changing Role of Top Officials in European Nations. Ed. by Edward C. Page and Vincent Wright. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK, 164–188.
- GROSSMAN, GUY, DEVORAH MANEKIN, AND DAN MIODOWNIK (2015). "The Political Legacies of Combat: Attitudes Toward War and Peace Among Israeli Ex-Combatants". International Organization 69(4), 981–1009.
- GROTE, GEORG (2012). The South Tyrol Question, 1866–2010. Bern: Peter Lang Verlag.
- HAEGELE, INGRID (2024). "Talent Hoarding in Organizations". [Working Paper].
- HAGER, SEBASTIAN (2024). "Speaking of Gender: Superiors' Attitudes and Women's Careers". [Working Paper].
- HAGER, SEBASTIAN, CARLO SCHWARZ, AND FABIAN WALDINGER (2023). "Measuring Science: Performance Metrics and the Allocation of Talent". CEPR Discussion Paper 18248.
- HAMERMESH, DANIEL S AND PETER SCHMIDT (2003). "The Determinants of Econometric Society Fellows Elections". *Econometrica* 71(1), 399–407.

- HENGEL, ERIN (2022). "Publishing While Female: Are Women Held to Higher Standards? Evidence from Peer Review". *The Economic Journal* 132(648), 2951–2991.
- HENRICH, JOSEPH (2020). The WEIRDest People in the World: How the West Became Psychologically Peculiar and Particularly Prosperous. New York: Farrar Straus and Giroux.
- HILMER, MICHAEL J, MICHAEL R RANSOM, AND CHRISTIANA E HILMER (2015). "Fame and the Fortune of Academic Economists: How the Market Rewards Influential Research in Economics". Southern Economic Journal 82(2), 430–452.
- HIRSCH, JORGE E. (2005). "An Index to Quantify an Individual's Scientific Research Output". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102(46), 16569–16572.
- HOBSBAWM, ERIC J. (1992). Nations and Nationalism Since 1780: Programme, Myth, Reality. 2nd Edition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- HOFFMAN, MITCHELL, LISA B KAHN, AND DANIELLE LI (2018). "Discretion in Hiring". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 133(2), 765–800.
- HOFSTADTER, DOUGLAS (1985). "Changes in Default Words and Images, Engendered by Rising Consciousness". In: Metamagical Themas: Questing for the Essence of Mind and Pattern. New York: Basic Books, 136–158.
- HOLMSTROM, BENGT AND PAUL MILGROM (1991). "Multitask Principal–Agent Analyses: Incentive Contracts, Asset Ownership, and Job Design". *The Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* 7(Special Issue), 24–52.
- HSIEH, CHANG-TAI, ERIK HURST, CHARLES I. JONES, AND PETER J. KLENOW (2019). "The Allocation of Talent and U.S. Economic Growth". *Econometrica* 87(5), 1439–1474.
- IARIA, ALESSANDRO, CARLO SCHWARZ, AND FABIAN WALDINGER (2018). "Frontier Knowledge and Scientific Production: Evidence from the Collapse of International Science". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 133(2), 927–991.
- (2022). "Gender Gaps in Academia: Global Evidence Over the Twentieth Century". Available at SSRN: 4150221.
- JANN, WERNER AND SYLVIA VEIT (2010). "Politicisation of Administration or Bureaucratisation of Politics? The Case of Germany". *Potsdamer Diskussionspapiere zur Verwaltungswissenschaft* 6.

- JENSEN, PABLO, JEAN-BAPTISTE ROUQUIER, AND YVES CROISSANT (2009). "Testing Bibliometric Indicators by their Prediction of Scientists Promotions". *Scientometrics* 78(3), 467–479.
- JENSEN, ROBERT (2007). "The Digital Provide: Information (Technology), Market Performance, and Welfare in the South Indian Fisheries Sector". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 122(3), 879–924.
- JIA, RUIXUE AND TORSTEN PERSSON (2021). "Choosing Ethnicity: The Interplay Between Individual and Social Motives". Journal of the European Economic Association 19(2), 1203–1248.
- JIN, GINGER ZHE, BENJAMIN JONES, SUSAN FENG LU, AND BRIAN UZZI (2019). "The Reverse Matthew Effect: Consequences of Retraction in Scientific Teams". The Review of Economics and Statistics 101(3), 492–506.
- JONES, B. F. (2009). "The Burden of Knowledge and the "Death of the Renaissance Man": Is Innovation Getting Harder?" *Review of Economic Studies* 76(1), 283–317.
- JONES, CHARLES I. (1995). "R & D-Based Models of Economic Growth". Journal of Political Economy 103(4), 759–784.
- JOURNALISTINNENBUND, (2024a). Wie geht Gendern beim Schreiben? URL: https: //www.genderleicht.de/schreiben/ (visited on 03/08/2024).
- (2024b). Wie geht Gendern beim Sprechen? URL: https://www.genderleicht. de/sprechen/ (visited on 03/08/2024).
- K. K. STATISTISCHE ZENTRALKOMMISSION, (1907). Gemeindelexikon der im Reichsrate vertretenen Königreiche und Länder: VIII. Tirol und Vorarlberg. Wien: Druck und Verlag der k. k. Hof- und Staatsdruckerei.
- KANTOR, SHAWN AND ALEXANDER T. WHALLEY (2023). "Moonshot: Public R&D and Growth". *NBER Working Paper* 31471.
- KATZ, ARNOLD M. (1971). "Hans H. Hecht, MD". The American Journal of Medicine 51(6), 829–831.
- KERSTING, FELIX AND NIKOLAUS WOLF (2024). "On the Origins of National Identity. German Nation-Building after Napoleon". *Journal of Comparative Economics* (forthcoming).
- KLINE, PATRICK, EVAN K. ROSE, AND CHRISTOPHER R. WALTERS (2022). "Systemic Discrimination Among Large U.S. Employers". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 137(4), 1963–2036.

- KNUDSEN, ANNE SOFIE BECK (2022). "Those Who Stayed: Selection and Cultural Change in the Age of Mass Migration". *[Working Paper]*.
- KOENIG, CHRISTOPH (2023). "Loose Cannons: War Veterans and the Erosion of Democracy in Weimar Germany". *The Journal of Economic History* 83(1), 167–202.
- KOFFI, MARLÈNE (2021). "Innovative Ideas and Gender Inequality". *CLEF Working Paper Series* 35.
- KOHLHEIM, ROSA AND VOLKER KOHLHEIM (2021). Das große Vornamenlexikon: Herkunft, Bedeutung und Gebrauch von über 8000 Vornamen. 6th ed. Berlin: Duden Verlag.
- KOUDIJS, PETER (2015). "Those Who Know Most: Insider Trading in Eighteenth-Century Amsterdam". Journal of Political Economy 123(6), 1356–1409.
- LANDESINSTITUT FÜR STATISTIK, (2020). *Südtirol in Zahlen 2020*. Bozen: Autonome Provinz Bozen Südtirol; Landesinstitut für Statistik ASTAT.
- LOCHMANN, ALEXIA (2020). "Culture and Emigration: Evidence from the Hitler-Mussolini Migration Option Agreement". *[Unpublished Manuscript]*.
- LOTKA, ALFRED J (1926). "The Frequency Distribution of Scientific Productivity". Journal of the Washington Academy of Sciences 16(12), 317–323.
- LUTT, ALEXANDER (2016). "Südtiroler Option Archivbestände und ihre gestörte Überlieferung". *[Master's Thesis, Universität Wien]*.
- MAIDA, AGATA AND ANDREA WEBER (2022). "Female Leadership and Gender Gap within Firms: Evidence from an Italian Board Reform". *ILR Review* 75(2), 488– 515.
- MARCHAIS, GAUTHIER, CHRISTIAN M. MUGARUKA, SÁNCHEZ DE LA SIERRA, RAÚL, AND DAVID QIHANG WU (2022). "The Pro-Social Determinants of Violent Collective Action: Evidence from Participation in Militias in Eastern Congo". [Working Paper].
- MARTINEZ, LUIS R, JONAS JESSEN, AND GUO XU (2023). "A Glimpse of Freedom: Allied Occupation and Political Resistance in East Germany". American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 15(1), 68–106.
- MERTON, ROBERT K. (1968). "The Matthew Effect in Science: The Reward and Communication Systems of Science are Considered." *Science* 159(3810), 55–63.

- MULLER, EITAN AND RENANA PERES (2019). "The Effect of Social Networks Structure on Innovation Performance: A Review and Directions for Research". International Journal of Research in Marketing 36(1), 3–19.
- MURPHY, KEVIN M., ANDREI SHLEIFER, AND ROBERT W. VISHNY (1991). "The Allocation of Talent: Implications for Growth". *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106(2), 503–530.
- NAME CENSUS, (2023a). Most Common Asian and Pacific Islander Last Names in the United States. URL: https://namecensus.com/last-names/common-asian-andpacific-islander-surnames/ (visited on 03/02/2024).
- (2023b). Most Common Hispanic Last Names in the United States. URL: http s://namecensus.com/last-names/common-hispanic-surnames/ (visited on 03/02/2024).
- NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION, (2023). Download Awards by Year. URL: https: //www.nsf.gov/awardsearch/download.jsp (visited on 03/02/2024).
- OBERMAIR, HANNES (2021). "Großdeutschland ruft!": Südtiroler NS-Optionspropaganda und völkische Sozialisation: Katalog zur Ausstellung. 2nd ed. Tirol: Südtiroler Landesmuseum für Kultur- und Landesgeschichte Schloss Tirol.
- OH, SUANNA (2023). "Does Identity Affect Labor Supply?" American Economic Review 113(8), 2055–2083.
- OREOPOULOS, PHILIP (2011). "Why Do Skilled Immigrants Struggle in the Labor Market? A Field Experiment with Thirteen Thousand Resumes". American Economic Journal: Economic Policy 3(4), 148–171.
- PARDO-GUERRA, JUAN PABLO (2022). The Quantified Scholar: How Research Evaluations Transformed the British Social Sciences. New York: Columbia University Press.
- RAUH, CHRISTIAN AND JAN SCHWALBACH (2020). The ParlSpeech V2 data set: Fulltext corpora of 6.3 million parliamentary speeches in the key legislative chambers of nine representative democracies. Harvard Dataverse, Version 1. URL: https: //dataverse.harvard.edu/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=doi:10.7910/DVN/ L40AKN (visited on 03/03/2024).
- ROCKOFF, JONAH E., DOUGLAS O. STAIGER, THOMAS J. KANE, AND ERIC S. TAY-LOR (2012). "Information and Employee Evaluation: Evidence From a Randomized Intervention in Public Schools". *American Economic Review* 102(7), 3184–3213.

- ROMER, PAUL M. (1986). "Increasing Returns and Long-Run Growth". Journal of Political Economy 94(5), 1002–1037.
- (1990). "Endogenous Technological Change". Journal of Political Economy 98(5), 71–102.
- RONCHI, MADDALENA AND NINA SMITH (2024). "Daddy's Girl: Daughters, Managerial Decisions, and Gender Inequality". [Working Paper].
- ROOSE, KENNETH D. AND CHARLES J. ANDERSEN (1970). A Rating of Graduate Programs. Washington: American Council on Education.
- SARVIMÄKI, MATTI, ROOPE UUSITALO, AND MARKUS JÄNTTI (2022). "Habit Formation and the Misallocation of Labor: Evidence from Forced Migrations". *Journal* of the European Economic Association 20(6), 2497–2539.
- SAUL, JENNIFER, ESA DIAZ-LEON, AND SAMIA HESNI (2022). "Feminist Philosophy of Language". In: *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Ed. by Edward N. Zalta and Uri Nodelman. Fall 2022. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University.
- SCHIMMACK, ULRICH (2021). "The Implicit Association Test: A Method in Search of a Construct". *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 16(2), 396–414.
- SCZESNY, SABINE, FRANZISKA MOSER, AND WENDY WOOD (2015). "Beyond Sexist Beliefs: How Do People Decide to Use Gender-Inclusive Language?" *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin 41(7), 943–954.
- SHAYO, MOSES (2009). "A Model of Social Identity with an Application to Political Economy: Nation, Class, and Redistribution". American Political Science Review 103(2), 147–174.
- (2020). "Social Identity and Economic Policy". Annual Review of Economics 12(1), 355–389.
- SONG, JAE, DAVID J PRICE, FATIH GUVENEN, NICHOLAS BLOOM, AND TILL VON WACHTER (2019). "Firming up Inequality". The Quarterly Journal of Economics 134(1), 1–50.
- STEININGER, ROLF (1997a). "23. Juni 1939: Gehen oder bleiben? Die Option in Südtirol." In: Von der Monarchie bis zum Zweiten Weltkrieg. Ed. by Rolf Steininger and Michael Gehler. Vol. 2. Österreich im 20. Jahrhundert: Ein Studienbuch in zwei Bänden. Wien: Böhlau Verlag, 367–410.
- (1997b). Südtirol im 20. Jahrhundert: Vom Leben und Überleben einer Minderheit. Innsbruck, Wien: Studienverlag.

- STEININGER, ROLF (2003). South Tyrol: A minority conflict of the twentieth century. Studies in Austrian and central European history and culture. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.
- STEINWENDER, CLAUDIA (2018). "Real Effects of Information Frictions: When the States and the Kingdom Became United". American Economic Review 108(3), 657– 696.
- STORIA DEI COMUNI, (2022). Variazioni Amministrative dall'Unità d'Italia. URL: ht tp://www.elesh.it/storiacomuni (visited on 02/26/2024).
- TADELIS, STEVEN AND FLORIAN ZETTELMEYER (2015). "Information Disclosure as a Matching Mechanism: Theory and Evidence from a Field Experiment". American Economic Review 105(2), 886–905.
- TAJFEL, HENRI AND JOHN C. TURNER (2004). "The Social Identity Theory of Intergroup Behavior". In: *Political Psychology*. Ed. by John T. Jost and Jim Sidanius. New York: Psychology Press, 276–293.
- THOMPSON, MARK (2008). The White War: Life and Death on the Italian front, 1915-1919. London: Faber and Faber.
- TIROLER LANDESMUSEEN, (2014). Ehrenbücher des Landes Tirol: 1. Weltkrieg. URL: https://www.tiroler-landesmuseen.at/forschung/tiroler-ehrenbuchdigital/ (visited on 02/22/2024).
- VEREIN FÜR COMPUTERGENEALOGIE, (2023). Verlustlisten Österreich-Ungarns 1914-1919. URL: https://wiki.genealogy.net/Verlustlisten_%C3%96sterreich-Ungarns_1914-1919 (visited on 03/08/2024).
- VLACHOS, STEPHANOS (2022). "On war and political radicalization: Evidence from forced conscription into the Wehrmacht". *European Economic Review* 144, 104086.
- WADE, NICHOLAS (1975). "Citation Analysis: A New Tool for Science Administrators". Science 188(4187), 429–432.
- WALDEN, JACOB AND YURI M. ZHUKOV (2020). "Historical Legacies of Political Violence". In: Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Politics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- WALDINGER, FABIAN (2010). "Quality Matters: the Expulsion of Professors and the Consequences for PhD Student Outcomes in Nazi Germany". Journal of Political Economy 118(4), 787–831.

- WALDINGER, FABIAN (2012). "Peer Effects in Science: Evidence from the Dismissal of Scientists in Nazi Germany". The Review of Economic Studies 79(2), 838–861.
- WEDEKIND, MICHAEL (2003). Nationalsozialistische Besatzungs- und Annexionspolitik in Norditalien 1943 bis 1945. München: Oldenbourg Verlag.
- WEITZMAN, MARTIN L. (1998). "Recombinant Growth". Quarterly Journal of Economics 113(2), 331–360.
- WINKLER, WILHELM (1919). Die Totenverluste der öst.-ung. Monarchie nach Nationalitäten: Die Altersgliederung der Toten; Ausblicke in die Zukunft. Wien: Seidl.
- WOLFFSOHN, MICHAEL AND THOMAS BRECHENMACHER (1999). Die Deutschen und ihre Vornamen: 200 Jahre Politik und öffentliche Meinung. München: Diana Verlag.
- (2001). "Nomen Est Omen: The Selection of First Names as an Indicator for Public Opinion in the Past". International Journal of Public Opinion Research 13(2), 116–139.
- WOUTERS, PAUL (1999a). "Beyond the holy grail: From citation theory to indicator theories". *Scientometrics* 44(3), 561–580.
- (1999b). "The Citation Culture". [Doctoral Dissertation, Universiteit van Amsterdam].
- (2014). "The Citation: From Culture to Infrastructure". In: Beyond Bibliometrics: Harnessing Multidimensional Indicators of Scholarly Impact. Ed. by Blaise Cronin and Cassidy R. Sugimoto. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 47–66.
- (2017). "Eugene Garfield (1925–2017)". Nature 543, 492.
- WUCHTY, S., B. F. JONES, AND B. UZZI (2007). "The Increasing Dominance of Teams in Production of Knowledge". *Science* 316(5827), 1036–1039.
- YOUNG, H. PEYTON (2015). "The Evolution of Social Norms". Annual Review of Economics 7(1), 359–387.
- ZUCKERMAN, HARRIET AND ROBERT K. MERTON (1971). "Patterns of Evaluation in Science: Institutionalisation, Structure and Functions of the Referee System". *Minerva* 9(1), 66–100.

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Ich versichere hiermit eidesstattlich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst habe. Die aus fremden Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Gedanken sowie mir gegebene Anregungen sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Die Arbeit wurde bisher keiner anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt und auch noch nicht veröffentlicht. Sofern ein Teil der Arbeit aus bereits veröffentlichten Papers besteht, habe ich dies ausdrücklich angegeben.

München, 12. März 2024

Sebastian Hager